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HIGHLIGHTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

HIGHLIGHTS =
2020 (restoted) * NG L O ;2;';‘:.“:";':’) g:;':':::’:'ﬂ

[;hllilom of U.5. dollars
Revanue 15.63% 10,108 12213 54.7% 2T A%

Euope 4,042 2885 4,534 0% -105%

Asla Packic 8,066 5,257 5,424 53.5% B7%

Americas 3.5 1956 2313 79.5% 524%
Compaorabis revenue 49.6% 22.9%
Operating proft 5,461 208 3,467 170.6%| 57.5%
EBITDA 5,950/ 2.544 3.87 133.9% 53.71%
Tax rate 25.7% 28.0% 26.5%) -2.3%! -0.3%
Profti atter tax 4,026 1.366 2,389 194. 7%, 8.57%
Net cash 560 1,074 282 A7.9% 8.4%
Freq caosh flow 4,540 479, 2,245 BiB.&T H2.2%
Capital Investment 758 1,077] 725 -29.4% 4LE%
1E:bloytu (#nd of year) 28,447, 27,018 27,3 5.4% 2R
Carbon Pedormance

Scope | emssions (105 ¥ 19,46% #).493 -50%

STope z emissons {(1G0Oe} £,385 12 £42 LPTR

Scope 3 emissions {tCOe1 ! BS 511 19 %]
Renewable slechicly 2.0% 70.0%] 22.0%)|

" See Note 2.2 for detalls on the prior period restatement.
* Amounts restated in 2021 as explained on pages 11 through 14 of the strategic report.
* All performance measures are defined on pages 18 te 21 in the strategic report.
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The directors, in preparing this strategic report, have complied with section 414C of the Companies Act 2006. It
has been prepared to provide the sole member of Chanel Limited (the “Company”) with information to assess how
directors have performed their duty to promote the success of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group” or “Chanel”).

CcOovib-19

Foliowing a challenging year in 2020, the Group’s performance rebounded in 2021, despite the continued
disruption brought on by the Covid-19 pandemic. Throughout 2021, lockdowns and travel restrictions were putin
place in many markets, thereby limiting access to our boutiques and adversely impacting the travel retail business.
However, with solid consumer spend coupled with a demand for our products in the local markets, the Group
achieved strong results in 2021. This is reflective of the dedication and treativity of our teams and their agility in
being able to bring an ultimate experience to our clients throughout this health crisis.

Chanel’s long-term vision is an important element of our business model, which has proven to be resilient
throughout the pandemic. We continue to escalate our ambitions and commitments to contribute to a future that
creates value for both business and society in a mutually beneficial way.

BUSINESS MODEL

Chanei is a private company and a leader in creating, developing, manufacturing and distributing luxury products
of the finest quality and highest level of craftsmanship through its three activities: Fashion, Fragrance & Beauty
and Watches & Fine Jewellery. Chanel offers a broad range of high-end creations within these activities, including
haute couture, ready-to-wear, leather goods, fashion accessories, eyewear, fragrances, makeup, skincare,
Jewellery and watches. These luxury products are sold worldwide under the CHANEL brand mainly through Group-
owned boutiques and via wholesale through select channels of distribution. The Group operates across multiple
geographies where the local market organisations carry out the brand’s strategy in distributing its products.

Chanel is a brand whose core values remain historically grounded in exceptional creation. As such, Chanel
promotes culture, art, creativity and ‘savoir-faire’ throughout the world and invests significantly in people,
research and development and innovation, whiist aiming to generate a positive impact on the environment and
saciety. Chanel is rooted in a rich heritage and is committed to making a positive impact on people, communities
and the planet with a dedication to setting bold and new standards with a long-term perspective.

BUSINESS REVIEW

FINANCIAL

Chanel's revenues in 2021 were $15.6 billion, up 54.7% from 2020 ($10.1 billion) and up 49.6% on a constant
currency basis and for a comparable legal entity structure.

Operating profit was $5,461 million, up 170.6% from 2020 (52,018 million).

The Group had capital expenditures of $758 million in 2021 (2020: $1,077 million), representing 4.8% of revenues,
and continues to have solid cash generation with free cash flow of $4,540 million {2020: $678 million).
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Investment in brand advertising, promotion and demonstration activities was 51,795 million in 2021
{2020: $1,360 million}.

The tax charge for the year was $1,394 million (2020: $530 million) giving an effective tax rate of 25.7%
(2020: 28.0%). The decrease in the effective tax rate was mainly attributable to the change in geographical
business mix and changes in tax rates in certain jurisdictions.

A summary of the Group’s performance for the year can be found in the Highlights on page 2.

PRODUCTS AND OCPERATIONS
Chanel sales reached record highs in 2021 across all product categories despite the Covid-19 pandemic impacting
our retail and travel retail businesses, particularly in the first part of the year.

Fashion showed strong results with double-digit growth across all product lines. Leather goods and
ready-to-wear were particularly strong, in response to the unabated success of Virginie Viard’s creations and
collections. The Cruise collection inspired by Jean Cocteau’s movie was presented in a digital format from the
Carrigres de Lumiéres, in Les Baux-de-Provence, which was then displayed in Dubai for the first overseas physical
show since the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Métiers d"Art fashion show was heltd at the 19M, a
fuminous new building that brings together 11 Maisons d'art and several hundred craftsmen at the Porte
d’Aubervilliers in France. The preservation of craftsmanship heritage goes hand in hand with the Group’s focus on
the future to support its development and allow for creative research so that these métiers can flourish and
contribute to collections for generations to come,

Fragrance & Beauty demonstrated strong resilience based on market share gains in key countries and demand
(both in boutiques and online) from local clientele as travel retail remained impacted by travel restrictions. 2021
was also a milestone year for Fragrance, with Chanel celebrating the 100th anniversary of its iconic No5. This was
led by innovative pop-ups in key markets as well as the launch of the CHANEL Factory 5 collection - 16 limited-
edition products inspired by everyday objects in an ultra-modern design bringing the history of the world’s most
famous fragrance into the future. The success of BLEU and COCC MADEMOISELLE also boosted Fragrance sales
while Skincare contributed to the growth of the Beauty segment.

The double-digit growth of Watches and Fine Jewellery sales across all regions was driven by the success of our
Watches, Precious Jeweliery and High lewellery ranges. Precious Jewellery, supported by the successful and iconic
COCO CRUSH, showed outstanding results whilst the iconic J12 continued to drive the increase of watch sales.
High-end business reached record levels, driven by High Jewellery pieces and the success of Haute-Hoerlogerie. To
commemarate the 100th birthday of CHANEL N°5, Patrice Leguéreau, Director of the CHANEL Jewellery Creation
Studio, created the N°5 High Jewellery Collection, which consisted of 123 pieces including a necklace set with an
exceptional 55.55-carat diamond, celebrating true in-house craftsmanship.

Chanel invested $758 Million in capital expenditure in 2021, As part of this, Chane! continued to make significant
investments in its current and future retail distribution network, including the acquisition of a property in San
Francisco and the opening of a boutique in Miami’s Design District, which was designed to reflect the expression of
art and culture in the area. Chanel has also continued to grow its Fragrance & Beauty standalone network,
particularly in Asia, to further personalise the customer experience. Investments were also made to support
Chanel’s creation and production activities, including the completion of a new leather goods manufacturing facility
in Verneuil-en-Halatte, France. Investments in digital initiatives continue to be a key focal area to support
customer experience (such as virtual try on services, online appointment booking and global digital applications),
whilst continuing to expand ecommerce capabilities worldwide in Fragrance & Beauty.
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RESPONSIBLE EMPLOYER

Across all industries, 2021 continued to be impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. The shift to remote work and new
ways of working coupled with fierce competition for talent compelled many organisations to re-evaluate their
approach to their employees and the impact their eperations can have on communities, the environment and
saciety as a whole.

At a time of significant social and environmental change, Chanel seeks to enhance the potential of all of its
employees and to have a significant impact on the world. As a responsible employer, Chanel is committed to
creating a culture that nurtures personal growth and contributes to collective progress, demonstrating its
commitments across severai key areas.

Ensuring time to thrive and fostering development

Chanel strives to ensure that each individua! is nourished to grow, be inspired and feel included for the long-term.
Two employee immersion initiatives are at the heart of this commitment: 100 days of connections and IMAGINE
CHANEL. Since its inception, more than 23,600 new joiners have participated in the immersive IMAGINE CHANEL
programme which, together with the 100-day onboarding approach, uniquely supports people in understanding
Chanel’s culture and the brand. More than 1,000 internal speakers from across the business have contributed to
this distinct and special experience in bringing to life the spirit and identity of the brand and building long-term
relationships that span the Group, Chanel further cultivates a cufture of discovery through learning communities
and is empowering peaple to learn anywhere, anytime and on any device through the digital learning platform,
CHANEL BLOOM, which is currently being deployed in phases across the world.

Advancing mutual and individual accomplishment

Chanel strives to nurture the whole persen, not just the employee. Through the Me@MyBest approach, the Group
gives its employees the space and tools to design their impact based on their individual strengths and intrinsic
motivations, but they never do it alone. To create collective success, Chanel promotes and values the power of
collaboration. By placing People Leadership at equal consideration with Financial Health, Brand Performance,
Client Engagement and Sustainability in its business performance framework, each leader is accountable for
growing talent and the business with mutual benefits.

Showing humanity and promoting diversity and inclusion

Chanel fosters respect, empathy and dignity for everyone. Chane! believes strongly that the diversity of its people
across the full spectrum of human differences is essential to the organisation and the connections it has with its
clients. Chanel is intentional in promoting inclusion and increasing the diversity of its leadership and teams,
elevating its people practices to ensure equal opportunities (and at times evolving sacial norms) through
deliberate programmes such as pay equity reviews; parental leave; inclusive sourcing and hiring guidelines; and
talent and career progression reviews.

Embracing flexibility and new ways of working

Recognising the importance of flexible working, Chanel developed Flex@Chanel Flexibility Posture and Guidelines,
which were introduced globally in early 2022 after launching at local levels throughout 2021. The Group’s
commitment, taking into account local factors where appropriate, is to embrace flexibility in all its dimensions as
an enabler of business agility, personal performance and wellbeing, aflowing people to be at their best. Leveraging
options around time (when people work), place (where work is performed) and contract types, enables individuals
to do their best work in a sustainable way. This posture reflects the culture of trust, empowerment and mutual
responsibility in which Chanel believes.
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Reward philosophy

Despite the chatlenges of the pandemic, Chane! continued to reinforce its reward principles by ensuring that its
people are rewarded fairly and competitively. The Group conducts comprehensive annual analyses, reviews and
reporting to ensure proper actions are taken for continued pay equity, competitive pay and protecting employees
from external pay pressures.

Elevating a culture of transparency, trust and empowerment

Chanel seeks to cultivate empowaerment and cullective pride by enhancing ettorts around communications and
increasing access to information across multiple channels, including the new global intranet platform, MyChanel.
These efforts, which support leadership commitments, are aimed to ensure greater transparency and keep
employees informed of the Group’s strategic direction, key projects, brand events, business results and pecple-
related matters. Each entity within the Group also engages in regular listening activities, including surveys and
focus groups, to continually evolve peoples’ experiences and engagement.

BUSINESS ETHICS

Chanel has always been committed to the highest standards of integrity and believes that this commitment to
strong business ethics is part of its social responsibility which encompasses its obligations to its employees,
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders. Qur employees take pride in deing the right thing and working with
our partners to impact society at large. The Group has continued to reinforce this commitment throughout the
pandemic with its employees and partners globally, ensuring a common understanding on how to conduct
business with uncompromising integrity including in times of great disruption and rapid change.

Chanel is strongly committed to conducting its business in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and
regulations wherever it does business and continuously adapts its compliance programme to anticipate new risks
and integrate evolving regulations into sustainable business practices. tn particular, we put great emphasis on the
health and safety of our clients, employees and business partners, as well as on supporting our supply chain
throughout the Covid-19 crisis (such as through enabling flexible payment terms and maintaining minimum
orders).

The Group has steadily increased its training and awareness programmes in different compliance areas, notably
through taking advantage of online and digital tools as well as ambitious and engaging case study learning and
continues to work on building an environment of trust and open reporting where any concerns can be raised,
investigated and resolved without any fear of retaliation.

The Group will be relaunching its code of conduct, Ethics@Chanel, in 2022, with a plan to re-engage employees
around meaningful business ethics, with new inspiring materials, awareness trainings and open discussions
throughout Chanel.

SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS

Chanel continues to invest in and advance its sustainable business transformation. The Group strives to be a
positive force in the transition to a sustainable future, prioritising the areas where it can have the most impact
respecting nature, ensuring people across its operations and supply chain can thrive, and addressing climate
change. Wherever possible, the Group’s approach to sustainability aims to link environmental challenges to their
human and social consequences to enable lasting impact.
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The Group’s progress in these areas is being driven by initiatives and innovations that reduce the impact of its
products and materials, as well as harnessing ‘savoir-faire’ and collaborations.

Collaborating to advance system change

Chanel continues to participate in collaborative initiatives that aim to advance broader system change. Chanel is
one of the signatories to the UN Fashion Industry Charter for Climate Action, which announced a renewed and
mare stringent set of commitments during the COP26 climate conference. in addition, Chanel continues te be an
active participant in the Fashion Pact.

In April 2021, Chanel entered into a three-year partnership with the University of Cambridge Institute for
Sustainability Leadership (CISL). The CISL partnership includes operational innovation prejects, partnership to
build an education and sustainability leadership programme in Chanel, and a bursary for CISL’s Master in
Sustainability Leadership for students from under-represented backgrounds.

Sustainability governance

Senior leaders at Chanel are committed to the Group’s sustainability agenda and to building a resilient and
sustainable business. To ensure sustainability is truly embedded into its core business strategy, the Company has
established two Sustainability Committees {that include all Presidents) as sub-committees of the Executive
Committee. The Sustainability Committees meet regularly to discuss the on-going sustainability strategy and
performance that are ultimately presented to the broader Executive Committee. The Corporate Social
Responsibility (“"CSR”) Committee is a sub-committee of the Board and was placed on pause mid-2021 whilst the
above governance was being embedded under the Executive Committee. To enhance engagement with the Board,
going forward there will be regular connections on sustainability performance and the overall sustainability
strategy, as part of the set meeting calendar with the Board.

RESPECTING NATURE AND BIODIVERSITY

Chanel is committed to the protection and restoration of nature and aims in the longer-term to have a net positive
impact. Chanel continues to be among a group of corporate organisations that are contributing to the
development of the Science Based Targets Network to understand and quantify the impact on nature, Chanel has
also joined the Taskforce on Natural Financial Disclosures Forum {TNFD).

Examples of innovations

Chane! strives to use more sustainable materials throughout its business activities to reduce its impacts. In 2021,
Chanel and Groupe Pochet announced the launch of the first high-end recycled glass for N°5 Eau de Parfum. To
obtain & glass that retains the purity, brilliance and transparency of the N°5 bottle, Pochet du Courval developed
an innovative industrial process with its partners to guarantee high quality recycled glass. The result of this
collaboration encourages circular processes, reduces the use of natural resources and lowers the carbon impact
while preserving the aesthetics of CHANEL’s iconic perfume.

Since 2021, all of the 125 ml bottles in LES EAUX DE CHANEL collection are topped with a bio-based cap, which
Chanel has developed in partnership with Sulapac. For twao years, Chanel teams worked with the Finnish start-up
to create an unprecedented cap composed of three layers, made out of 91% bio-based materials obtained from
renewable resources and FSC™ certified wood chips (by-products of industrial side-streams).

The Fashion business continues to increase the use of sustainably sourced and certified materials, notably through
support for the Global Qrganic Textile Standard (GOTS} and the Global Recycled Standard (GRS). In 2021, four eco-
tweeds using GOTS certified materials were featured in the Cruise Collection 2021/2022 which were produced by
Lesage while working with Chanel’s other clese partners,

-7
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Furthermore, as part of its commitment to accelerate change beyond its operational footprint, Chanel continues to
invest in nature-based solutions. The projects are part of certified compensation and adaptation programmes that
protect natural carbon sinks, restore degraded landscapes and help local communities to thrive. Further
information can be found in the CHANEL Mission 1.5° publications en the Company website,

EMBEDDING SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY IN THE SUPPLY CHAIN

Chanel believes that everyone working across its business and value chain should be treated with dignity and
respect, enabling them to thrive.

Afongside this longer-term ambition, and in line with its overall commitment to strong business ethics, Chanel is
committed to conducting its business in compliance with all applicable labour and employment-related laws, rules
and regulations of every location in which it does business and across the supply chain, including, but not limited
to, laws, rules and regulations relating to wages and hours worked, equal employment opportunity, discrimination,
immigration and work authorisation, privacy, collective bargaining, child labour and forced labour.

In alignment with Chanel’s internal code of conduct, Ethics@Chanel, the Group’s Responsible Procurement Policy
sets out the standards it expects its suppliers to uphold regarding issues such as forced and slave labour, human
rights, the environment and anti-corruption.

Supply chain auditors apply a systematic approach to supplier assessment, utilising inherent risk identification to
map suppliers which are most at risk. The methodology used is adaptable to the goods and services supplied and
allows for distinguishing between risks posed to people and risks posed to the business. Based on that risk
analysis, Chanel conducts inspections and audits of suppliers to ensure compliance with its Responsible
Procurement Policy.

The Group believes it has a responsibility to make sourcing and purchasing decisions that contribute to the
protection and the promotion of human rights. This is with regard to direct supplier relationships as well as the
local communities in which it operates. In line with the focus on long-term value creation, Chanel acknowledges
that partnering with suppliers is critical to building a more sustainable future. Therefore, to not only ensure that
suppliers comply with Chanel’s human rights due diligence standards, but also to help them build their capacity to
implement their own. Chanel maintains ciose and often long-standing supplier relationships that are an essential
asset to drive effective social progress within its supply chains for the long-term.

Further infermation can be found in the latest CHANEL Modern Slavery Act Statement, which is available in the
Legal section on Chanel.com,

Responsible Jewellery Council certification

For its watches and fine jewellery activities, Chanel is a member of the Responsible Jeweliery Council (RIC) and has
been certified since 2011. In 2021, Chanel achieved the renewal of its certification under the new Code of
Practices 2019 for three years. The RIC is the leading standard setting organisation for the jewellery and watches
industry that brings together over 1,400 players in the jewellery industry. The RIC’s Code of Practices is the only
industry standard covering the entire jewellery and watch supply chain.

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE
The Group is committed to decarbonise the business and its value chain to reduce its impact on climate change.

Whilst striving to reduce its climate impacts, the Group aims to enhance the resilience of its business in response
to climate-related risks. Chanel also aims to accelerate the transition to a low carbon future beyond its own

_8-
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operations and value chain. 2021 saw the launch of two funds in which Chanel invested as part of its commitment
to support climate adaptation and to strengthen the resilience of local communities: the Landscape Resilience
Fund and the Livelihoads Carbon Fund (LCF3}. Chanel has joined the Board of Trustees of both funds and is the
anchor investor of the Landscape Resilience Fund.

CLIMATE RELATED RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES ALIGNED WITH THE TASK FORCE ON
CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Climate change is considered as a principal risk to the business. It recognises that extreme weather conditions
could cause disruptions across Chanel’s supply chain and impact the sourcing of raw materials that are used in its
products. The identification and management of climate risks form part of the Group’s overall risk framework and
follow a robust annual assessment where risk appetites and mitigation actions are considered as detaifed on

page 23.

The Group has progressed on adopting the Task Force on Climate-related Financiafl Disciosures {"TCFD”}
recommendations te better understand and report its climate-related risks and opportunities. Chanel conducted a
number of scenario analyses based upon the assessment of the medium- and long-term climate risks and
opportunities to which it is exposed.

For details on sustainability {including climate) governance refer to page 7 as well as the Corporate Governance
report on pages 30 1o 36.

Climate Strategy

The Group makes the distinction between physical lacute and chronic) and transition impacts of climate change.
Transition risks are mainly caused by changes in policy and fegal regulations, with the possibility of more stringent
climate policies and carbon pricing that could increase sourcing and compliance costs.

Chanel products depend on natural resources, many of which are at risk of the effects of climate change, and
therefore significant resources are committed to improving and reducing the Group’s impacts on climate, nature
and biodiversity. Chanel is committed to preparing for changes in climate through research to understand
potential impacts on the business, as well as the effects of actions that the Group takes in terms of mitigation of
any potential adverse putcomes an the climate.

During 2021, qualitative and quantitative scenario analyses were completed on a number of key risk areas. The
analyses reviewed the physical and transition risks to test against various climate scenarios. These help to
understand the impacts and identify adaptation strategies to protect the source of materials or key processes
whilst mitigating climate impact, As recommended by the TCFD, modelling included vulnerability of materials in
high physical impact situations (business as usual global warming} te rapid transition scenarios with high mitigation
(maintaining under 2° global warming). These scenarios were applied to understand the future impact for years
2030 to 2050, reviewing climate hazards and vulnerability.

Climate-related risks and opportunities

Chanel’s carbon footprint disclosure as detailed below in the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Repaorting table
reveals that purchased goods and services form the largest portion of greenhouse gases for the brand. Raw
materials comprise nearly 30% of the total 2021 carbon footprint for Chanel. In addition, a biodiversity footprint
anaiysis was conducted in 2020 and cencluded that transport and raw materials also have the largest biodiversity
impacts. Therefore in 2021, raw materials were the focus of climate-related risks and opportunities. To continue
to improve the approach, future studies will be conducted on hot spot areas such as upstream and downstream
freight transport, capital goods and media.

-G-
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To better assess the risks and opportunities, approximately 1,800 ingredients and 30 packaging materials
were quantitatively screened against climate hazards for five physical risks and two transitional risks. A
qualitative approach has been taken for reputational risks as recommended by TCFD guidance. Quantitative
scores have been used to estimate the level of criticality and the probability of occurrence of the climate-
related physical and transition vulnerabilities. Indicative scores were assessed as a first screening exercise,
with the view to conduct more detailed analysis. The range of risks and opportunities relevant to the
materials considered were extreme temperature, droughts, rainfall patterns and volume, sea level rise and
frequency of storms.

Some resources have been identified as highly at risk due to climate sensitivity to the crops or difficulty
extracting the minerals. Suppliers’ sites were also identified as a risk due to extreme weather events which
could adversely affect the supply chain and slow the material transformation processes. Other risks
included changes in border regulations causing material shortages. Based on these results, the Group will
consider undertaking a more detailed analysis. Chanel will work with suppliers to strengthen their
resilience and resilience planning for the most impactful hazards on their assets and on their suppliers’
assets, as well as discussing how suppliers may reduce their own carbon footprint.

Chanel conducted a site-based study on proprietary supply chain sites where key active ingredients are
produced, as well as a main distribution centre. A physical risk scenario analysis was conducted using the
<2°C pathway and >4°C pathway by 2100 against heat stress, frost, drought, extreme rainfall, storms and
cyclones, sea level rise, humidity and cumulative radiation. In the >4°C pathway, all sites will be impacted
by a drastic and abnormal temperature increase. As a resuit of this study, a distribution centre has been
able to address a number of risks within its local continuity action plan with further actions to be addressed,
such as energy-related costs due to extra cooling that may be required.

Chanel also performed a climate change scenario analysis specifically on cotton, one of its key raw materials. The
aim of the analysis was to identify physical and transitional climate-related risks and opportunities and potential
impacts for the cotton value chain from three strategic sourcing areas under two opposing climate scenarios, using
a <2°C pathway and >4°C pathway.

A range of risks and opportunities relevant to the cotton value chain were explored: carbon pricing, climate
policies, sustainable market opportunities, technology advances, heavy rainfall, landslides, bushfires, drought,
thunderstorms, floods and extreme temperature. The results of the scenario analysis highlighted a mixture of risks
and opportunities along the value chain and concluded that Chanel’s organic and regenerative organic cotton goal
will help build climate resilience through the health, fertility and biodiversity of the soil. The outputs will feed
further scenario analyses to 2050 and identify further climate action in strategic value chains.

CHANEL Mission 1.5°

CHANEL Mission 1.5° is the Group’s plan to help address climate change. Launched in 2020, CHANEL Mission 1.5°
aims to transform the business in line with the ambitions of the Paris Agreement on Climate Change. Chanel’s
commitment to both reducing emissions and to accelerating climate adaptation are also in line with the outcomes
of the Glasgow Climate Pact of 2021.

Chanel has set science-based targets to decrease its own carbon footprint (scopes 1 and 2) by 50% by 2030 and
decrease greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from its value chain (scope 3) by 40% per unit sold, in comparisantoa
2018 baseline year.

Chanel also aims to shift to 100% renewable electricity in its own operations by 2025 and is part of the RE100
initiative.

-10 -
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The Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) table is below. The boundary for the Global SECR table
includes all activities contributing to the Chanel brand.

Recalculation

In 2021, Chanel continued to improve the completeness of data and these improvements have been applied to
recalculate the 2020 figures to facilitate a comparable assessment of our progress for Purchased Goods and
Services {Category 1), Capital Goods (Category 2} and Franchises (Category 14).

The recalculation in Category 1 reflects efforts made in the past year to improve the completeness of raw material
coverage, a change to activity data for media based on increased data provided by Chanel’s media agency and a
better understanding of the impact of Chanel’s IT services as welt as the website, Chanel.com. The recalculated
Category 2 Capitals Goods footprint is now better aligned with Chanel’s capital expenditures in relation to the
CHANEL Mission 1.5° global scope. The recalculated Category 14 footprint reflects the use of Chanel’s own
boutique emissions to estimate the impact of its wholesale points of sale within each Region. The result is an
increase in Category 1 of 139,958 tCO2e, an increase in Category 2 of 80,421 tCO2e and an increase in Category 14
of 12,958 tCO2e for 2020. In applying the same methodology to the 2018 baseline to enable a comparable
assessment, the result indicates a decrease of 8% for Scope 3 in 2021.

Scope 1 & 2 GHG emissions (CHANEL Mission 1.5° global scope}

As in 2020, Covid-19 continued to impact the business and different markets experienced periods of lockdown
throughout the year. Despite the challenging context, teams continued to advance decarbonisation initiatives. As
a result, scope 1 and 2 emissions {from our owned and operated production sites, distribution centres, boutigues
and offices) decreased by 31% compared with 2020, despite adding approximately 50 new boutiques into our
footprint in 2021. This is mainly driven by the continued transition towards renewable electricity, which now
covers 92% of Chanel’s electricity consumption and has resulted in a reduction of scope 2 GHG emissions by 58%
from 2020. Total scope 1 and 2 has decreased 33% versus the 2018 baseline.

All renewable electricity is from sources aligned with the RE100 technical criteria and supported by energy
attribute certificates. Scope 1 has decreased by 5% from 2020 despite the return to a more normal year following
2020 Covid-19 lockdowns. However, as there has been a decrease in refrigerant gas usage that fluctuates year-on-
year based on refill need, we could expect to see an increase from this source in 2022.

Scope 3 GHG emissions

Since launching CHANEL Mission 1.5%, Chanel has worked hard to gain a deeper understanding of its carbon
impacts. Chanel takes its carbon footprint very seriously and firmly believes in a rigorous approach to scope 3, in
line with the GHG Protocel, to build a realistic picture of its impacts. The accuracy of data is reliant on information
received from vendors.

In 2021, the carbon emissions reflect an increase in the volume of raw materials purchased in line with the
increase in production and sales (Category 1), a larger digital media footprint {Category 1) and, as expected, an
increase in both Business Travel (Category 6) and Transportation (Category 4 & 9) as the business’s operations
started to recover from the Covid-19 pandemic. The recovery extends to expenditure on events (Category 1) and
Capital Goods (Category 2), where currently these categories are estimated predominantly based on spend.
Chanel aims to move away from spend-based estimations towards more activity-based data wherever possible in
the coming year to strengthen the understarding of its impacts. As a result, scope 3 has increased by 4% versus
the 2018 baseline. However as noted above, in applying the same recalculation methodology to the 2018 baseline
results in a decrease of 8% in 2021.
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The data for 2021 serves to sharpen our focus on where and how carbon reductions can be made moving forward.
It has allowed us to identify 10 priorities which are critical to addressing our carbon footprint (including freight,
capital goods and media} and we are developing and implementing decarbonisation roadmaps for each.

This comprehensive and detailed analysis of the carbon footprint means Chanel can now identify the biggest levers
and opportunities for decarbenisation — this is a focus for next year. Further information can be found in the

CHANEL Mission 1.5° publications on the Company website.

STREAMLINED ENERGY AND CARBON REPORTING

Energy and carbon performance for the United Kingdom is as follows:

2021

2020

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

Fuel {including vehicles) 593,344 606,469
Natural gas 5,023,404 5,579,256
Electricity 2,838,073 2,670,630
Total 8,454,821 8,856,355
% electricity from renewable sources 98% 85%
Carbon Emissions {(tCOse) 2021 2020
UnHted Kingdom United Kingdom

Scope 1 —Emissions from fuel for vehicles and heating of facilities 1,008 1,154
Scope 2 ~ Emissions from purchase of electricity, heat, steam and cooling {location-based) 608 514
Scope 2 —Emissions from purchase of electricity, heat, steam and cocling {market-based) 19 149
Total Scope 1 and 2 (location-based) 1,616 1,768
Scope 1 and 2 { location-based) Intensity ratio [kg Coye per unit sold) 0.37 ¢.42

The total change in energy use is a result of a combination of factors. One site purchased more efficient electrical
machinery and another site installed electric vehicle charging points. These are balanced with an increase in
demand as working hours stabilised after Covid-19 closures in 2020. The decrease in the annual average gas
consumption can be attributed to the installation of a new boiler in the third quarter of 2020. The increase of
renewable energy is due to the use of solar panels, green energy tariffs and the purchase of renewable energy

certificates.

Energy and carbon perfoarmance for the global scope as defined by CHANEL Mission 1.5 is as follows:

Global Globat
fuel {including vehicles} 15,610,047 11,424,115
Natural gas 82,070,196 60,865,664
Electricity 144,378,288 121,435,819
Total 242,058,531 193,725,598

% electridity from renewable sources

92%

70%
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Carbon Ernissions {t€0;e) 2021 2020 {restated)
Global Global
SCOPES1 AND 2
Scope 1 —Emissions from fuel for vehicles and heating of facilities * 19,469 20,493
Scope 2 —Emissions from purchase of electricity, heat, steam and cooling (location-based) 40,973 37,007
Scope 2 —Emissions from purchase of electricity, heat, steam and cocling {market-based) 8,388 19,842
Total Scope 1 and 2 (location-based) 60,442 57,500
Scope 1 and X intensity ratio (market based kg Coze per unit sold) 0.33 0.60
SCOPE3 *
Scope 3 ~Purchased goods and services (Category 1) 445,820 361,388
Scope 3 — Capital goods (Category 2) 141,110 123,167
Scope 3 ~Fuel- and energy-related activities not included in Scope 1 and 2 (Category 3) 14,650 8,843
Scope 3 ~Upstream and downstream transportation and distribution {Categories 4 and 9) 181,597 164,418
Scope 3 —Waste generated in operations (Categary 5) 6,053 7,363
Scope 3 —Business travel {Category 6) 9,507 6,920
Scope 3 — Employee commuting (Category 7) 10,074 10,261
Scope 3 —Use of sold products {Category 11) 30,703 16,549
Scope 3 - End of life of sold products {Category 12) 5,037 3,760
Scope 3 —Franchises (Category 14) 14,960 19,673
Total Scope 3 859,511 722,342
Scope 3 Intensity ratio (kg Coe per unit sold) 10.29 10.74
Total Scope 1, 2 {market-based) and 3 887,368 762,677

*The scope 3 categories 8, 10, 13 and 15 are deemned not material to Chanel and, therefare, the Group does not report on them. Category 8
Upstream Leased Assets is not material as Chanel includes leased assets over which i has operational control in its scope 1 and Z footprints.
Category 10 Processing of Sold Products is not material to Chanel as its products do not require intermediate processing. Category 13
Downstream Leased Assets is not material to Chanel as there are very few assets that Chane! leases out to other entities. Category 15
Investments is not material to Chanel as it is not primarily an ‘investor’, nor does it provide financial services. Category 1 Purchased Goods and
Services includes water purchased from the public netwark; product, packaging and sales and promational raw materials; paper purchased for
office use; media {including the website, Chanel.com); events, and IT software and services,
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Notes to the data within the SECR table:

Chanel's scope 1 GHG emissions arise from natural gas, fuel and refrigerant gases consumed in our sites. The calculations are based on specific
energy data and are multiplied by the appropriate emission factors from ADEME and IEA. Scope 1 GHG emissions also includes on-site landfill
using a conversion factor from Ecoinvent.

Scope 1 data for 2020 has been restated to reflect the on-site landfill that was previously reported in scope 3. In addition, an emission factor for
refrigerants for 2020 has been corrected and is reflected in scope 1 for 2020. The result is an increase in scope 1 of 3,988 tCO2e and a decrease
in scope 3 of 3,734 tCO2e for 2020.

Chanel's indirect [market-based) scope 2 GHG emissions arise from heat, steam and cooling, and electricity used in all sites. The calculations are
based on specific data and are mulitiplied by the appropriate emission factor from AIB and the International Energy Agency (IEA). Where Chanel
does not have visibility of the energy consumed at a site, consumpticn is estimated based on square metres of the site and the known
consumption of other sites within that region.

Scope 3 emission factars have been socurced from: ADEME; Ecolnvent; EcoTransIT; EIO LCA; DEFRA; GLO; WALDB; WFLDB; SPICE; Trucost repart
on the Socioeconemic and Environmental Impact of Large-Scale Biamond Mining; US EPA; assessments conducted by 110; and life cycle
assessments conducted with consultants.

SUPPORT FOR COMMUNITIES

In addition to the positive impact that Chanel aims to create through its sustainable business transformation, the
Group also seeks to play an active role on social issues beyond its operational footprint. In 2021, Chanel donated
526 million to causes focused on environmental, social and educational issues — including emergency relief for
vulnerable communities — as well as provided funding for local cultural institutions.

YOU, ME & US

Chanel’s programme, 'You, Me & Us’, is focused on supporting those within the communities where Chanel
operates, with the aim of improving access to education or conditions for employment. This work involves a
variety of programmes that include volunteering opportunities taking a localised approach so that the Company’s
contributions respond to specific needs for each location.

You, Me & Us offers employees an oppartunity to play an active role in their communities, to share their skills and
knowledge and to broaden their own experiences. In 2021, more than 20% of Chanel employees around the world
volunteered their time, with hundreds of employees participating in initiatives for the first time. Volunteering
initiatives spanned 15 countries and included mentoring students to go back to school, helping women to regain
confidence after a long period of cancer treatment, supporting social entrepreneurs with their business plans, and
participating in collective coaching sessions by sharing expertise and skills from the organisation. Through the
programme, Chanel has supported more than 249 organisations and touched more than 2,000 beneficiaries
around the world.

FONDATION CHANEL

Fondation CHANEL aims for women and girls to be free to shape their own destiny. Fondation CHANEL is inspired by
Chanel’s founder, Gabrielle Chanel, who began her life under difficult circumstances but ultimately played a major
role in redefining the roles and statuses of women across society and around the world.

Fondation CHANEL continues this tradition through its partnerships with non-profit organisations, women’s funds,
social enterprises, international organisations, research institutions and civil society institutions in different parts of
the world. Fondation CHANEL works with these partners to help overturn the systemic and social barriers women
and adolescent girls face, with a mission to achieving gender equality for the long term. Since its inception in 2011,
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more than one million women and girls around the world have received support through the initiatives funded by
the Fondation. Over the last 11 years, Fondation CHANEL has provided $69 million in increasingly fiexible support
for 190 grantee-partners to make these impacts in 56 countries.

For further information on Fondation CHANEL visit www.fondationchanel.org,

ARTS AND CULTURAL INITIATIVES

Despite the challenges generated by an ongeing global pandemic that played havoc with creative production,
programming and live events, Arts and Culture teams at Chanel made it a priority to animate company values
through a variety of cultural initiatives. With the aim of extending Chanel’s cultural legacy into the future, the
Group continued its conservation effarts with regard to historic [ocations, from the multi-year renovation of La
Pausa to the restoration of Aubazine Abbey, two historic properties central to Gabrielle Chanel’s life. In close
consultation with the Patrimoine, Chanel purchased from Sotheby’s Karl Lagerfeld auction, furniture, art works and
notebooks from Karl Lagerfeld’s personal collections. Other highlights in 2021 included the international debut of
the Gabrielle Chanel, Fashion Manifesto exhibition at the National Gallery of Victoria in Melbourne, with further
international touring plans in 2022 and 2023.

As a creation-driven company, Chanel places significant value on human potential; the mission of Arts and Culture
at Chanel is to harness the transformative power of artists to imagine new ways forward. To that end, Chanel
launched three key Arts and Culture programmes in 2021:

 CHANEL Connects — The first global Arts and Culture podcast launched by Chanel and hosted on all
podcast platforms leaders, brought together 24 well known cultural thought leaders across the creative
industries in eight conversations about the ideas driving their respective fields. A second edition is in
preparation for a June 2022 launch date.

e CHANEL Culture Fund - A global programme of unique partnerships with leading institutions to support
cultural innovators in advancing new ideas and greater representation in culture and society. The Fund
was launched in early 2021 with five partners, each of whom co-created an ambitious initiative with
Chanel. They included the Underground Museum in Los Angeles (three new curatorial fellowships
awarded to three curators for their achievements in broadening cultural audiences); the Power Station of
Art in Shanghai (a three-year exhibition programme for emerging cultural producers in craft and
architecture); and the Centre Pompidou {cross-disciplinary exhibitions focused on ecology, urbanism and
the Metaverse). Chanel’s support also meant that a Curator of Collections was appointed at the National
Portrait Gallery with the focus on a three-year project — “Reframing Narratives: Women in Portraiture”
which aims to enhance the representation of women in the Collection and highlight the often-overlooked
stories of women who have shaped British history and culture.

¢ CHANEL Next Prize — With a focus on individual promise and the next generation, Chanel launched the
Next Prize which awards €100,000 to ten game-changing artists across film, dance, art, theatre, music and
game design, who are radically redefining their fields. The selection process was overseen by an
international jury. Beyond the prize money, the award includes platforms that give artists access,
amplification, mentorship and shared experiences in the service of their creativity.
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Additionally, support of local market initiatives such as the Jimei X Arles partnership in Mainland China ensured
that the expertise and resources of Arts and Culture at Chanel were globally deployed in the service of authentic
and meaningful cultural engagement for the Brand and resultant brand enrichment.

TAXATION

Tax principles

The Group adopts a sustainable approach to taxes and recognises that taxes are a crucial source of funding for
governments in every country in which it operates and that they finance important public programmes. Asa
result, the Group’s overall objective on tax matters is to maintain a net positive tax contribution in all jurisdictions
where it operates in line with the economic value created in each country, not just in terms of corporate taxes, but
also employment and property taxes, customs duties and other types of levies.

The Group’s tax principles ensure coherence hetween its business operations and the pelicy intent of international
and local tax legislation. The Group does not invest in a country, for example, without a clear business purpose or
put in place any schemes, arrangements or tax planning that could be perceived as contrived or artificial in nature.
The Group follows reasonable and unambiguous interpretations of tax laws as well as the policy intent of tax
legislation, It only uses efficiencies foreseen in tax legislation if they apply to all taxpayers without selectivity.

The Group strives, through its tax principles, to align its global profit allocation with economic value creation within
the Group and to apply the arm’s length principle, taking into account the location of its main intangible assets and
functions related to their development. None of the Company’s subsidiaries (direct or indirect} operate in low-tax
jurisdictions unless there are commercial activities being carried out there, supported by people, assets and
business in that country.

The Group ensures the highest level of compliance when applying its tax principles. It files all tax-related returns,
declarations, reports and related documentation under local legislation/rules. Where there is significant
compiexity in relation to a tax matter, the Group seeks advice from external advisors to ensure that an appropriate
filing position is adopted. The Group always maintains an open and constructive relationship with tax authorities
and does not take positions on tax matters that may create reputational risk or jeopardise its good-standing with
local tax authorities.

Below is an exhaustive list of countries where the Group has incorporated entities and the main nature of the
activities deployed by all the entities in every jurisdiction.
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Australia

Austria

Belgium

Bolivia

Brazil

Canada

Colombia

Costa Rica

Czech Republic

Denmark

France

Germany

Hong Kong S.A.R.

India

lretand

Italy

Japan

Luxembourg

Macao S. AR,

Mainland China

Malaysia

Mexico

Monaco

Mongolia

Netherlands

New Zealand

Norway

Panama

Poiand

Portugal

Russia

Singapore

South Africa

South Korea

_Spain

Sweden

Switzerland

Taiwan Region

Thailand

Turkey

Ukraine

United Arab Emirates

United Kingdom

United States

Vietnam
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As noted, the Group does not operate in low-tax jurisdictions unless there are commercial activities being carried
out there, supported by people, assets and business in that country. The Group has four entities in Panama, which
is on the EU’s list of non-cooperative jurisdictions !, and which for decades, has been the location of the Group's
regional headquarters and distribution centre for Latin America and the Caribbean. The Group also operates two
retail boutiques in Panama, supported by certain real estate assets. The Group also operates a fashion boutique
and a watch and fine jewellery boutique in Monaco which is on the DECD’s list of un-cooperative tax havens?. The
Group currently employs 137 people in Panama and has 26 employees in Monaco.

In 2021, the Group's total taxes paid amounted $1.9 billion, exclusive of taxes collected on the behalf of others
{e.g., VAT and certain employee taxes}. The make-up of the taxes paid is set out below, with corporation income
taxes representing over half of the total amount of taxes paid.

TOTAL 2021 TAXES PAID

Corporate income tax
Employer tax

= Customs duties

m Sales tax

M Property tax

® Other

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Group assesses its performance against various measures. The key performance indicators {“KPIs”} have been
selected to measure the success of our strategy and are menitored on a regular basis. The following KPIs are
measured, and the results are included in the Highlights on page 2:

* Comparable revenue growth — measures growth across all sales channels exciuding the impact of foreign
exchange and for a comparable legal entity structure, which excludes revenues from current and prior year
business acquisitions and disposals and, therefore, do not represent a full year's revenues. Comparable
revenue is determined using exchange rates used in the reporting year for all periods presented.

* Investment in advertising, promotion and demonstration — measures the impact of marketing spend and is
considered in connection with the growth in revenues and strengthening of brand equity.

» Operating profit — measures the overall performance of the Group.

! List adopted by EU Council on 24t of February 2022.
2 List published on 18" of April 2002.
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EBITDA — an alternate measure of the Group’s operational profitability, without the impact of changes in ‘
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation and adjusted for other exceptional items in the year. EBITDA is

based on an adjusted operating profit that excludes exceptional items such as restructuring costs, impairment

charges and reversals on property, plant, and equipment and intangibles, investment gains and losses on

corporate-owned life insurance and other one-off expenses in the year as disclosed in Note 4. The addback

of depreciation excludes depreciation on right-of-use assets. A reconciliation of the Group’s EBITDA

calculation is as follows:

2020
Notes 021 {restated)®
$ millions $ miflions
Operating Profit 5,460.7 2,017.8
Exceptional [tems q 57.2 106.9
Depreciation and amortisation of PP&E, investment property and intangibles 431.8 418.8
EBITDA 5,949.7 2,543.5
! See Note 2.2 for details on the prior period restatement.
Net cash -~ measures the Group’s remaining cash following the settlement of all borrowings and if the Group
has sufficient liquidity to meet its debt obligations. A reconciliation of the Group’s net cash calculation is as
follows:
Notes 2021 2020

$ millions $ millions

Borrowings {excluding lease liabilities) 18 {3,113.9} (3,225.1)
Related party borrowings 26 - {350.8)

{3.113.9) (3,575.9)
Cash and cash equivalents 16 3,674.2 4,649.8
Net cash 560.3 1,073.9

Free cash flow — measures the Group’s ability to generate positive cash. A reconciliation of the Group's free
cash flow calculation is as follows:

2020
2021 {restated) *
$ millions. $§ millions
Net cash provided by operating activities 5,555.6 2,156.8
Capital investment {758.2) {1,077.2}
Refundable VAT on purchase of propetty, plant, and equipment 783 (78.3)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 59 35
Repayment of lease liabilities [341.7) {325.4)
Free cash fiow 4,535.9 6794

! See Note 2.2 for details an the prior period restatement.
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+ (apital investment — represents the acquisition of assets by the Group for use in its business goals and
objectives. A reconciliation of the Group's capital investment is calculated as follows:

2020
2021 (restated) *
$ millions $ mittions
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment 663.1 5933
Purchase of intangibles 778 839
initial direct costs refated to right-of-use-assets 17.3 -
Capital investment 758.2 1077.2

? See Note 2.2 for detaits on the prior period restatement.

« Carbon footprint - measures carbon emissions of the Chanel brand in line with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

Other KPis listed below help management understand the impact on the financial results, which allows us to
develop the Group’s business strategy.

s Brand equity - measures all activities we engage in to ensure our products and image are modern, relevant,
and luxurious without becoming too commonplace. Our strong brand equity sets our products apart from our
competitors’ and has a direct impact on our financial KPls.

e leadership and people strength - measures how employees grow in their roles in order to contribute in
larger ways over time, including mentoring new team members and recruiting the best talent for the future.
To measure our performance we focus on employee engagement, leadership preparedness and employee
retention metrics.

e Client engagement - measures our dedication to building deep and meaningful client experiences, whether
through direct contact in the boutique or through virtual experiences online and through our services. The
Group continuously aims to exceed customer expectations making our clients loyal brand advocates. Factors
considered in measuring our performance include our ability to retain existing clients as well as recruit new
customers. We also rely on customer satisfaction surveys to measure the client experience.

» Integrity and business ethics - Chanel’s ethical principles are summarised in our global code of conduct,
Ethics@Chanel, which applies to all employees worldwide. Chanel is cammitted to the highest standards of
integrity in all areas in which it conducts business. These principles include, in addition to a general
commitment to compliance with all applicable laws, an open-reporting environment with a guarantee of non-
retaliation, and policies on conflicts of interest, fair employment practices and the respect of human rights,
health and safety, anti-corruption, anti-money laundering and the respect of trade sanctions throughout the
Group. These principles are shared through our Responsible Procurement Policy or otherwise {such as
through contractual provisions or trainings) with third parties with whom Chanel conducts business, including
our suppliers, contractors, agents, representatives, distributors and consultants. Chanel measures to what
extent its employees and partners adhere to the spirit of these values and comply with Chanel’s standards.

» Social responsibility - Through the work of Fondation CHANEL, cur key commitment of advancing the role of
women in society and improving the social and economic conditions for women and adolescent girls is
measured via specific indicators such as gained employment, access to and completed vocational training or
improved access to health services.
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* Supplier performance monitoring - A thorough risk-assessment methodology is conducted to determine the
governance and business ethics, health and safety, human rights and environmental risks across our supplier
portfolio. Supplier audits are conducted by both an internal audit team and external audit partners to
provide support on country-specific regulations and socfo-cultural norms. The team measures the audit
results of our suppliers across the four risk pillars, the overall progression year over year and shares
knowledge and best practices to help guarantee consistency and coherence in the Group’s approach to
supplier risk assessment, monitoring and remediation.

Overall, these KPIs set the expectations for employees and partners and enable the Group to identify areas for
improvement, as well as recognise progress, year over year. They help anchor the business strategy and areas for
focus each year for each region, based on the specific needs of each market and area of the business.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to its long-term vision for the brand based on creativity, innovation and excellence. The
Group incurred research and development costs of $158.4 million {2020: $138.4 million), net of research and
development tax credits.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Coming off a strong year in 2021, the Group will continue to make significant investments by supporting new and
existing products as well as elevating the client experience. Chanel’s social commitments remain a priority as we
focus on our sustainability initiatives across the organisation. At the end of 2021, the Group had over 28,000
employees worldwide. As a Group, we are committed to our many stakeholders, notably our employees and aim
to continue to work towards fostering an environment that is diverse and inclusive and has a positive impact on all.

RISK MANAGEMENT

APPROACH TO RISK MANAGEMENT

The directors have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Group, including those that
would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. Throughout the year, we monitor
the mitigating actions in refation to each risk identified.

The directors continue to give due consideration to the Group’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic and
geopolitical factars, its ability to make decisions quickly, identify ways to continue to do business, redirect
inventory flows and protect its staff whilst continuing to safeguard the brand and comply with all laws and
regulations in a complex, evolving environment.

The Group’s objective regarding capital risk management is to maintain a strong capital base and to sustain future
development of business primarily through the use of operating cash flow. The Board regularly reviews the capital
structure of the Group’s businesses and determines the most economic approach to fund various transactions,

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
mitigate potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Financial risk management is generally
carried out by the Group’s treasury department, which identifies, evaluates and manages financiai risks in close
cooperation with the Group’s operating units.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining appropriate levels of cash and the availability of funding through a
revolving credit facility. In 2021, the Group continued to maintain a zero net debt policy which it monitors for
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ongoing pertinence and applicability on a regular basis. Liquidity at the subsidiary level is ensured through access
to a global cash peol arrangement and an intercompany lending programme, Details of the Group’s financial risk
management are included in Note 22.

As a priority for 2022 and beyond, a key focus will be placed on integrated risk management. As the external and
internal risk landscape continues to evolve rapidly, it is essentiai that the Group defines, implements and embeds
an even more robust, independent and better synchronised integrated risk management framework under the
mandate of the Audit Committee and the Executive Team. This will further strengthen the Group’s risk
management activities for identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring key risks and developing, operating and
monitoring the system of internal controls. Progress reports for managing the Group’s principal risks will help lead
the organisation to continue to make well-informed decisions and drive performance.

RISK APPETITE

One of the Audit Committee’s key responsibifities is to monitor and evaluate the Group’s risk appetite and how the
risk management progarmme identifies, assesses, manages and monitors such risks. The Group's risk appetite, risk
profile and risk tolerance are assessed each year by the Global Leadership Team and developed accordingly. The
role of the Audit Committee is discussed further in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 30 through 36.

Management maintains a low risk tolerance for its principal risks, whilst acknowledging that the luxury sectoris a
competitive, dynamic sector where innovation and understanding of consumer habits is paramount. In
determining its risk appetite, the Global Leadership Team meets with a number of departments responsible for all
of the key risk areas relevant to the Group and considers a variety of information when reviewing the Group’s
business, including key strategic and operational matters, In exploring risks and opportunities, the priority is
always to protect the long-term value and reputation of the brand and we consider that the implementation of
mitigating action plans is a core element to this.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

Below is an overview of the principal risks that have been identified and grouped in six categories: Strategic,
Operational, Legal and Compliance, People, Cyber Security and Financial. We believe these risks are most relevant
to our business and those that could have the most material impact to our performance and potentiafly threaten
our overall business model if they are not managed effectively.
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STRATEGIC REPORT

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

SECTION 172(1) COMPANIES ACT 2006

The directors are required to act in the way they consider will be most likely to promote the success of the
Company and the Group in the long-term and in doing so, they have to consider the factors set out in Section
172(1) of the Companies Act 2006. The Board, working with the Global Leadership Team, is responsible for setting
the high-level strategic agenda, long-term vision, company values and the culture of the Company and the Group.
It also has the mission to ensure that the interests of key stakeholders are taken into consideration. The Board
does not get involved in the day-to-day operations of Chanel, but it ensures that the right leadership is in place to
run the business. it has delegated powers to manage the business to the Global Executive Chairman, the Global
Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Committee, which meets at least six times a year.

The Group's corporate governance principles, set out in the Corparate Governance section on pages 30 through
36, provide a framewaork for the Board in managing long-term strategic business decisions that promote the
success of the Group, having regard to the factors set out in Section 172{1) of the Companies Act 2006.

ENGAGEMENT WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Employees: The Board is committed to ensuring the engagement; learning and development; as well as safety and
well-being of the Group’s employees. At Chanel, we aim to cultivate potential and foster individual and mutual
accomplishment. The Group’s objective is to create an inclusive culture that nurtures personal growth, which
ultimately contributes to collective progress. In doing this, we nourish growth through the long-term by giving our
people the time to create meaningful relationships and understand our culture that will enable them to build
capabilities through our learning programmes and on the job. At a global level, Chanel promotes common
philesophies around these values and related initiatives and a holistic viewpoint; whilst regionally, locai leaders
and their teams orchestrate the initiatives around the Group’s priorities, the sharing of information, enhancing
learning and, importantly, listening to employee feedback to understand the experiences of our varied employee
populations so that we may continually improve on the employee experience.

Customers: Chanel is dedicated to building deep and meaningful client experiences, whether through direct
contact in the boutique, through special events, through virtual experiences online and through our services. The
guality of this engagement is eritical to carrying out the Group’s business strategy and this is measured through
satisfaction surveys as well as the Group's ability to recruit new clients and retain existing ones.

Suppliers: The Board is strongly committed to conducting its business in compliance with all applicable laws and in
particular, labour and employment-retated laws, rules and regulations of every location in which it does business
and across its supply chain. This includes, but is not limited to, laws, rules and regulations relating to wages and
hours worked, equal employment opportunity, non-discrimination, immigration and work authorisation, privacy,
collective bargaining, and child, prison and forced labour. The internal code of conduct, Ethics@Chanel, provides
the global ethical principles for all Chanel employees reflecting the Group’s core values and expectations,

Chanel's approach to partnering with suppliers is governed by the Responsible Procurement Policy. Reflecting its
internal code of conguct, this policy sets out the expectations and requirements on issues such as forced and slave
labour, human rights, the environment and anti-corruption. The Company carefully selects its suppliers and
business partners, maintaining business relationships with those that share its commitment to high ethical
standards. Chanel expects its suppliers and business partners to comply with all applicable laws, rules and
regulations as well as its Responsible Procurement Policy.

Chanel’s Responsible Procurement Policy focuses on continuous improvement of its suppliers’ processes in

connection with the audits performed on sustainability topics. Among them, it specifically requires its partners to

comply with all obligations and principles it applies internally relating to Human Rights, whilst also referencing the

International Labour Organisation’s core conventions governing forced and slave labour. Ongoing support is
-28.



STRATEGIC REPORT

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

provided to suppliers by trained professionals in the procurement teams. Chanel’s Responsibie Procurement
Policy’s principles are embedded in its supply chain on an ongoing basis. Chanel's commitment to ensuring the
third parties it works with adhere to all applicable labour and employment-related laws has been further
strengthened by the roll out of contractual comgpliance clauses as part of the procurement process, reguiring third
parties with whom it engages to comply with all relevant laws relating to forced and child labour, discrimination,
health and safety, bribery and corruption and environmental regulations. This also requires that all relevant staff

receive appropriate training.

Environment: Climate change is one of the greatest challenges of our time, and it is affecting both the natural
world and societies. Our husiness activities have an impact on climate change, such as through the raw materials
we source, transport and logistics, waste, packaging and business travel. CHANEL Mission 1.5° initiative represents
the Group’s commitment to mobilise and transform our business in line with the Paris Climate Agreement by
decarbonising our business and value chain to help limit average global mean temperature increases to 1.5
degrees Celsius above pre-industrial levels. Our commitment to these envirenmental initiatives is detailed on
pages 6 through 14 in the strategic report.

Regulatory: Compliance with regulatory requirements is of utmost importance to the Board. The Giobal
Compliance committee is charged with overseeing the development and implementation of the Group’s
Compliance and Ethics programme with regard to policies, training and investigations to ensure compliance with
laws, internal procedures, and industry standards that are significant to the business from a regulatory or
reputationai standpoint.

Approved by the Board and signey on its behalf by
/'// "

-
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, under The Companies {Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018, the
Group applied the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large Private Companies, published by the Financial
Reporting Council (“FRC") in December 2018.

The Group's corporate governance principles set out below provide a framework for the Board in managing
long-term strategic business decisions that promote the success of the Group, having regard to the factors set out
in Section 172(1) of the Companies Act 2006.

PRINCIPLE 1 - PURPOSE AND LEADERSHIP

Chanel is an independent company that believes in the freedom of creation, cultivates human potential and acts to
have a positive impact in the world.

Chanel designs and manufactures products of the highest quality and finest craftsmanship in haute couture,
fashion, fragrance & beauty and watches & fine jewellery. Chanel’s purpose is to conserve the heritage of the
brand whilst shaping it for the future with integrity and responsibility.

As a company, we believe in the power of creativity to generate beauty, emotion and change whilst cultivating
potential and fostering individual and mutual accomplishment. We are committed to making a positive impact on
people, society, arts and culture and the planet with a dedication to setting bold and new standards with a
long-term perspective.

The leadership at Chanel leverages five pillars in making critical decisions for the brand. These key perfermance
indicators that are detailed in the strategic report are a fundamental element of our development philosophy and
are equally important in guiding our long-term strategy. The five pillars are:

= Brand performance — Spans all activities in which we engage to ensure that our products and image are
modern, relevant, and luxurious. Each year, the Global Leadership Team uses our brand equity study,
client experience data, and e-reputation to improve our brand vitality, relevance and modernity.

+  Financial health — Emphasises sound long-term financial decision-making to ensure the continued growth,
health, and independence of the brand, combining sales, operating profit and cash components with a
long-term outlook.

* Leadership & people strength — Represents the commitment from our leaders and the Group to ensure
that we are building the right skills and capabilities in the organisation, developing cur people at all levels
and promoting an inclusive environment.

+ Sustainability — Ensures that in all our activities, we are striving to act to have a positive impact on the
planet and society and conducting our business ethically and with uncomgpromising integrity.

s Client engagement — Reflects our dedication to building deep and meaningful client experiences and
keeping the client at the core of our business strategy.

As a privately-owned group, we have the freedom to shape our own future. Without short-term financiat
constraints, we can implement long-term decisions that not only benefit our brand but are also designed to have a
positive impact on people, the planet, society, and arts and culture. This empowers our people to act with agility
and drive transformational change, locking beyond the present to consider new possibilities. Chanel aims to
empower and enzable its people to be visionary, strategic thinkers who are resilient to complexity and ambiguity,
because transformation often means dealing with the unknown.

-30-
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PRINCIPLE 2 - BOARD COMPOSITION

in 2021, the Board comprised ten members, including the Global Chief Financial Officer (“CFQ”), Presidents of the
entities within the Group that together own the Chanel brand and one major licensee, and four non-executive
directors. In early 2022, the Board added two additional members: the Global Executive Chairman and the Global
Chief Executive Officer {(“CEQ”). The Board meets at least four times a year and ensures that it is properly
prepared through various updates received in between meetings as well as review of detailed pre-reading
materials in advance of each Board meeting.

The Board considers that there is an appropriate balance between executive and non-executive directors and that
there is sufficient independence in the overall composition. The Board strives to include appointments that
promote an appropriate level of expertise, objectivity and diversity, which aligns with the Group’s purpose.
Overall, the directors work together to promote effective decision making and ensure the Group’s business
strategy is met.

The non-executive directors bring experience from both within the industry in which the Group operates as well as
other sectors, They play an important role in chalienging a broad range of areas across the business. The
nen-executive directors have the opportunity to meet with the Group's senior executives throughout the year to
gain a better understanding of the business and operational matters. As part of their onboarding, they visit
operational facilities that support the business activities as well as some of the markets and meet with the global
corporate functions to learn about the Group’s business and governance.

PRINCIPLE 3 - DIRECTOR RESPONSIBILITIES

Accountability
The Board recognises the importance of having a strong corporate governance framework as part of the Group's

overall success. The Board, upon recommendation from management, determines the strategic direction for the
Group; establishes policies for corporate management; reviews financial performance and approves budgets;
makes decisions on major initiatives and investments; ensures that leadership is in place to implement policies and
decisions; and oversees the executive leadership. Key information is provided to board members in a timely
manner prior to each meeting and all members have a clear understanding of their roles and responsibilities. in
accordance with the Group’s conflicts of interest policy, the four non-executive directors have no business or
relationship with the Group that would compromise their influence or objectivity.
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Areas of focus in 2021

- Appaintment of new extemal auditors, Emst & Young

Governance - Continued foous on establishing an integrated Risk Management programme

- Establishing a formal Remuneration Committee

- £volution of client journeys within the digital ccosystem

Strategy
- Preserving and developing exteptional knaw-how with an antisanaf contextin the luxury industry
- Focus on iquidity and net debt
- Continued effort to controf costs across the organisation given the uncertainty of the economic environment
Finance
- Optimising inventory management globally
- Lontinued adverse impatt of Covid-19 on tourist lacations and duty-free business
- Safeguarding data security systems to thwart cyber attacks and hacking
Risk and Opportunity
- Opportunity to better integrate, synchronise and consofidate the different risks of the Group
- Work of Fondation Chanel
Corporate Social
Respensibility

- Fotus on sustainability commitments across the organisation

The Board delegates certain responsibilities to specific committees that have the appropriate knowledge and
experience to make recommendations to the Board. Each committee includes non-executive directors as shown in

the table below. In 2021, the committees and their roles were as follows:

Audit Committee — monitors the effectiveness of internal controls; risk management; integrity of financial
statements; and the performance of the internal audit department and independent auditor.

Nominations Committee — reviews and maonitors succession planning for the Board, the Executive

Committee and other key leadership rotes.

Remuneration Committee — determines the remuneration of senior management and validates the global
salary and bonus budgets upon recommendation of Chanel’s internal Compensation Committee.

Corporate Social Responsibility {“CSR”) Committee - reviews, assesses and makes recommendations on

the Group’s environmental, sustainability and social activities.
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Below is a summary of the committee structures, members and meeting attendance effective in 2021.

Audht Meetings  Nominations Meetings  Remuntsation  Meetings -] Mestings
Name Board Member Meetings Attended  Commitiee  Attended Comnmities  Attended Comittee  Attended ¥ i ded
P. Abecassis * ¥ 100%. X 100% x 100% x 100%
P.B. Biondiaux x 100%
R. Collasse x 100% % 100%
1. Galantic X 100% X 100%
8.Gros A x 100% 3 100% n 100%
Lady 5. Heywbed ~ note 1 x 100% x 100% x 100%
Barowss M. Lane Fox A X 100% X 100% X 100%
AR. Mahon A note T x 100%
0. Nicolay X 100% X 100%
B. Paviovsiy X 100% x 100%
V. Shaw X 100% % 100%
A Nor-Executive
= Chair

wote L: resigned 26 May 2021
ote ). appoinied 26 May 2071

Other Committees

The day-to-day operations of the Group are managed by the Executive Committee, under the responsibility of the
CEQ, as well as a number of other operational committees which prepare recommendations to the Executive
Committee and/or the Board.

Executive Committee; recommends strategies to the Board; makes operational decisions for the Group; assesses
developments in the business, operational issues, risks and new initiatives; and decides on how best to carry out
the strategy of the brand and drive the implementation of business decisions. The Executive Committee is
comprised of the Global Executive Chairman, the CEQ, the CFO, the Global Chief Administrative Officer (“CAQ”),
Presidents of the Chanel Brand Owners and Licensee, Presidents of the business activities and Global corporate
function heads. The Executive Committee meets at least six times a year.

Brand, Communication and Image Committee: assesses brand image, cultural awareness, advertising and
promotion campaigns, and communication and media strategies and makes recommendations to the Board
accordingly. This committee is comprised of the Global Executive Chairman, the CEQ, Presidents of the business
activities, Global Markets Coordinator, Head of Artistic Direction, Global Head of Innovation and Brand Insights,
and the Global Head of Arts and Culture. This committee meets four times a year.

Regional Presidents’ Committee: assesses the priorities of the local markets on product and marketing issues in
preparation for meetings of the Executive Committee, Brand, Communication and Image Committee and for
meetings with the Presidents of the business activities. This committee is comprised of the Global Markets
Coordinator and Presidents of the Chanel Brand Owners and Licensee. This committee meets four times a year.

Global Compliance Committee: oversees the development and implementation of the Group’s Compliance and
Ethics programme with regard to policies, training and investigations to ensure compliance with laws, internal
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procedures, and industry standards that are significant to the business from a regulatory or reputational
standpoint. This committee is comprised of the Global General Counsel, the Global Chief Compliance Officer, the
CFO, the Global Chief People & Organisation Officer, the Global Head of Internal Audit and Supplier Sustainability
Assessments and other corporate representatives, as needed. This committee meets six times a year or more if
needed.

Real Estate Committee: assesses proposals and makes recommendations to the Board about opening new
boutiques, relocating existing boutiques or offices, undertaking major renovations, and acquiring new premises.
This committee is comprised of the Global Executive Chairman, the CEO, the CAQ, the CFOQ, Global Head of Store
Design, Presidents of the business activities and representatives of the Chanel Brand Owners and Licensee. This
committee meets four times a year.

Compensation Committee: makes recommendations te the Remuneration Committee on compensation for senior
managemeant and guidelines for salary increases and bonuses. This committee is comprised of the Global Executive
Chairman, the CEQ, the CAO and the Global Chief People & Organisation Officer. This committee meets twice a
year.

integrity of information

Appropriate financial reporting systems and processes are in place to enable the Board to assess the financial
performance and position of the Group. internal control systems help ensure the financial information generated
by the reporting system is reliable, consistent, timely and complete.

PRINCIPLE 4 - OPPORTUNITY AND RISK

Opportunity
The Group's business strategy is based on a long-term vision and allows it to explore opportunities that align with

the Group's purpose. The Board relies on key members of the organisation to seek out synergies that allow the
Group to create and innovate in new ways. Any major new business opportunities within the Group in excess of
certain monetary thresholds are considered and approved by the Board in accordance with the Company’s articles
of association, although interesting and significant initiatives are presented to the Board even if they do not
exceed such thresholds.

Risk and responsibilities
Risk management Is tied to the overall strategy of the Group. The strategic report on pages 3 through 29 includes
an assessment of the Group’s principal risks and how those risks are mitigated.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group’s internal controls and risk management systems and
receives reports from management on the effectiveness of the established systems and conclusions of any testing
carried out by internal and external auditors. The Audit Committee has a good understanding of how the Group (i}
identifies, assesses, manages and monitors risk and sets risk appetite; and {ii) develops, operates and monitors the
system of internal controls. This includes the governance of risk assessments and risk mapping to understand
material financial risks, fraud risks, strategic risks, legal and compliance risks as well as the impacts of upcoming
regulations, cyber security risks and people risks and how such risks are managed and mitigated through
operational and compliance controls. With regard to cyber security risks in particular, the Audit Committee
recognises that its remit in supervising risk management activities and monitoring management’s policies and
procedures plays a significant strategic role in assessing the efficacy of cyber risk and data privacy risk initiatives
and policies, The Audit Committee receives regular briefings regarding the Group’s technology strategy and plans
in order to gain an understanding of key systems, data privacy activities, risk and controls, including those
associated with cyber security and data management and uses these briefings to assess the effectiveness of risk
management and internal controls in this area. In addition, with regard to lega! and compliance risks, the Audit
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Committee receives regular reports on the compliance programme and whistleblowing and internal compliance
investigations and is satisfied that compliance matters are handled appropriately. The Audit Committee also
receives sufficient robust management information and metrics to be confident that the information the Group
puhlishes relating to transparency in its supply chains and the risk of modern slavery or other human rights,
environment, health and safety or governance and business ethics concerns are subject to an appropriate level of
due diligence.

The Audit Committee reviews and approves internal audit’s role and mandate and approves the annual internal
audit plan (Plan). The Audit Committee ensures the Plan is aligned to the principal risks of the business and the
internal audit function evaluates the effectiveness of the risk, compliance and finance functions as part of its Plan.
The Plan is sufficiently flexible and dynamic to help identify, react to and address new, emerging risks as part of the
Group’s risk management practices and meets the needs of the Audit Committee and the Group promptly. The
Audit Committee monitors and reviews the effectiveness of internal audit activities in the overall context of the
Group’s risk management systermn and receives summaries on the results of the internal auditor’s work, The
summaries provide a clear understanding of the work performed, the results from this work, recommendations
and any mitigating action plans. The Audit Committee considers the actions management has taken to implement
the recommendations of internal audit and whether these properly support the effective working of the internal
audit function.

As part of Chanel’s continued commitment for further strengthening and delivering on Its risk management
objectives, the Responsible Sourcing Expert Team (ReSET) moved under the direction of the internal audit function
in December 2021. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the Group's supplier
excelience programme (SEP} mandate and ensuring the SEP is aligned to the compliance and environment, social
and governance risks of the business and must be sufficiently flexible and dynamic to meet the emerging needs of
the Group and the Audit Committee promptly. The Audit Committee receives summaries of the results of the SEP,
recommendations and any mitigating actions taken by the Group to ensure they properly support the effective
operation of the programme.

As a priority for 2022 and beyond, a key focus will be placed on integrated risk management. As the external and
internal risk landscape continues to evolve very quickly, it is essential that the Company defines, implements and
embeds an even more robust, independent and better synchronised integrated risk management framework
under the mandate of the Audit Committee and Global Leadership Team. This will allow the Company to identify
risks at the strategic level which could have a major effect on the Group, minimise the impact of these risks, create
opportunities for competitive advantage, improve operational efficiencies and build a risk-aware culture across the
business to manage future risks smartly. The results of these activities for identifying, assessing, managing and
monitoring key risks will be communicated and aligned with the Global Leadership Team to ensure a deep
understanding of the Company’s risk appetite, risk profile and risk tolerance, with the Audit Committee continuing
responsibility for ensuring the appropriate mechanisms are implemented for executing a prioritisation of key risks
in developing, operating and monitaring the system of internal controls.

The risk management and internal control system can only provide reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that
the Group’s overall risks and objectives are properly managed.

PRINCIPLE § - REMUNERATION

In 2021, the Board formally constituted a Remuneration Committee, comprising non-executive directors as voting
members, with the CEQ and the Company’s Giobal Chief People & Organisation Officer as attendees. The
Remuneration Committee has the overall responsibility for the Group’s global salary and bonus budget, designing
remuneration policies and practices to support the Group’s strategy and promoting long-term sustainable success
and overseeing reviews of market position and gender pay equity analysis.
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The Group’s Compensation Committee, a management-level committee, has an established annual compensation
planning and review process in which it reviews market conditions globally, company performance and
competitive benchmark data {best practices and market compensation data) comparing to well-defined peer
groups, in order to set fair and equitable performance-based compensation parameters. Based on this process,
the Compensation Committee makes recommendations to the Remuneration Committee with respect to the
glebal salary and bonus pool and remuneration and incentives of the Global Leadership Team, their direct reports
and any executive directors and the Remuneration Committee, in turn, decides such matters.

The Group's Compensation policy and philosophy are articulated annually as part of the compensation planning
process. The Remuneration Committee establishes guidelines setting the remuneration each year based on the
recommendations of the Compensation Committee. Compensation practices comply with all statutory regulations.
Transparency of this work and communication of this process is regular and ongoing to the top management and
the broader employee population.

PRINCIPLE 6 - STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS AND ENGAGEMENT

Effective governance is a critical rote of the Board and is essential in achieving the Group's business strategy and
aligning with its purpose. As part of promoting the success of the Group, the Board is committed to engaging its
stakeholders in a way that is aligned with Chanel’s standards and principles. This engagement allows us to learn
from our stakeholders so the Group can achieve its objectives in a positive and forward-logking way.

As a Group, we set ambitious goals and aim to honour our commitments by being a reliable business partner and
conducting business in compliance with applicable laws, regulations and ethics in all the markets where we
operate.

Details of the Group’s engagement with key stakeholders are set out in the Section 172(1) statement on pages 28
and 29 in the strategic report.
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The directors present their annual report, together with the financial statements and independent auditor’s
report for the year ended 31 December 2021.

DIVIDENDS AND RESULTS
The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated income statement. The dividends paid by the Company
are disclosed in Note 23.

GOING CONCERN

The directors have considered whether the Group has adequate resources to continue operationally for at least
twelve months from the date of signing these accounts, up to 30 June 2023. In their assessment, the directors have
considered the business activities and the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group. They have also considered
the financiai position of the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position, borrowing facilities and related financial
covenants.

Management have prepared a detailed analysis of various scenarios and stress tested those scenarios, accordingly.
Based on the analyses done to assess the impact of the different possible scenarios, the Board concluded that
there are no material uncertainties and the Group will continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
2021 financial statements. Further details on the analyses performed are disclesed in Note 2.4.

EMFLOYEE CONSULTATION

The core values of the Group are grounded in creating the conditions for employees to perform at their best and
feel fulfilied and confident in their work, irrespective of any individual or protected characteristics. The Group
strives to empower its people to realise their full potential and achieve their ambitions through a culture of
development focused on increasing their capacity to learn, grow and innovate, The Group maintains a close
relationship with its emplayees by regularly informing them of relevant events and the state of the business
through discussions, meetings, town halls, notices and consultations.

DISABLED EMPLOYEES

We are committed as a Group to maintaining and regularly reviewing policies and practices which promote fair
treatment and support for employees and applicants who have disabilities, or develop a disability during
employment, with regard to areas including recruitment, working environment, training, career development and
promotion.

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS
The Group did not make any political donations during the year (2020: $nil).

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
The Group’s research and development costs are disclosed in the strategic report.

STREAMLINED ENERGY AND CARBON REPORT
The Group’s streamlined energy and carbon reporting requirements are disclosed in the strategic report on pages
12 through 14.
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Group’s subsequent events are disclosed in Note 30.

DIRECTORS

On 14 December 2021, Chanel announced that Mr. Alain Wertheimer would move to the role of Global Executive
Chairman and Ms. Leena Nair would assume the role of Global Chief Executive Officer based in London, UK. Both
Mr. Alain Wertheimer and Ms. Leena Nair were dppointed 1o the Board as Directors in January 2022, where they
will further ensure long-term success as a private company, helieving in the freedom of creation, cultivating human
potential and acting to have a positive impact in the world.

Ms. Leena Nair is a highly respected visionary leader whose ability to champion a long-term, purpose-driven
agenda is matched with a consistently strong record of business outcomes.

The directors who held office throughout the year and until the date of authorisation of these financial statements
are as follows:

Directors

P. Abecassis

P.B. Blondiaux

R. Collasse

J. Galantic

B. Gros

Lady S. Heywood (resigned 26 May 2021}
Baroness M. Lane Fox

AR. Mahon (appointed 26 May 2021)

L. Nair (appointed 27 January 2022)

0. Nicolay

B. Pavlovsky

V. Shaw

A. Wertheimer - Executive Chairman (appointed 26 lanuary 2022)

Company secretary: M. Nitsch

DIRECTORS' INSURANCE AND INDEMNITIES

The Group maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance which gives cover for legal actions brought against
its directors and officers. In accordance with section 236 of the Companies Act 2006, qualifying third party
indemnity provisions are in place for the directors in respect of liabilities incurred as a result of their office, to the
extent permitted by law. Both the insurance and indemnities applied throughout the financial year ended

31 December 2021 and through to the date of this report.

AUDITOR
In the case of each of the persons who are directors of the Company at the date when this report was approved:
« so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit informaticn of which the Group's auditor is
unaware; and
* the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make
himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's auditor is
aware of that information.
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This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the
Companies Act 2006.

External audit tender
As set out in the 2020 Annual Report, fallowing a competitive tender, Ernst & Young was appointed as the Group's
auditor and commenced their first year audit for the year ending 31 December 2021.

Approved by theBeard and signed b its behalf by
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The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Comparny law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year, Under that law, the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with UK adopted International
Accounting Standards {“IFRSs”).

Under company law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unfess they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group
for that period. In preparing these financial statements, international Accounting Standard 1 requires that
directors:

s properly select and apply accounting policies;

e present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparahble and understandable information;

= provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in iFRS are
insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and
conditions on the Group’s and the Company's financial position and financial performance; and

*  make an assessment of the Group’s and the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

We confirm to the best of our knowledge:

e the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework,
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Group
and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole;

* the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole,
together with 2 description of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and

* the annual report and financial statements, taken as @ whole, are fair, balanced and
understandable and provide the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and

the Company's performance, business model and strategy,

Approved by i Bgasd and signed on its behalf by
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Chanel Limited (‘the Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘Group’) for the year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Consofidated statement of income, the
Consalidated statement of comprehensive income, the Consclidated and Company statement of financial position,
the Consolidated and Company statement of changes in shareholder’s equity and the Consclidated and Company
statement of cash flows and the related notes 1 to 30 and Ato U, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and UK
adopted International Accounting Standards and as regards the Parent Company financial statements, as applied in
accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

In our opinion:

. the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 31
December 2021 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

. the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted International
Accounting Standards;

. the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted
International Accounting Standards as applied in accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006; and

. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accoerdance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) {ISAs {UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, inciuding the FRC's Ethical
Standard as applied to other entities of public interest, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accardance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

in auditing the financial statements, we have concfuded that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’
assessment of the Group and Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
included:
* In conjunction with our walkthrough of the Group's financial close process, we confirmed our
understanding of management’s going concern assessment process.

¢ We considered the appropriateness of the methods used to calculate the cash forecasts and tested the
integrity and clerical accuracy of the model used to prepare the Group's going concern assessment which
covers the period to 30 June 2023;

e  We confirmed the net cash position as at 31 December 2021 and obtained evidence of the revolving credit
facility which is available through to May 2026. The facility is undrawn as at 19 May 2022;

e We verified the debt maturities by examination of executed documentation and concluded that all debt
repayments due in the period of going concern assessment were included in the forecasts;
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*  We assessed the reasonableness of management’s cashflow forecast by analysing the historical accuracy
of forecasts;

s We considered the plausibility of the downside scenarios modelled by management by challenging the
key underlying assumptions and assessed the amount of resulting headroom in terms of liquidity and
covenants by performing sensitivity analysis on management’s forecasts and mitigation actions available.

s We reviewed the going concern disclosures included in the Directors’ report and Note 2.4 to the financial
statements to assess that the disclosures were appropriate and in conformity with the reporting
standards.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group and Parent Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern for the period to 30 June 2023.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this
statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information contained
within the Annual Report.

Qur apinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

. the information given in the Strategic report and the Directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

. the Strategic report and Directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic report or
Directors’ report.
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We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006

requires us to report to you if, in our gpinion:

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

« the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

» certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 40, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high leve! of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with I1SAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in
fine with our responsibilities, outiined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.
However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with
governance of the entity and management.

Our approach was as follows:

*  We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and
determined that the most significant frameworks which are directly relevant to specific assertions in the
financial statements are those that relate to the reporting frameworks {UK adopted International Accounting
Standards and the Companies Act 2006} and the relevant tax laws and regulations in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates,

¢  We understood how the Group is complying with those frameworks by making enquiries of the management,
Internal Audit and those responsible for legal and compliance procedures. We corroborated our enquiries
through our inspection of the board minutes, attendance at the Audit Committee meetings, as well as
consideration of the results of our audit procedures across the Group.
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*  We assessed the susceptibility of the Group’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how
fraud might occur by meeting management from various parts of the business to understand where it
considered there was susceptibility to fraud. We also considered performance incentives and their influence
on effort made by management to rmanage earnings. We considered the programmes and controls that the
Group has established to prevent, deter and detect fraud, and how senior management monitors those areas,
which have been considered to be at higher risk and we performed audit procedures to address this fraud risk.
These procedures included testing manual journal entries, in particular on revenues, and were designed to
provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were free from fraud or error,

¢ Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with such faws and
regulations. Our procedures involved enquiries of Group management, those charged with governance, legal
counsel and Internal Audit, review of the Audit Committee and Board minutes as well as journal entries
testing, with a focus on manual consolidation journal entries and journal entries indicating significant or
unusual transactions based on the understanding of the business. Through our testing we challenged the
assumptions and judgements made by management in respect of significant accounting estimates. At a
component level, our full and specific scope audit teams’ procedures included enquiries of component
management and journal entries testing with a focus on manual revenue journal entries.

* In addition, we completed procedures to conclude on the compliance of the disclosures in the Annual Report
and financial statements with all applicable reguirements.

A further description of our responsibitities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at https://www frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report,

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

AR

éfr\:oAY ol \O\J“a

Sarah Kokot {Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom

19 May 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
{in millions of U.5. dollars)

Revenue

Cost of sales
Gross profit
Distribution

Advertising, promotion and demonstration
Selling, general and administrative

Operating profit

Finance costs, het
Equity (ioss} income on investments, net

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit before non-controlling interest

Non-controliing interests

Profit for the year

! See Note 2.2 for details on the prior period restatement.
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Notes

12

13

2020

2021 {restated)®
15,639.0 10,108.4
{2,965.5) {2,359.5)
12,673.5 7,748.9
(205.5) (175.2)
(1,795.0) {1,359.6)
{5,212.3) {4,156.3)
5,460.7 2,017.8
{37.5) (153.2)
{3.3) 31.3
5,419.9 1,895.9
(1,394.3) (530.3)
4,025.6 1,365.6
(3.2) {0.9)
4,022.4 1,364.7




CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
{in miilions of U.S. dollars)

2020
2021 {restated)’
Profit before non-controlling interest 4,025.6 1,365.6

Other comprehensive income {loss}

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to statement of income:
Actuarial gain {loss) on defined benefit pension plans, net 158.6 (32.6)

of tax {expense) benefit of ${52.6) million {2020: $8.6 million)

Net gain (loss) on equity instruments designated at fair value

through other comprehensive income, net of tax (expense) benefit 1.8 17.7
of $nil (2020: $(5.8) million}

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to statement of income:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations, net of taxes of Snil {351.8) 411.3

Other comprehensive {loss) income for the year, net of tax {191.4) 396.4

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,834.2 1,762.0

Attributable to:

Shareholder of the Group 3,834.2 1,758.8

Non-controlling interest - 3.2
3,834.2 1,762.0

! See Note 2.2 for details on the prior period restatement.
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Notes
2020 2019
ASSETS 2021 {restated) * {restated) *
Non-current assets:
Intangible assets 8 500.0 537.0 474.0
Property, plant and equipment 9 48114 4,643.0 3,788.1
Investment property 10 136.7 144 9 1320
Right-of-use assets 11 1,691.1 1,572.1 1,689.8
Investments in associates and joint ventures 12 3145 275.3 2138
Deferred income tax assets 13 618.0 671.9 561.8
Other assets 14 476.6 437.3 428.1
Total nan-current assets 8548.3 8,281.5 7,287.6
Current assets:
tnventories 15 1,541.1 1,605.0 1,456.8
Trade receivables and other assets 14 1,676.0 1,502.3 1,755.3
Income taxes receivable 13 49.4 256 60.1
Cash and cash equivalents 16 3,674.2 4,649.8 2,850.8
Assets classified as held for sale 17 60.8 66.4 57.4
Total current assets 7,001.5 7,849.1 6,180.4
TOTAL ASSETS 15,549.8 16,130.6 13,468.0
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY AND LIABILUITIES
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY
Share capital 24 - - -
Reserves {47.0) 314.2 (75.4)
Retained earnings 65,1129 69185 5,560.3
Non-controlling interest 313 23.¢ 17.7
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY 6,097.2 7,260.7 5,502.6
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities:
Borrowings 1B 2,956.7 3,144.7 2,114.6
Lease fabilities i1 1,536.8 14254 1,510.1
Retirement benefit obligations 15 3101 430.0 3407
Provisions 20 136.8 128.1 1154
Deferred income tax kabilities 13 138.1 127.6 92.4
Qther liabilities 21 347 .6 275.6 294.4
Total non-current liabilities 5,426.1 5,531.4 44716
Current liabilities:
Trade payables and other liabilities 21 2,743.5 2,487.2 2,646.8
Income tax liabilities 13 589.4 2624 302.6
Barrowings 18 157.2 804 89.8
Lease liabilities 11 317.2 3121 3069
Provisions 20 219.2 196.4 147.7
Total current liabilities 4,0265 33385 3,493 .8
TOTAL LIABILITIES 9.452.6 8,869.9 7,965.4
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 15,549.8 16,1306 13,468.0
.- h

' see & 2.2 for details on the prgf penocd restatement.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
{In millions of U.5. dollars)

2020
Notes 2021 {restated)*
CASH FLOWS FROM CPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating profit 4 5,460.7 2,017.8
Adjustments to reconcile operating profit to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortisation of PP&E, investment property and intangibles 431.8 41B.8
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 361.2 350.0
Net impairment of property, plant, and equipment, intangibles, and right-of-use assets 45.2 63.1
Loss on disposal of property, plant, and equipment and intangibles 21 5.0
Non-cash tax credits (2.6} (1.8}
Settlement of derivatives (1.1} {17.4}
Defined benefit pension plan contribution net of costs 55.8 40.6
Other 1.4 (43.5)
Cash flows from operations before changes in working capital 5,354.5 2,832.6
Changes in working capital 25 424.9 49.8
Cash flows from operations 6,779.4 2,882.4
Interest received 23.3 36.2
Interest paid on financial borrowings {90.0) (98.3)
Interest paid on lease liabilities {57.4) {62.3)
Income taxes paid {1,099.7) {601.2)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY QPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,555.6 2,156.8
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTENG ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment (663.1) {993.3)
Initial direct costs related to right-of-use-assets {17.3) -
Proceeds on sale of property, plant, and equipment 5.9 35
Refundable VAT on purchase of property, plant, and equipment 78.3 (78.3)
Proceeds on partial sale of investment in subsidiary 33.0 -
Purchase of intangibles (772.8) (83.9)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired 27 (65.0) (25.8)
Purchase of associates {61.0) {16.1)
Purchase of financial assets {28.6) {7.3)
Purchase of non-controlling interests - (8.6)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets 1.4 111.2
Other 4.2 6.1
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES {790.0) {1,092.5}
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from bank borrowings 518 1,443.8
Issuance of sustainability-linked guaranteed notes - 684.9
Repayment of borrowings (417.7) {1,276.7)
Repayment of lease liabilities (341.7) {325.4)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 23 (0.7} 0.7
Dividends paid to parent 23 {4,986.6) -
NET CASH [USED IN) PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES (5,694.9) 525.9
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND TRANSLATION ADIUSTMENTS {46.3) 208.8
NET {DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (975.6) 1,799.0
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, Beginning of year 4,649.8 2,850.8
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, End of year 16 3,674.2 4,649.8

! See Note 2.2 for detalls on the prior period restatement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Chanel Limited is a private company limited by shares, incorporated and registered in England and Wales under
the Companies Act 2006. The address of the registered office is 5 Barlow Place, London, W1) 6DG. The nature of
the operations and principal activities of Chanel Limited and its subsidiaries are set out in the strategic report on
pages 3 through 29.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international
accounting standards. IFRS also includes International Accounting Standards (“IAS”) and interpretations issued by
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), including those previously issued by
the Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”). These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis (as set out in the directors’ report) and on a historical cost basis, except for the financial
assets and liabilities {including derivative instruments) measured at fair value.

The results of foreign subsidiaries are translated into millions of U.S. dollars, which is the Group’s presentation
currency, in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.7. The Group has elected to present their consolidated
financial statements in U.S. dollars, since it is the common currency used in the organisation to evaluate the
business worldwide. The Company only financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is the Company’s
functional currency.

2.2 Accounting framework
Change in accounting policy ~ Software as a Service (“Saa$”) arrangements

The Group has changed its accounting policy related to the capitalisation of certain software costs. This change
follows the IFRIC Interpretation Committee’s agenda decision published in April 2021 and relates to the
capitalisation of costs of configuring or customising application software under Software as a Service (“SaaS”)
arrangements, with a focus on control of the software in order to determine the appropriate accounting
treatment.

The Group's accounting policy has historically been to capitalise costs directly attributable to the configuration
and customisation of Saa$ arrangements as intangible assets in the statement of financial position, irrespective of
whether the services were performed by the SaaS supplier or a third party. Following the adoption of the above
IFRIC agenda guidance, current 5aa$ arrangements were identified and assessed to determine if the Group has
control of the software. For those arrangements where we do not have control of the developed software, to the
extent that the services were performed by third parties, the Group derecognised the intangible asset previously
capitalised. Amounts paid to the supplier in advance of the commencement of the service period, including costs
related to the configuration or customisation of the software, are treated as a prepayment.

This change in accounting policy resulted in a decrease in intangible assets of $64.8 million and $32.5 million in
the conselidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, respectively, in
addition to a decrease in property, plant and equipment of $2.7 million as of 31 December 2020. The change in
policy resulted in an increase of $31.8 million and $29.0 million in selling, general and administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of income, in those respective years.

The prior period consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2018 has
been restated in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates {“IAS 87) and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

presented in accordance with 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. The tables below show the impact of
the change in accounting policy on previously reported financial results.

Impact on the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2020
{as previously Impact of 2020

reported) restatement (restated)

$ millions $ millions S millions
Property, plant and equipment 4,645.7 (2.7) 4,643.0
intangible assets 601.8 (64.8) 537.0
Other non-current assets 431.2 6.1 437.3
Other current assets 1,501.3 1.0 1,502.3
Deferred income tax assets 655.4 16.5 671.9
Total assets 7,835.4 {43.9) 7,791.5
Retained earnings §,962.4 {43.9) 6,918.5
Total shareholder's equity 5,962.4 {43.9) 65,918.5

Impact on the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Income and Statement of Comprehensive Income

2020
(as previously Impact of 2020
reported) restatement {restated)
$ millions $ millions $ millions
Operating profit 2,049.1 {31.3} 2,017.8
Profit before tax 1,927.2 {31.3) 1,895.9
Profit for the year 1,386.9 (22.2) 1,364.7
Shareholders of the Group 1,7810 {22.2} 1,758.8
Non-controlling interest 3.2 - 3.2
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,784.2 {22.2) 1,762.0
Impact on the Group’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
2020
{as previously Impact of 2020
reported) restatement {restated)
$ millions S milions $ millions
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,199.4 (42,6} 2,156.8
Net cash used in investing activities {1,135.1) 42.6 {1,092.5)
Net cash provided by financing activities 525.9 - 525.9
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,799.0 1,799.0

There is no impact on the overall increase to cash and cash equivalents as a result of the restatement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

New Standards, Amendments and interpretations affecting amounts, presentation or disclosure reported in the
current year

The following applicable amendment has been adopted in the current year. The application of other standards,
amendments and interpretations that took effect on 1 January 2021 did not have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16}

In March 2021, the [ASB amended the conditions of the practical expedient in IFRS 16 that provides relief to
lessees from applying the IFRS 16 guidance on lease modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a
Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. Following the amendment, the practical
expedient now applies to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying the practical expedient are
met.

New Standards, Amendments and Interpretations in issue but not yet effective
At 31 December 2021, the following Standards, Amendments and Interpretations were in issue but not yet
effective:

»  Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

* Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting Policies

*  Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates

*  Amendments to IAS 12: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

s  Amendments to IAS 37: Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract

s Amendments to IAS 16: Proceeds Before Intended Use

s Amendments to IFRS 3: Reference to the Conceptual Framework

e Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

¢ Annual Improvements: 2018-2020 cycle

¢ IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts

The application of these standards, amendments and interpretations are not expected to have a significant
impact on the reported profit or net assets of the Group in future periods.

impact of climate change

Chanel continues on its journey to invest in and advance its sustainable business transformation across the
organisation. The Group’s climate strategy, supported by the publication of CHANEL Mission 1.5 in 2020,
demonstrates the Group’s commitment to decarbonise the business and its value chain.

At this juncture, the Group deems the impact of climate change to not be material to the financial statements.
However, as we progress with these initiatives, there is exposure to changes in manufacturing and distribution
costs as well as the carrying amount of certain assets that will be routinely assessed.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Group together with the Group’s
share of the results and retained post-acquisition reserves of associates.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries included in the consclidation are all entities over which the Group exercises control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The concept of control generally implies
owning more than half of the voting rights of an entity, although that is not a requirement to demonstrate power
over an entity. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are exercisable or convertible are taken
into account in the assessment of control.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting
policies used in line with those of the Group.

Al intercompany transactions, balances, income, and expenses are eliminated in full upon consolidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i} the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are recycled to the consolidated income statement and accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the assets or liabilities of the subsidiary.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

Associates are all entities in which the Group exercises a significant influence over the entity’s management and
financial policy without exercising control. Significant influence generally implies holding 20% to 50% of the
voting rights. Significant influence may still exist in the absence of at least 20% of the voting rights if it can be
clearly demonstrated, Joint ventures represent arrangements where the Group has joint control of an entity with
a third party.

Associates and joint ventures are recognised using the equity method and initfally measured at cost.
Subsequently, the share in profits or losses of the associate or joint venture attributable to equity holders of the
parent is recognised in profit or loss and the change in equity attributable to equity holders of the parent is
recognised in equity. For certain investments related to the Group’s sustainability initiatives, the Group also
recognised gains or losses utilising the Hypothetical Liquidation at Book Value method ("HLBV”). The HLBV madel
estimates the amount the Group would be entitled to receive if the investrnent’s assets were hypothetically sold
at their book values. If the Group’s share in the losses of an associate or joint venture equals or exceeds its
investment in the associate or joint venture, the Group no longer recognises its share of losses, unless it has legal
or constructive obligations to make payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates (and joint ventures, if applicable) are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. The accounting policies and
methods of associates are modified where necessary to ensure consistency of accounting treatment at the
consolidated tevel.

2.4 Going concern

The directors are satisfied that the Group has sufficient resources to continue in operation for a period of at least
12 menths from the date of approval of these financial statements, up to 30 June 2023. Accordingly, the financial
statements continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.

In their assessment, the directors have considered: the financial and cash position of the Group; the forecast cash
requirements and cash generation of the Group; and forecast compliance with loan covenants.

The Group’s approach to minimising liguidity risk is described further in Note 22 and involves structuring its
borrowings with long-term maturities, as well as maintaining sufficient levels of standby liquidity through
revolving credit facilities. Further details of the Group’s borrowings can be found in Note 18. The Group continues
to maintain its policy of zero net debt at each reporting period, with net cash of $560.3 million reported as at

31 December 2021. The Greup has access to $1 billion of undrawn revolving credit facilities that are forecast to
remain undrawn for the foreseeable future, as a result of the liquidity avaitable to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Various downside scenarios, assuming a reduction in revenue between 25% and 50% compared to the forecast,
have been tested to assess the level of headroom, both in terms of available liquidity and compliance with
financial covenants. The mitigating actions available to the Group have also been considered, including the
reduction of non-essential operating and capital expenditures and the reduction of planned dividends to the
Group’s parent company. The likelihood of these scenarios occurring is remote and the sensitivity analysis
performed has shown sufficient headroom in terms of available liquidity to the Group and potential breach of
covenants.

Following their analyses, the Directors considered it appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements with ng material uncertainties to disclose.

2.5 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. At the
acquisition date, the Group recognises, separately from goodwill, the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed, and any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value. This fair value is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the acquirer, the liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquired
entity and the equity interests issued by the acquirer. The cost of an acquisition is the total fair value of the
consideration given. All direct incremental costs incurred in connection with the acquisition are excluded from
the cost of the acquisition and are expensed as incurred. Goodwill is measured at the acquisition date as the
excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred and the amount of any non-controlling
interest recognised, over the assets and liabilities recognised.

The Group considers the optional concentration test, which permits a simplified assessment of whether an
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business, which can be applied on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
The concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. If the test is met, the set of activities and assets is
determined not to be a business and no further assessment is needed,

2.6 Use of estimates

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are described elsewhere in Note 2, the directors are
required to make judgements (other than those invelving estimations) that may have a significant impact on the
amounts recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the directors to exercise their
judgement, apart from those involving estimations {which are dealt with separately below}, in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. These judgements do not have a significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements.

Key source of estimation uncertainty
The Group deems the key sources of estimation uncertainty that could cause a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year as follows:

= Inventory provisions — The Group manufactures and sells luxury goods and is subject to changing consumer
demands and industry trends. As a result, it is necessary to consider the recoverability of the cost of
inventories and the associated provisioning required. When calculating inventory provisions, management
considers each category of inventory, if the products concerned are damaged or obsolete due to seasonality
or end of life of the collection. An impairment is booked to reduce inventories to net realisabie value if this is
lower than the carrying value. Refer to Note 15 for further details of the carrying value of inventory.
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* Uncertain tax positions — The calculation of the Group’s tax liabilities involves uncertainties in the
application of complex tax laws. Qur estimate for the potential outcome of any uncertain tax position is
judgmental but considers whether it is probable that the tax treatment would be accepted by the relevant
tax authority that has fuli knowledge of all the pertinent information that supports the tax position.
Settlement of these uncertainties in a manner inconsistent with our expectations could have a material
impact on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows. The Group recognises a liability for
uncertain tax positions when it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will occur. Measurement
of the liability for uncertain tax positions is based on management's best estimate of the amount of tax
expense that will be realised upon settlement, in accordance with the criteria of IFRIC 23. We have not
performed a sensitivity analysis on uncertain tax positions as it is not practical to do so. Refer to Note 13 for
further details.

» Defined benefit plans - The cost of the defined benefit pension plan and other post-employment medical
benefits and the present value of the pension abligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An
actuaria! valuation involves making various assumptions that may differ from actual developments in the
future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and
future pension increases. Due to the complexities involved in the valuation and its long-term nature, a
defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed
at each reporting date. Refer to Note 19 for further details on pension obligations.

* Impairment of goodwill - Goodwill arising from the acquisition of a business is the only intangible asset with
an indefinite useful life and is tested for impairment annually. For the purposes of impairment testing, the
recoverable amount of goodwill is primarily determined based on the value-in-use of the cash generating
unit (“CGU") to which the goodwill is allocated. In certain instances, the recoverable amount is determined
though a third-party valuation using appropriate valuation techniques relevant to that CGU. Where value-in-
use is used, it is based on projected estimated future cash flows, prepared based on budgets and medium-
term plans. Key assumptions used to determine value-in-use represent management’s assessment of future
trends and were based on a discounted cash flow approach. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the
discount rate used for the discounted cash flow ("DCF”) model as well as the expected future cash inflows
and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. The key assumptions used to determine the
recoverable amount, including a sensitivity analysis, are disclosed and further explained in Note 8.

* Impairment of property — Properties are assessed for impairment by determining the recoverable amount of
an asset or a CGU based on the value-in-use calculations using projected estimate future cash flows applying
key assumptions. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as
the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. For certain
properties, third-party valuations are used to support the fair value of the asset in determining the
recoverable amount. Refer to Note 9 for further details.

2.7 Foreign currency translation and transactions

The results and financial statements of consalidated entities with a functional currency that differs fram the
presentation currency are translated inte U.S. dollars as follows:
» statement of financial position items, other than equity, are translated at the year-end exchange rate;
* equity is translated at historical exchange rates;

¢ statement of income and statement of cash flow items are translated at the average rate for the year;
and

+ differences are recognised in other comprehensive income {"OCI”] under foreign currency transiation
reserve.

Changes in the carrying amount relating to translation are recognised in other comprehensive income. Gains or
losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in profit or loss.
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Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the rate on the date of closing of the acquisition.,

At the individual entity level, foreign currency transactions are translated into the entity’s functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in currencies other than functional currencies at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the consolidated
statement of income.

2.8 Revenue recognition

Sale of goods

Revenue mainly comprises direct sales to end-customers and the sale of goods to authorised third parties for
resale. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product to a customer, excluding taxes, net
of discounts and after elimination of intercompany sales.

Direct sales to end-customers are mainly made through retail stores for fashion goods, certain fragrance and
beauty products, and certain watches and fine jewellery items. These sales are recognised at the time of
purchase by the retail end-customers. Sales made in stores owned by third parties are treated as retail
transactions if control of the inventories is retained by the Group.

Wholesale sales to third parties are recognised when control of the products has transferred to the third-party
customer/authorised retail partner. In the Americas region, revenue is generally recognised upon shipment to
such customer, whereas in the Europe and Asia Pacific regions, revenue is generally recognised upon the
customer’s receipt of goods.

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration {or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before
the Group transfers goods or services to such customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is
made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). The contract liability for customer deposits is reported in trade
payables and other liabilities (Note 21). Revenue from customer deposits is recognised when the Group performs
under the contract,

Product returns and other variable consideration

For direct sales to customers, when the customer has a right to return the product within a given period, the
Group is obliged to refund the purchase price. Following the sale of goods to its customers, and depending on
any contractual clauses attached to these sales, the Group may accept the return of unsold or outdated products.

A refund liability for the expected refunds to customers is recognised as an adjustment to revenue and included
in provisions. At the same time, the Group has a right to recover the goods from the customer where the
customer exercises their right of return, and therefare recognises an asset, which is included in trade receivables
and other current assets with a corresponding adjustment to cost of sales. The asset is reported net of potential
decreases in the value of the returned product. Accumulated experience is used to estimate such returns at the
time of sale at a portfolio level (expected value method). Because the number of products returned has been
steady for a number of years, it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur. The validity of this assumption and the estimated amount of returns are reassessed at each
reporting date.

The Group considers other forms of variable consideration in measuring revenue, such as volume rebates,
incentives and performance bonuses, based on estimates of the variable consideration using the most likely
amount method and includes the liability in trade payables and other liabilities.

The Group also enters into certain cooperative arrangements with custormers and makes paymenits related to
advertising, demonstration and promotion, for which the Group does not receive a distinct good or service or for
which the fair value of the good or service cannot be reasonably estimated. For these types of arrangements, the
reduction of revenue is recorded at the later of when {i}) the Group recognises revenue for the transfer of the
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related goods or services to the customer, or (i) the Group pays or promises to pay the consideration. To the
extent the Group receives a distinct good or service in exchange for consideration and the fair value of the
benefit can be reasonably estimated, the Group’s consideration payable to the customer is reported in
advertising, promotion and demonstration expense.

Licensing income
Licensing income is recognised over time in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreements and
presented in revenue in the consolidated statement of income.

2.9 Income tax

The Group computes taxes in accordance with prevailing tax legislation in the locations where income is taxable.
Taxes on income are provided in the same period as the revenue and expenses to which they relate. The income
tax charge for the period comprises both the current and deferred tax charge (Note 13].

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. No deferred
taxes are recognised for temporary differences arising from goodwill for which impairment losses are not
deductible for tax purposes or from the initial recognition of an asset or liabifity in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting, nor taxable profit or loss.
The measurement of deferred tax amounts depends on the way in which the Group intends to recover or settle
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted,
or substantially enacted, by the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are not discounted and are classified in the consolidated statement of
financial position under non-current assets and liabilities.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the tempeorary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax losses, and of unused tax
credits, can be utilised. The Group reviews its deferred tax balances at each statement of financial position date
to take into account factors such as the impact of changes in tax laws and the prospects of recovering deferred
tax assets from deductible temporary differences and from the carry-forward of unused tax losses and of unused
tax credits.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures,
and associates, except where the Group controls the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Net balances of deferred tax are calculated based on the tax position of each subsidiary or on the total positions
of subsidiaries included within the same consolidated tax group, and are presented in assets or liabilities for the
net amount per tax entity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right of offset and the intention is
to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.10 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. The various
components of property, plant and equipment are recognised separately based on their estimated useful lives
and, therefore, their depreciation perieds are significantly different. The cost of an asset includes the expenses

that are directly attributable to its acquisition.

Vineyards include the vines associated with the Group’s wine businesses. Vines are considered bearer plants and
are included within the scope of 1AS 16, Property, Plant & Equipment [*|AS 16”). The Group accounts for vines at
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their historical cost, which is consistent with all other items of property, plant and equipment. The harvested
grapes from the vines are included in inventory, as described in Note 2.15.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis, commencing when the asset is available for
use, over the shorter of the expected useful life of the asset or its lease term, if applicable:

#» Land improvements up to 50 years
*  Buildings up to 50 years
* Machinery, furniture, and equipment up to 10 years
¢ | pasehold improvements up to 10 years
s+ Vineyards up to 35 years

Effective 1 January 2021, the expected useful lives of Land improvements and Buildings was revised to be up to
50 years from up to 45 years. The effect of this change on depreciation expense is not significant.

Land and assets under construction are not depreciated.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, annually with the effects of
any change in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts and are included in
the consolidated statement of income. Borrowing costs directly incurred for the construction of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use. Other borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

2.11 Investment property

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Group has elected to measure investment property at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses applying the same accounting policies as for property, plant and equipment
{Note 2.10).

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property is calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is included in the consolidated statement of income in the period in which the property
is derecognised.

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use.

2.12 Leases

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the
fessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less), leases of low value
assets (less than $5,000), and for variable payments which are not dependent on an index or a rate. For the
short-term and low value |eases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. Variable payment leases are recognised based
on actual payments.
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Lease ligbility

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the [ease payments are discounted using the Incremental
Borrowing Rate {“IBR”) as appropriate for each lease based on factors such as the lessee legal entity credit risk
and the lease term.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

* Fixed lease payments;

s Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at
the commencement date;

*  Amounts expected to be payabfe under residual value guarantees;
«  The exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;

»  Payments in an optional renewal period for which the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a renewal
option; and

s Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability {using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability {and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
asset) whenever:

» The lease term has changed or there is 3 change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate;

+ The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using the initial discount rate; or

*  Alease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount
rate.

When the lease liability is remeasured, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset or is recorded in the income statement if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.

Right-af-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments
made at or before the commencement date and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost
tess accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If
a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the
underlying asset. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in the property, plant and equipment policy.
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The Group as lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance or operating lease. If the lease transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset, then the lease is a
finance lease. If not, then the lease is an operating lease.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interest in the head lease and the sub-lease
separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from
the head lease.

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash on hand and dernand deposits as well as other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position {Note 18).

2.14 Provisions

Provisions for asset retirement obligations, litigation, restructuring costs, product return and other product-
related obligations, and other contingencies and losses are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation resulting from past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated (Note 20).

Restructuring provision and costs

A restructuring provision is recognised when a formal and detailed restructuring plan exists and the plan has
begun to be implemented, or its main features have been announced before the statement of financial position
date. Restructuring costs for which a provision is made essentially represent employee costs {severance pay,
early retirement plans, retention bonuses, etc.), and the recognition of onerous components of contractual
obligations with third parties.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable valueis the estimated sales
price in the normal course of business, net of costs to be incurred to complete the sale (Note 15}. Inventories are
valued using the weighted average cost or first-in-first-out (FIFO) basis, depending on the type of business.

Grapes used to produce wine by the Group are considered agricultural produce as defined in IAS 41, Agriculture
{“IAS 41"). The fair value of these assets cannot be measured reliably due to the lack of an active market for such
unique assets and the volatility of wine prices which vary with global demand and the quality of each season’s
crop. Therefare, the Group accounts for these assets at their historical cost. Subsequent to their initial
recognition, the Group accounts for grapes at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Due to the length of the
aging process required for wine, the holding period for these inventories generally exceeds one year. However, in
accordance with industry practices, these inventories are nevertheless classified as current assets,

Write-downs of inventories are primarily recognised based on expected turnover, if inventory items are
damaged, or if they have become wholly or partially obsolete.

2.16 Advertising and promotion expenses
Advertising and promotion expenses include the costs of creating advertising media, purchasing media space,

manufacturing samples, and producing marketing materials, and in general, the cost of all activities designed to
promote the Group's preducts. Advertising and promotion expenses are recognised as expenses are incurred.
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2.17 Goodwill

Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired in a business
combination that are not individually identified and separately recognised (Note 8). Goodwill is not amortised
but it is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses
on the disposal of a subsidiary include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwili is allocated to CGUs for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those CGUs or
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which goodwill arose. The CGUs
represent the Group's smallest identifiable groups of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets.

2.18 Other intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, which are controlled by the Group and can be
measured reliably, and which are separate or arise from contractual or other legal rights, are recognised
separately from goodwill. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over their estimated useful lives. Ifitis
determined that their recoverable amounts are less than their net carrying amount, they are written down to
their recoverable amounts {Note 8).

Capitalised software and related licenses

Costs that are directly associated with developing, purchasing, implementing or improving identifiable software
that is under the Group’s control and have expected benefits beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets
and are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, typically up to seven years.
Licenses are amortised over their contractual lives, if longer than one year. Costs associated with evaluating or
maintaining computer software are expensed as incurred. Website costs are capitalised as intangible assets only
if certain criteria are met, most importantly the ahility of the website to generate probable future economic
benefits. Once the Group determines that an internally generated website meets the necessary criteria, specific
costs related to the website’s development phase are capitalised as other intangible assets. Website costs are
amortised over a maximum usefui life of three years.

Leasehold rights
Leasehold rights represent payments made to a landlord or existing tenant to obtain the rights of tenancy to
occupy a space.

2.19 impairment of assets

Finite-lived intangible assets, property, plant, and equipment, and right-of-use assets are subject to impairment
testing whenever there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, and at least annually in the case of
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Impairment tests seek to determine whether the recoverable
amount of an asset, a CGU or a group of CGUs is Jess than its net carrying amount. For purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows.
When the carrying amount of such assets is greater than the recoverable amount, which is the higher of their
value-in-use or fair value less cost of disposal, the resulting impairment ioss is recognised within the consolidated
statement of income.

Impairment losses recognised other than goodwill may be reversed at a |ater date up to the amount of the losses

initially recognised, when the recoverable amount becomes greater than the net carrying amount. Impairment
losses pertaining to goodwill may not be reversed.
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2.20 Government grants

Government grants are assistance by government in the form of transfers of resources to an entity in return for
past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity. All
government grants are claimed only if their objective is in line with the Group business purpose and in
accordance with its global tax principles. These grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that
the Group will comply with the conditions attached to them and that the grants will be received. Government
grants are recognised in profit or |oss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as
expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

In 2021, the Group received refundable tax credits of $4.6 million (2020: 54.2 million) related to eligible R&D
expenditures. These tax credits are reported as a reduction of research and development expense. Other
government incentives are aimed at providing long-term support for companies setting up business activities in
specific markets. The Group recognised $27.8 million (2020: $13.4 million) related to these grants in operating
profit as a reduction to selling, general and administrative expenses.

2.21 Financial assets

Initial recognition and measuyrement

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under IFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCl, it needs to
give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest {"SPPI”) on the principal amount

outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in three categories:

* Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments};

* Financial assets designated at fair value through OCl with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition (equity instruments); or

« Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets gt amortised cost {debt instruments}

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows and;

« The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or

impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include trade receivables and other financial assets.
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Financial gssets designated at fair value through OCl {equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments
designated at fair value through OCl when they meet the definition of equity under International Accounting
Standard 32 Finencial instruments. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such
gains are recorded in OC!. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCl are not subject to impairment
assessment.

The Group has elected to classify irrevocably its listed and non-listed equity investments as financial assets at fair
value through OCI. These are strategic investments and the group considers this classification to be more
relevant.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets mandatorily required to be measured
at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or ioss, irrespective of the business model. All
derivatives are accounted for at fair value through profit and loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition
A financial asset is primarily derecognised when:

= The rights to receive cash fiows from the asset have expired; or

* The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and either {(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
{b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are

measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses {"ECLs"} for all financial assets not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance
with the contract and alt the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those ¢redit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. The bad debt risk on the Group's
trade receivables is low and, therefare, there is no impact on applying this approach to the consolidated financial
statements. Details of the loss allowance are included in Note 4.

2.22 Assets classified as held for sale

The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amount will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to
terms that arc usual and custuimary for sales of such asset or disposal group and its sale is highly probable. For
the sale to be highly probable, management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify
for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. It is unlikely that significant
changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. Events or circumstances beyond the Group’s
control may extend the period to complete the sale beyond one year. An extension of the period required to
complete the sale does not preclude an asset or disposal group from being classified as held for sale.

The Group measures non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale at the lower of their
carrying amount and fair value less costs to se!l {Note 17).

The Group recognises all impairment losses for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset or disposal
group to fair value less costs to sell.

There is no depreciation or amortisation recognised while an asset or disposal group is classified as held for sale.
The interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of the disposal group classified as held for sale will
continue to be recognised.

2.23 Financial liabilities

With the exception of derivative liabilities, which are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss, the Group
recognises all financial liabilities initiaily at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet date.

2.24 Derivative instruments

The Group uses derivative instruments as part of its overall strategy to manage its exposure to market risks
associated with foreign exchange rates, interest rates and gold price risks. As a matter of policy, the Group does
not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. Changes in the value of derivative financial instruments
are measured at the statement of financial position date and recognised in the consolidated statement of income
in finance costs, net. The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

2.25 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans {(Note 19). With respect to defined
contribution plans, the Group is not obliged to make additional payments beyond contributions already made.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred as part of operating profit in the consolidated statement of
income.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pensien benefit that an employee will receive
post-employment, dependent on ane or more factors such as age, years of service, and compensation. These
plans and the termination benefits are valued by independent actuaries. The valuation takes into account the
level of future compensation, service period, life expectancy, and staff turnover. Actuarial gains and losses are
primarily due to changes in demographic and financial assumptions and the difference between estimated results
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based on actuarial assumptions and actual resuits. All actuarial differences with respect to defined benefit plans
are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Past service costs, which
typically increase a retirement benefit obligation following the introduction of a new plan or change to an
existing plan, are recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of income. Retirement expenses are
recognised in aperating profit in the consolidated statement of income. The interest cast, which represents the
interest accumulated on the unpaid balance of the projected benefit obligation and the interest earned on the
performance of the plan assets are recognised in finance costs, net.

Executive deferred compensation plons

The Group has a non-qualified executive deferred compensation plan (“EDCP”) that provides certain eligible
employees with the opportunity to defer elements of their base compensation and bonuses, Deferred amounts
are further increased or decreased based on the resuits of investment choices selected by the plan participants.
Benefits are payable to the employees or their designated beneficiaries at specified future dates, upon
retirement, or death. The EDCP and its benefits are valued by an independent actuary on an annual basis. The
valuation takes into account such factors as the participants’ investment selections, and years until scheduled
distributions. Compensation amounts deferred by plan participants during the year, as well as changes in
actuarially determined amounts, are recognised in operating profit in the consolidated statement of income. The
liability associated with the Group’s EDCP is recorded in other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Corporate-owned life insurance

The Group has several corporate-owned life insurance ("COLI"} policies that indirectly finance the executive
deferred compensation pians and other defined benefit plans. COU cash values are managed on an aggregate
basis and unlike defined benefit pension plan assets, COLI assets are not specifically identified or accounted for as
being related to any particular benefit liability. The dual construct of COL! results in the payment of premiums
that cover insurance costs on the life of participating employees, but the majority of the funds are directed to the
actual investments embedded in the COU asset structure. The cash surrender value {"CSV"} is a combination of
the market value of the underlying investments, in addition to the traditional cash surrender vaiue of a life
insurance policy. The asset recognised by the Group is equal to the CSV of the policies and the market value of
the money market funds at the balance sheet date. The C5V of the policies and market value of the money
market funds are comprised of deposits {premiums), investment earnings/losses, trust expenses, benefit
payments/withdrawals and death benefit proceeds.

2.26 Finance costs, net
Finance costs, net is comprised of borrowings costs, interest income from cash and cash equivalents, foreign
exchange gains and losses, cost of foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives and fair value adjustments on

financial assets. These activities support the Group’s operations, but they are not part of the Group's core
operating business activities. (Note 5).
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3. REVENUE

Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers. The Group
disaggregates revenue by geographical region as this best depicts how the nature, timing and amount of
revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors.

2021 2020
$ millions S millions
Type of sales
Sales of goods 15,628.2 10,1019
License income 10.8 6.5
15,635.0 10,108.4
Geographical markets
Asia Pacific 8,067.8 5,256.6
Europe 4,041.7 2,885.5
The Americas 3,529.5 1,966.3
15,639.0 10,108.4
4. QPERATING PROFIT
2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
Profit before tax is stated after charging (crediting):
Research and devaiopment expenditure 158.4 138.4
Net impairment on PPE&E, intangibles and other assets 45.2 61.2
Restructuring costs expenditure 320 55.1
Loss on disposal of assets 2.1 5.0
Investment gains on corporate-owned life insurance {18.1) (7.0
Bargain purchase option - (3.8)
Other {4.0) (3.6)
Exceptional items 57.2 106.9

Research and development {“R&D") costs are expensed as incurred, unless the criteria for capitalisation has been
met. The Group did not meet the capitalisation criteria and accordingly did not capitalise any of these costs in
2021 or 2020. The Group did not have any amounts related to prior years capitalised in its consolidated
statement of financial pasition as of 31 December 2021 {2020: $nil}.
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FINANCE COSTS, NET

Finance costs, net consisted of the following companents:

Finance income (Costs):
Foreign exchange gains (losses), net
Derivatives gains, net
Gains (losses) on other financial assets
Gain on asset linked note

interest income {costs):
Interest costs on financial borrowings
Interest costs on lease liabilities
Interest income
Interest income on finance lease receivables

Other finance costs, net

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Fees payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the Group’s
annual financial statements

Fees payable to the Group's auditor and its associates for the audit
of the Group's subsidiaries pursuant to legistation

Fees payabie to the Group’s auditor and its associates for
other services:
Consuiting and other services
Taxation compliance services
Taxation advisory services

INFORMATION REGARDING EMPLOYEES

Average monthly number of persons employed
Sales and distribution
Administration
Production

Staff costs during the year
Wages and salaries
Sacial security costs
Pensians costs
Other personnel costs
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2021 2020
$ millions $ milifons
50.8 (72.4)
2.3 9.3
1.0 {4.0}
- 46.1
94.1 {21.0)
{94.2) {99.0)
{59.4) {64.0)
20.8 315
1.2 1.3
{131.6) {130.2)
- (2.0}
(37.5) (153.2)
2021 2020
$millions $ millions
1.2 1.0
5.6 4.9
6.8 5.9
0.1 7.0
- 0.9
- 0.3
0.1 8.2
2021 2020
No. No.
16,094 16,107
7,009 6,879
4,639 4,379
27,742 27,365
2021 2020
$ millions S millions
18746 1,643.8
386.7 339.8
121.0 134.2
280.0 195.8
2,662.3 23137
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost:
Balance at 1January 2020 (restated) *
Additions
Disposals
Exchange differences
Balances at 31 December 2020 {restated)

Additions

Disposals

Transfer to ROU Assets and PPE
Exchange differences

Balances at 31 December 2021

Accumulated amertisation and impairment:
Balance at 1 January 2020 (restated)
Amortisation expense
Disposals
impairment losses
Exchange differences

Balances at 31 December 2020 {restated) *

Amortisation expense
Disposals

Impairment losses

Exchange differences
Balances at 31 Decernber 2021

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 {restated}*

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021

!See Note 2.2 for details on the prior period restatement.

Capitalised
software Leasehold
and related rights and
licenses Goodwill other Total
Smillions Smillions S$millions $millions
344.7 214.2 140.0 £98.9
71.6 11.3 18.9 101.8
(7.2) - {0.3) {7.5}
28.6 15.0 10.3 53.9
437.7 2405 168.9 847.1
74.1 75.0 3.0 152.1
(31.8) - {0.4) {32.2)
- - (14.1) (14.1)
{27.0) {16.9) {8.3) {52.2)
453.0 298.6 149.1 900.7
182.5 31.3 11.1 224.9
64.8 - 4.0 68.8
(7.2 - - (7.2)
3.4 - 2.0 54
14.7 2.8 0.7 18.2
258.2 34.1 17.8 3101
65.7 - 5.2 70.9
{31.8) - {0.1) (31.9)
- 45.4 26.9 723
{15.2) (3.6) (1.9) (20.7)
276,9 75.9 47.9 400.7
179.5 206.4 151.1 537.0
176.1 2227 101.2 500.0

Amortisation expense related to intangible assets was reported in cost of sales, distribution and selling, general

and administrative.

Goodwill impairment analysis

The Group tests for impairment annually in accordance with I1AS 36 “Impairment of Assets.” The Group’s most
significant goodwill balances are related to its manufacturing companies that support the fashion business
activities. To assess for impairment, the Group primarily applies a value-in-use calculation approach. However,
certain assets are assessed for impairment using a fair value approach. The carrying amount of those assets is
$26.9 million at 31 December 2021 {2020: $47.3 million).
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The key assumptions made in the value-in-use calculations include the future revenues, the margins achieved,
the discount rate applied and the assumed life of the business. The discount rate is a post-tax rate applied to
post-tax cash flows, and does not result in impairment conclusions differing from those obtained by applying pre-
tax rates to pre-tax cash flows. The analyses performed were based on our CGUs” medium-term business plans,
with time frames of generally five years that have been reviewed and approved by management. Cash flows
beyond five years are calculated to perpetuity using the long-term growth rate.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions in 2021 of $75.0 million (2020: $11.3 miilion) is not assessed for impairment in
the year of acquisition. The Group considers the acquisition price to be equivaient to the fair value in the year of

purchase. See Note 27 for details on business combinations.

The discount and long-term growth rates applied in the value-in-use model are as follows:

Goodwill
2021 2000
$ milions ¢ millions
Vake of Annual growth rate Value of Annual growth rate
goodwill tested forrevenueduring  Growthrateforthe  goodwill tested forrevenueduring  Growth rate for the
via DCF Discountrate  theplanperiod  period afterthe plan via DCF Discountrate  theplanperiod  period after the plan
Manufacturing £6Us 1483 81%-96% 10%- 18.0% 0.0%-20% 1474 5% 1.0%-21.0% 0.0%- 25%

Nor-Chanel Brand CGUs 194 9.2% S0%-8.0% 1.0%

Based on these assessments, the Group recognised goodwill impairment losses of $45.4 million in 2021
{2020: Snil). Impairment costs are reported in selling, general and administrative in the consolidated statement
of income.

Sensitivity analyses
A sensitivity analysis has been performed on the value-in-use calculations by assuming more conservative growth

rates beyond the year ending 31 December 2021. The Group performed sensitivity analysis on the growth rates
of specific CGUs with significant goodwill balances as follows:

2021
$ millions

Impairment Joss due to:

Value of goodwill 100 basis-point reduction in the 200 basis-point reduction in the
tested growth rates growth rates
Manufacturing CGUs 1346 3.7 12.3

The Group performed additional sensitivity analysis on the discount rate of specific CGUs with significant goodwill
balances as follows:

2021
$ millions
Impairment loss due to:
value of goodwill 50 basis-point increase in the 100 hasis-point increase in
tested discount rate the discount rate
Manufacturing CGUs 134.6 8.1 15.6
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Leasehold rights impairment analysis

In 2021, the Group engaged an independent specialist to assess the fair value of several properties that had
associated leasehold rights. This assessment resuited in the recognition of an impairment charge of $26.9 million

in 2021 {(2020: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost:

Balances at 1 January 2020 {restated)’

Adgitions?
Disposals

Transfers to investment property

Transfers within PPE
Exchange differences

Balances at 31 December 2020 (restated)’

Additions?
Disposals
Transfers within PPE

Exchange differences

Baiances at 31 December 2021

Accumulated depreciation and impairment:
Balances at 1 January 2020 [restated)’

Disposals
Depreciation expense
Impairment [osses

Transfers to investment property

Exchange differences

Balances at 31 December 2020 {restated)’

Disposals

Depreciation expense
Impairment losses
Reversals of impairment
Transfers within PPE
Exchange differences

Balances at 31 December 2021
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 {restated)!
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021

! See Note 2.2 for detalls on the pror perod restatement.
*includes addtions acquired through business combinations as disclosed in Note 27,

Contractual commitments refated to property, plant and equipment
Borrowings secured by property, plant and equipment
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Machinery,
furniture,
Land and land and Leasehold Construction
improvements Buildings equipment improvements inprogress Vineyards Totalt
$ milions $ millions $ millions $ millions $ milllons $ millions % millions
1,2343 1,853.7 14423 1,430.2 3071 26.1 6,293.7
443.5 89.7 819 56.8 3484 1.9 10222
[4.8) (8.5) (30.0) {57.0} {1.2) - (101.5}
{1.5) (8.3) - 47 (20.5) - {25.6)
245 26.7 32,0 7238 {156.2) 0.2 -
76.2 152.9 34.0 57.7 303 0.6 411.7
1,772.2 2,106.2 1,620.2 1,565.2 507.9 288 76005
44 4 1545 114.4 i64.4 263.8 0.6 7421
{0.2) (4.6} (96.3) (62.8) {0.3} - {164.2)
7.5 339.7 64.9 1391 (531.5) 0.3 -
{31.0) {130.8) {86.9) (58.7} (19.0) {0.6) {377.0)
1,742.9 2,465.0 1,616.3 1,727.2 2209 29.1 7.801.4
48 7356 897.0 858.6 0.4 9.2 2,505.6
{0.3} (7.4) {26.6) (54.1) (0.3) - {88.7)
03 64.9 1293 1505 - 16 346.6
- 49.5 21 44 0.2 - 56.2
{0.9) {14.9} {0.6} {0.6} - - (17.0}
0.3 56.0 64.0 34.2 - 0.3 154.8
4.2 883.7 1,065.2 993.0 Q.3 111 29575
- (5.0) (92.2) 58.6} {0.1) - (155.9)
04 86.0 13318 136.0 - 16 357.8
- 28 26 - - 5.4
32.6) - - - (32.6)
- - 9.2 8.2 - . .
[0.2) {47.0) (59.2) (35.5) - {0.3) (142.2)
4.4 885.1 1,059.6 1,028.3 0.2 124 2,990.0
1,768.0 1,222.5 555.0 572.2 507.6 17.7  4,643.0
1,7385 1,579.9 556.7 698.9 220.7 167 4,8114
2021 2020
$ millions S miflions
130.8 202.3
445.8 459.9
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There were no capitalised borrowing costs recognised in 2021 and 2020 refated to property, pfant and
equipment.

Impairment

In 2021, the Group recognised $5.5 million {2020: 5$56.2 million) of impairment losses and a reversal of an
impairment of $32.6 million {2020: nil). The reversal relates to a property in France that was acquired in 2014 at
a premium resulting in the initial impairment charge. Following the assessment of the fair market value of the
property as of 31 December 2021, the Group deems it appropriate to reverse the impairment in full for

$32.6 million in 2021.

In 2020, the impairment primarily relates to a property located in the US that suffered a significant decline in
market prices, exacerbated by the pandemic. Based on a valuation of this property performed by a third-party
surveyor, the Group recognised an impairment charge of 548.9 million in 2020.

10. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

2021 2020
4 millions $ millions

Cost:

Balance at 1 January 181.0 1466

Additions - 0.1

Transfers from property, plant and eguipment - 25.6

Exchange differences (6.1) 8.7

Balance at 31 December 1749 181.0
Accumulated depreciation and impairment:

Balance at 1 January 36.1 146

Depreciation expense 31 3.4

Transfers from property, plant and equipment - 17.0

Exchange differences {10} 11

Balance at 31 December 382 36.1
Carrying amount at 31 December 136.7 1449
Fair value at 31 December 464.1 413.0

As of 31 December 2021 and 2020, investment property consisted of land and buildings in Europe and the United
States. Portions of these properties are leased to third parties as operating leases (Note 11) and rental income
received is fixed under the contracts.

There were no capitalised borrowing costs recognised in 2021 and 2020 related to investment property.

As of 31 December 2021, no borrowings were secured by investment properties {2020: Snil}.
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Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of income:

2021 2020
S mitlions S millions
Rental income 10.4 10.0
Direct operating expenses 5.0 5.2

There were no impairment losses recognised related to investment properties in 2021 or 2020.

Fair value

The Group periodically obtains third-party valuations related to its investment properties. The valuations
consider transaction prices for similar properties in the surrounding area as well as other factors relevant to the
location of the buildings. Fair value was based on a market approach and considered observable factors such as
existing rents, lease term of the property, and current market prices for similar properties. In accordance with
IFRS 13, the fair value of the buildings is within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, There were no changes to the
methods and assumptions in determining fair value from the prior year.
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11. LEASES

The Group as lessee

Right-of-use assets

The Group’s real estate leases are composed primarily of land and buildings for its boutiques and offices.
Machinery and equipment leases include vehicles, IT, office, manufacturing and distribution equipment.
Changes in right-of-use assets by underlying asset type during the period:

Machinery and
Real Estate Equipment Total
S millions S millions S millions
Gross:
Balance at 1 Janvary 2020 1,999.2 153 2,014.5
New leases 205.4 6.4 211.8
Remeasurements 80.7 0.4 811
Leased properties acquired {122.9) - {122.9)
Leases terminated {29.0) (3.1} (32.1)
Exchange differences 74.6 1.1 75.7
Balance at 31 December 2020 2,208.0 201 2,228.1
New leases 400.7 6.4 407.1
Remeasurements 130.1 (0.3} 129.8
Leased properties acquirad (7.3) - {7.3)
Leases terminated {88.6) (4.9) {93.5)
Acquisitions 4.0 - 4.0
Exchange differences {72.3) {1.0} {73.3}
Balance at 31 December 2021 2,574.6 20.3 2,594.9
Accumaulated depreciation and impairment:
Balance at 1 January 2020 319.7 5.0 324.7
Depreciation expense 3438 6.2 350.0
Impairment 15 - 15
Leased properties acquired (12.4) - (12.4)
Leases terminated (27.3) {2.9) (30.2}
Exchange differences 22.0 0.4 22.4
Balance at 31 December 2020 647.3 8.7 656.0
Depreciation expense 354.9 6.3 361.2
Impairment 0.1 - 0.1
Leased properties acquired (1.5} - {1.5)
Leases terminated (85.7} (4.6) (90.3}
Exchange differences (21.2) (0.5) (21.7)
Balance at 31 December 2021 893.9 99 903.8
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 1,560.7 11.4 1,572.1
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 1,680.7 104 1,691.1

Right-of-use assets impairment

As a part of the Group’s impairment review, $0.1 million of impairment losses were recognised in 2021

{2020: 51.5 miilion), which are reported in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of income. In estimating the value for calculating impairment charges, potential alternative uses for
property, such as subletting a leasehold or surrendering the property to the Jandlord at a cost were considered.
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Lease liabilities
Changes in lease liabilities during the period;

Current Non-current Total
$ millions $ millions $ millions
Gross:

Balance at 1 January 2020 306.9 1,510.1 1,817.0
New leases 21.2 191.4 2126
Landlord contributions 3.0 - .0
Repayments (387.7) - (387.7)
Accrued interest 64.0 - 64.0
Leases tarminated {£.0) {2.9) {4.9)
Leased properties acquired (5.5) {107.0) {112.5)
Remeasurements 10.4 70.7 81.1
Transfers 289.5 {289.5) -
Exchange differences 12.3 52.6 64.9
Balance at 31 December 2020 3121 1,425.4 1,737.5
New leases 36.1 346.0 382.1
Landlord contributions 29 - 2.9
Repayments {399.1} - {399.1)
Accrued interest 59.2 - 59.2
Leases terminated {1.5) {1.5) {3.0)
Leased properties acquired {0.6) {5.2) (5.8)
Acquisitions 03 2.6 29
Remeasurements 29.2 99.4 128.6
Transfers 287.2 (287.2) -
Exchange differences {8.6) (42.7) {51.3)
Balance at 31 December 2021 317.2 1,536.8 1,854.0

In 2021, the Group purchased the site of one of its leased boutiques resulting in a lease liability reduction of
5.8 million.

In 2020, the Company purchased the site of its flagship store at 158-15% New 8ond Street in London for
$442 .3 million. The acquisition of the building resulted in a lease liability reduction of $112.5 million.

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be paid after the reporting
date:

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
Less than one year nz2 366.2
One to five years 1,022.6 950.4
More than five years 759.0 704.6
2,153.8 2,021.2

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities.
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Lease payments not recognised as a liabjlity

The Group has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short-term [eases or for leases of low-value assets.
Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. The expenses relating to payments not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and for variable lease payments which are not dependent on
an index or a rate, are as follows:

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
Expenses relating to short-term feases 2.2 3.4
Expenses relating to low value assets 7.2 7.1
Expenses relating to variable lease payments 592.9 321.2
&02.3 33.7

Variable [ease payments based on sales

Some |leases contain variable iease payments that are based on sales made within a particular store. Total fixed
and variable lease payments were $398.9 million {2020: $387.7 million) and §592.9 millien (2020: $321.2
million}, respectively, as of 31 December 2021. Overall, the variable payments constitute 59.2% (2020: 44.6%) of
the Group’s entire lease payments. The variable payments are dependent on sales and are expected to
represent a similar proportion of total lease payments in future years. In 2021, the Group recognised

$12.5 million {2020: $18.6 million) of Covid-19 related rent concessions that have been accounted for as
negative variable lease payments in the statement of income (Note 2.2).

Extension options

Some real estate leases contain extension options. The Group assesses whether it is reasonably certain to
exertise the options at lease commencement and subsequently, if there is a change in circumstances within its
control. Such assessment involves management judgement and estimate based on information at the time the
assessments are made. Extension options are included in the lease term when the group has an economic
incentive to exercise the option. The Group considers available evidence at the time of the assessment, including
potential favourable terms upon extension, potential termination penalties, the relative costs associated with
potential relocation or termination of the lease and the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken. The
total amount of undiscounted potential future lease payments not included in the lease liability is $661.3 million
(2020: 5696.0 million). The proportion of the Group’s leases which contain extension options that are included in
the lease liability is 29.1% (2020: 24.8%).

Leases not yet commenced to which the Group is committed
Future cash flows of leases not yet commenced at the balance sheet date and, therefore, not included in the
lease liability at the reporting date are $32.5 million {2020: $21.3 millien).

The Group as lessor

Leases receivables
Lease income from lease contracts in which the Group acts as a lessor:

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
Finance lease
Finance income on the net investment in the lease 13 13
Operating lease
Lease income 210 21.7
223 230

The income recognised during the year from subletting right-of-use assets was $4.7 millian {2020: $4.0 million).
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Operating leases

The Group |eases its investment property and some leased properties to third parties that are considered

operating leases since they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership
of the assets, Refer to Note 10 for additional information regarding investment property operating leases.

Maturity analysis of operating lease receivables, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after

the reporting date:

Less than one year

One to two ycars

Two to three years

Three to four years

Four to five years

More than five years

Total undiscounted lease payments

Finance leases

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions

27.2 14.3

26.5 143

218 14.0

10.7 11.8

59 9.4

28.2 33.4

120.3 97.2

The Group sublets some office and boutique space that are considered finance leases, since the sublease is for
a significant portion of the remaining term of the head lease.

Non-current finance lease receivables
Current finance lease receivables

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
246 28.5
39 36
285 321

Maturity analysis of finance lease receivables, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after

the reporting date:

Less than one year

One to two years

Two to three years

Three to four years

Four to five years

More than five years

Total undiscounted lease payments receivable
Unearned finance income

Net investment in lease

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
5.0 4.8
5.1 5.0
53 51
5.3 53
55 5.3
6.2 117
324 37.2
(3.9} {5.1)
28.5 321
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12. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had $314.5 million of investments in associates and joint ventures
{2020: $275.3 million). In general, the Group holds ordinary shares in its investments in associates and joint
ventures. The details of which were as follows:

Place of
incorporation and Ownership percentage as
Name of associate Principal activity operation of December 31
2021 2020
C&D KK Restaurant operations Jagan 50% 509
Montres Romain Gauthier 5A Manufactura and sale of watches Switzerland 50% 50%
ERPRO 3D Factory Manufacture and sale of 3D printing France 35% 50%
manufactured products
ETS Denis et Fils Silk weaving France 40% 40%
ACEB Manufacture and sake of skincare products France 26% 26%
innatis Manu.factur_e and sake of interior perfumes France 32% 329
and dispensing tools
Belland Ross B.V. ' Manutfacture and sale of watches Netherlands 49% 0%
Mantres Jaurne S.A. 1 Manufacture and sale of watches Swhizerland 20% 0%
Kenissi Holding Watch movements Switzerland 20% 20%
Tulcan Invastment in leather goods manufacturer Luxembourg / Italy A% 40%
Bolduc 2.0 Luxury apparel manufacturer France 34% 34%
Mabi International $.p.A. Leather goods manufacturer Italy 40% 40%
Sunrun Solar energy panels United States 2% 2%
FAB Co-Creation Ventures LLC Implementation of venture capital strategies us A6% 46%
t
FCL SRL joint venture Ma_nufacture and surface treatment of Italy 0% S0
stainless steel components
! lnvestments acquired from an entity shder common contrel in 202%.
Aggregate financial information of associates and joint ventures is as foliows:
2021 2020
$ milfions $ millions
Total assets 622.6 588.6
Total liabilities 2905 238.5
Net assets 3321 349.1
Total revenue 334.2 4214
Tatal profit for the period, net {3.6) 63.2
Group's share of {loss) profit from associates and joint ventures, net {3.3) 313

The Group received a dividend of $0.1 million from its associates and joint ventures in 2021 {2020: Snil).
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in 2021, the Group did not recognise an impairment loss in relation to its associates and joint ventures

{2020: $2.9 million).

13. INCOME TAXES

The major components of income tax expense were as follows:

Consolidated statement of income:

Current income tax expense

Deferred income tax benefit

Income tax expense recognised in the consolidated statement of income

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

Effact of actuarial losses (gains} on defined benefit pension plans
Effect of FVOCI financial asset losses

Tax expense {benefit) recognised directly in equity

! Sae Note 2.2 for details on the prior period restatement.

A reconciliation between income tax expense and Group’s accounting profit before income tax multiplied by the

blended statutory tax rate of the Group is as follows:

Blended statutory rate amongst tax jurisdictions

Effect of permanent differences

Change in tax rates

Taxes on distributions and unremitted earnings
Other

Effective tax rate

! See Note 2.2 for detalls on pricr period restatement.

2020
2021 {restated) '
$ millions $ millions
1,401.6 579.6
(7.3) (49.3)
1,394.3 530.2
52.6 (8.6)
- 5.8
52.6 (2.8)
2020
2021 {restated)’

as a % of pre-tax income

The blended statutory rate represents the aggregation of the tax imposed on the taxable income contributed to

the Group at the applicable corporate tax rate in each jurisdiction.

The components of current income tax receivables were as follows:

Tax refund receivable
Other
Income taxes receivable
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23.3% 23.3%
0.2% 0.9%
0.1% 0.5%
2.0% 3.7%
0.1% -0.4%

25.7% 28.0%

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
45.7 24.3
37 1.3
49.4 256
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The components of current income tax liabilities were as follows:

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
Income taxes payable 556.8 245.6
Income tax contingencies 32.6 16.8
Income tax liabilities 589.4 262.4
The following is a roll-forward of net deferred tax assets:
Recognisedin  Recognised in Exchange
2021 Opening balance  profit or loss OCl Acquisitions differences  Closing balance
$ millions
Provisions 3673 17.1 - - 4.7 379.7
Retirement benefit obligations 119.3 13.8 {52.6} - {19) 18.6
Undistributed earnings (74.9) {11.4) - - - (86.3)
Other 132.6 {12.2} - {4.7) (7.8) 107.9
5443 7.3 {52.6) (4.7) {14.4) 479.9
Deferred income tax assets 618.0
Deferred income tax liabilities (138.1}
4789
——— -
Opening  Recognised in Recognised in Exchange Closing
2020 {restated)’ balance profit or loss oc! Acquisitions  differences balance
$ millions
Provisions 295.5 65.1 - 0.1 6.6 367.3
Retirement benefit obligations 92.3 14.9 8.6 - 3.5 119.3
Undistributed earnings {33.4) {41.5) - - - (74.9)
Other 115.0 10.8 0.4 {0.5) 6.9 132.6
469.4 49.3 9.0 {0.4) 17.0 544.3
!See Note 2.2 for details on the prior period restatement.
Deferred income tax assets 6719
Deferred income tax liabilities {127 .6}
5443
]

As of 31 December 2021, the deferred tax assets not recognised relating to unused tax losses and deductible
temporary differences were $74.0 million (2020: $62.7 million). The majority of these tax losses and deductible
temporary differences may be carried farward for an indefinite period of time. The Group did not utitise any
unrecognised tax loss carry-forwards during 2021 or 2020.
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14. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

Financiat®
Trade receivables
Derivatives
Other assets
Leans to related parties
Prepayments and accrued credit notes
Finance tease receivables
Deposits
fquity investments
Other

Non-financial
Other taxes receivable
Retirement benefit assets
Cash surrender value of corporate-owned life insurance
Prepaid expenses
Advances to suppliers
Software as a sefvice prepaid assets
Other

15ee Note 2.2 for details on the prior period restatement

’see Note 22
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2020
2021 (restated) !
Current Non-current Current Non-current
$ millions Smillions $millions $ millions
1,107.6 - 956.4 -
0.8 - 0.3 -
122.8 203.9 60.1 2228
442 6.8 51.1
207 6.9 200 4.4
19 24.6 35 285
33 76.4 1.3 73.8
1.1 787 1.2 54.3
49.6 105 34.1 10.7
1,231.2 203.9 1,016.8 222.8
192.0 - 230.1 -
- 49.8 - 6.5
- 198.8 - 182.0
157.7 - 135.8 -
86.8 - 99.4 -
1.7 6.1 1.0 6.1
b.6 18.0 15.2 19.9
444.8 272.7 485.5 2145
1,676.0 476.6 1,502.3 437.3
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Trade receivables consisted of the following:

Gross trade receivables
Provision for expected credit losses
Net carrying amount

Ageing of trade receivables:

Not past due

Less than one month past due
Greater than cne month past due
Due from related parties

Movement in the provision for expected credit losses is as follows:

Balance at 1January

Impairment losses

Amounts recovered during the year

Amounts written off as uncollectible

Reversals of impairment losses charged to profit or loss
Exchange differences

Balance at 31 December

Trade receivables relating to the Group’s wholesale activities have payment terms that are generally less than

three months.

As of 31 December 2021, an allowance of $1.3 million (2020: $2.1 million) was related to accounts that were not

past due.

15. INVENTORIES

Finished goods

Raw materials

Wark in process
Component inventory
Reserves
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2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
1,120.5 971.4
(12.9) {15.0)
1,107.6 956.4
992.0 799.8
1015 100.¢
26.6 71.1
0.4 0.5
1,120.5 971.4
2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
{15.0) {12.8)
{4.9} (5.4)
39 0.5
19 28
0.4 0.7
0.8 {0.8)
{12.9) {15.0)
2021 202¢
$ millions $ millions
1,452.7 1,703.7
3453 353.7
147.1 139.7
160.2 158.2
(564.2) {750.3)
1,541.1 1,605.0
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The cost of inventories recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of income was 52,666.2 million

{2020: §1,823.0 millien}. In addition, the Group recognised $158.1 million (2020: $419.4 million), which
represents the write-down, net of reversals of approximately $148 million, of inventory to net realisable value.
Reversals occur in the event that stock previously provided for has been seld in the current year. Management
considers that a 1% variation on an estimate of sell-through of previous collections would have an impact on the
inventory provision of $31 million.

16. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
Cash in bank 2,655.4 4,100.6
Short-term deposits 718.8 549.2
3,674.2 4,649.8

The Group operates a global cash pooling arrangement. As of 31 December 2021, the positive bank account
balances of the Group were $540.3 million {2020: $2,267.1 million) and the overdraft positions of other
subsidiaries were $67.4 million {2020: $35.9 million), as reported in Note 18 (Borrowings).

17. ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions

Assets classified as held for sale 60.8 66.4

The Group’s assets classified as held for sale at 31 December 2020, have not been disposed of during 2021.
These assets primarily consist of a boutique space with a carrying amount of $55.4 million (2020: $61.0 million)
and office space with carrying amounts of $3.4 million {2020: $3.1 million). Due to challenges brought on by the
pandemic, these properties have not been disposed of during 2021 but continue to be classified as held for sale
since they are actively being marketed and are expected to be disposed of in the next twelve months.
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18. BORROWINGS

Borrowings consisted of the following:

2011
Unamortised debt
Current 2023 2024 2025 2026 Beyond issuance cost Balance at 31 Dec
Smillions Smillions Smillions  $millions $millions  § millions $ millions $ miltions
Senior hotes - - 200.0 - 4084 1,274 6 (3.2 1,879.8
Sustainability-linked guaranteed notes - - - - 3415 341.5 {5.5) 671.5
Bank debt 85.0 03 3427 19 18 34.0 {1.3) 484.4
Bank overdrafts 722 - - - - - . 72.2
157.2 203 542.7 19 751.7 1,650.1 {10.0} 3,1139
2020
Unamortised debt
Current 2022 2023 2024 2025 Beyond issuance cost Balanee at 31 Dec
$millions  $millions  $millions  $millions $miliions  $ millions $ millions $ millions
Seniof notes - - - 194.5 - 1,733.2 (3.6 1,929.1
Sustainability-linked guaranteed notes - - . - - 327 {6.8) 725.9
Bank debt 427 611 228 368.1 2.1 374 [1.8) 532.4
Bank overdrafts 377 - - - - - - 37.7
804 61.1 2.8 567.6 21 2,503.3 {12.2) 3,225.1

Of the total borrowings, 52,608.6 million is unsecured {2020
against assets of the Group {2020: $537.5 million).

Senior Notes

: $2,687.6 million) and $505.3 million is secured

0On 12 October 2020, Chanel Limited issued $600.0 million of Senior Notes in four Series in a private placement
transaction pursuant to a Note Purchase Agreement as follows: {i) $75 million 2.45% Senior Notes due 13
October 2030, (ii) $175 million 2.55% Senior Notes due 13 October 2032, (iii) $175 million 2.70% Senior Notes
due 13 October 2035 and (iv) $175 million 3.2% Senior Notes due 13 October 2040. The Group already had two
existing Private Placement arrangements totalling $1,332.6 million that were established in 2014 and 2016 as

noted in the table below.

Date of
Nominal amount {in local currency) issuance Maturity Interest rate (%) 2021 2020
$ millions $ millions

USD 200 million 2014 2024 3.77% 200.0 200.0
USD 175 million 2014 2026 3.92% 175.0 175.0
USD 100 million 2014 2029 4.07% 100.0 100.0
USD 125 million 2014 2034 4.59% 125.0 125.0
EUR 205 million 2016 2026 1.84% 233.4 250.3
EUR 190 miflion 2016 2028 2.04% 2163 2320
EUR 115 milion 2016 2031 2.28% 130.9 140.5
EUR 90 million 2016 2036 2.75% 102.4 105.9
USD 75 million 2020 2030 2.45% 75.0 75.0
UsD 175 million 2020 2032 2.55% 175.0 175.0
UsSD 175 million 2020 2035 2.70% 175.0 175.0
UsD 175 millien 2020 2040 3.20% 175.0 175.0

1,883.0 1,932.7
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The Group is required to comply with certain covenants contained within the three individual Note Purchase
Agreements (the “Agreements”). These covenants are aligned across all three Agreements and contain customary
representations and warranties as well as customary affirmative and negative covenants, including but not limited
to, restrictions on incurrence of additional debt, liens, asset sales, investments, mergers, acquisitions, and affiliate
transactions. Events of default permitting acceleration under the agreements include, among others,
non-payment of principal or interest, covenant defaults, material breaches of representations and warranties,
bankruptcy and insolvency events, and certain other defaults. Financial covenants defined in the Agreements and
listed below are required to be tested semi-annually at 30 June and annually at the reporting date of

31 December.

+ Indebtedness Ratio - consolidated total net debt to adjusted consclidated Earnings Before Interest,
Taxes, Depreciation, and Amortisation (“"EBITDA”) to be less than 3.25 to 1.0 for the applicable
12-month period.

= Fixed Charges Coverage Ratio - consolidated Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Amortisation,
and Rent (“EBITDAR") to consolidated fixed charges to be greater than 2.0 to 1.0 for the applicable
1Z2-month period.

+ Consolidated Priority Indebtedness - not to exceed 15% of consalidated total assets.

The Group was in compliance with all of these covenants throughout the year and as of 31 December 2021.

Sustainability-Linked Guaranteed Notes
On 1 October 2020, the Group issued two Sustainability-Linked Guaranteed Notes on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange. The terms and carrying amounts are as follows:

Carrying amount at 31 Carrying amount at 31

Issue type Currency  Principal amount  Maturity year Interest rate Issue price December 2021 December 2020
$ millions $ millions
Bond, Fixed rate Euro 300.0m 2026 0.50% 99.726% 3394 363.6
Bond, Fixed rate Eure 306.0m 2031 1.00% 99.400% 3381 3623
677.5 725.9

The Notes bear interest beginning with the issuance date of 1 October 2020 that is payable annually in arrears on
31 July in each year. A premium would be payable on maturity of the Notes if specific sustainability targets are
not met.

Bank Overdrafts
Bank overdrafts of $72.2 million {2020: $37.7 million) are predominantly balances held in the Group's notional
cash pooling arrangements.
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Reconciliation of borrowings arising from financing activities:

Long-term borrowings
Short-term borrowings
Total third-party borrowings

Related-parties (Note 26)

Long-term borrowings
Short-term borrowings
Total third-party borrowings

Related parties {Note 26)

Cash flows related to lease liabilities are disclosed in note 11.

The Group’s borrowings are denominated in the foliowing currencies:

Euro

US dollar
Japanese yen
Swiss franc
Sterling
Other

Non-cash changes
Reclassifications from
long-term to short-  Foreign exchange 31 December
1January 2021  Cash flows term and other movements 2021
$ millions $ miliions $ millions $ millions $ millions
3,144.7 (3.7) (53.2) {131.1) 2,956.7
80.4 26.8 55.7 {5.7) 157.2
3,225.1 23.1 25 (136.8) 3,113.9
347.1 (382.0) - (9.1} {51.0)
3,572.2 (365.9) 2.5 (145.9) 3,062.9
Non-cash changes
Reclassifications from
long-termto short-  Foreign exchange 31 December
1January 2020  Cash flows term and other movements 2020
$ millions $ miillons $ millions $ miflions $ millions
2,114.6 1,093.9 (211.4) 147.6 3,144.7
89.8 {237.7) 223.5 4.8 80.4
2,204.4 856.2 12.1 152.4 3,225.1
368.1 (4.2} - (16.8) 347.1
2,572.5 852.0 12.1 135.6 3,572.2
2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
1,746.9 1,862.3
1,196.9 1,196.9
66.0 747
68.2 711
15.0 1.6
20.5 12.5
31139 3,225.1
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The Group’s berrowings are subject to fixed and floating interest rates as follows:

2021 2020
$ millions S millions
Fixed rate borrowings 2,701.3 2,823.6
Floating rate borrowings 412.6 401.5
3,113.9 3,225}

The Group has fixed rate borrowings ranging from 0.10% to 4.59% and maturing through to 2056. The Group
entered into an interest rate swap agreement to fix the rate on its most significant floating rate loan.

Lines of Credit
As of 31 December 2021, the Group had confirmed lines of credit totalling $1,153.5 million (2020:

$1,472.2 million), which is predominantly a syndicated revolving credit facility totalling $950.5 million that was
arranged during the year. This facility replaces the Group’s syndicated revolving credit facilities that were putin
place in May 2020. The terms of the facility include: an arrangement and participation fee; a commitment fee; a
utilisation fee; an extension fee; an agency fee; and a margin and will result in an all-in financing cost between
0.66% and 1.21% plus the appropriate reference rate. The Group is subject to the same covenants as described
above for its Private Placement arrangements. The facility has not been utilised to date. The facility expires on
the fifth anniversary of the signing of the agreement, with two one-year extension options available at the
Group’s request. As of 31 December 2021, total outstanding borrowings against lines of credit were $28.1 million
(2020: $17.6 million).

Letters of Credit
As of 31 December 2021, the Group had letters of credit of $5.9 million {2020: $5.5 million).

The Group was in compliance with all other financial covenants in relation to its debt agreements throughout the
year and as of 31 December 2021.

19. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Defined Contribution Plans

The Group operates a number of defined contribution retirement benefit plans for all qualifying employees. The
assets of the plan are held separately from those of the Group in funds under administration by trustees. The
Group recognised an expense of $41.1 miflion (2020: $55.4 millien) related to its defined contribution plans in
2021. The Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit plan
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the
specified contributions.

Defined Benefit Plans

The Group operates defined benefit retirement plans in various locations, with its most significant plans in the
U.S., France, the U.K. and Japan. The Group also has executive retiree medical plans in the U.S. and Canada. The
Group recognised net benefits expense of $0.6 million in 2021 (2020: $0.6 million) related to its executive retiree
medical plans. The Group recognised net liabilities related to its executive retiree medical plans of $10.9 million
in 2021 (2020: $10.6 million} in its consolidated statement of financial position. Disclosures presented below for
defined benefit ptans include the executive retiree medical plans.

The defined benefit plans expose the Group to certain risks, such as interest rate risk, mortality risk, and salary
risk.

= Interest rate risk — A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability; however, this will
be partially offset by an increase in the return on the plans’ debt investments.
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®  Mortality risk — The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using the best
estimate of the mortality of plan participants during and after their employment. An increase in the life
expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plans’ liability.

= Salary risk — The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using the future salaries
of plan participants. An increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the plans’ liability.

The most recent valuation was performed by the Group’s actuaries as of 31 December 2021. The present value

of the defined benefit obligation and all of its related components were measured using the projected unit credit
method.

The principal assumptions used for the valuations of the defined benefit plans that are presented below based on
a weighted average of the applicable locations were as follows:

2021 2020
Discount rate 2.0% 1.5%
Expected rate of salary increase 3.5% 3.4%
The average life expectancy in years of
pensioner retiring at age 65:
Male 22.0 219
Female 235 233
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Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of income and consolidated statement of comprehensive

income with respect to the defined benefit plans were as follows:

Service cost:
Current service cost, including administrative expenses
Curtailments
Settlements
Other

Total service cost, including adminstrative expenses
Past service cost

Net interest
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in consolidated
statement of income

Remeasurements on the net defined benefit liabitity;
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest
Actuarial {gains} losses due to changes in demographic assumptions
Actuarial {gains} losses due to changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial {gains} losses due to experience adjustments
Other adjustments

Components of defined benefits costs recognised in other
comprehensive income

Components of defined benefit costs recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

Defined Benefit Plans

Accumulated actuarial losses recognised in shareholder’s equity were $284.6 million as of 31 December 2021

(2020: $495.8 million).

The amounts included in the consolidated statement of financial position with respect to the defined benefit

plans were as follows:

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets
Funded surplus (shortfall}

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation

Net liability on consolidated statement of financial position

Gross retirement benefit asset
Gross retirement benefit ebligation
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2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
85.8 71.8
(1.6} -
(9.4} -
(0.5) -
74.3 71.8
0.1 1.0
55 6.0
79.9 78.8
{84.4} (53.9)
(14.0) 1.1
{55.0) 92.1
{57.8) 0.7
- 1.2
(211.2) 412
{131.3) 120.0
Defined Benefit Plans
2021 2020
S millions $ millions
(1,125.2) (1,216.5)
1,133.8 1,058.5
4.7 {158.0)
{265.0) {265.5)
(260.3) (423.5)
49.8 6.5
{310.1) {430.0)
{260.3) {423.5)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation were as follows:

Defined benefit obligation, at 1 January

Current service cost

Interest cost

Contributions from plan participants

Past service cost

Reclassifications

Actuarial (gains) losses due to changes in demographic assumptions
Actuarial {gains) losses due 1o changes in financial assumptions
Actuarial {gains) losses due to experience adjustments
Benefits paid

Curtailments

Settlements

Acguisition of plan *

Exchange differences

Defined benefit obligation, at 31 December

* See note N for detaiis of plan acquired.

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets were as follows:

Fair value of plan assets, at 1 January
Interest income

Return on plan assets, excluding amounts in interest income
Contributions from the employer
Contributions from plan participants
Benefits paid

Administrative expenses paid
Reclassifications

Acquisition of plan *

Exchange differences

Fair value of plan assets, at 31 December

* See note N for details of plan acquired.

-89.

Defined Benefit Plans
2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
1,482.0 1,278.7
84.0 70.3
22.2 24.1
25 2.5
a1 1.0
7.9 0.7
{14.0) 1.1
{55.0) 92.1
(57.8) 0.7
(61.9) (51.2)
{1.6) -
(9.4} -
39.6 -
(44.4) §2.0
1,394.2 1,482.0
|
Defined Benefit Plans
2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
1,058.5 9525
16.7 18.1
84.4 539
28.2 431
25 25
(61.9) (51.2}
{1.8) {1.5)
29 -
40.1 -
{35.7) 411
1,133.9 1,058.5
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The fair value of the plan assets at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 for each category are as follows:

2021 2020
Fair value of plan Fair value of plan

assets assets

$ millions $ millions

Equity securities 396.1 3723
Insurance contracts 261.3 262.3
Corporate bonds 2432 209.9
Government bonds 73.0 89.7
Property 45.2 394
Other 115.1 84.9
1,133.9 1,058.5

The Group's funding policy is to contribute an amount that maintains a level of funding in the funded plans that is
consistent and is sound on an actuarial basis, while remaining compliant with current pension laws. The Group
targets an overall funding level of 80%.

The Group expects the portfolio to remain fully invested and frequently reviews the need to have cash available
to pay retirement benefits without disrupting the portfolio strategy. in 2022, the Group is committed to make a
contribution of 524.1 million with additional contributions of $1.4 million expected.

The average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 13.6 years (2020: 14.3 years).

The significant assumptions used in determining the defined benefit obligation are the discount rate, expected
rate of salary increase, and life expectancy. The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based cn
possible chanhges to the significant assumptions while holding all other assumptions constant.

An increase in the discount rate of half a percentage point would decrease the defined benefit obligation by
586.1 million.

An increase in the expected rate of salary increase of half a percentage point would increase the defined benefit
obligation by $20.2 million.

A decrease in the mortality rate of 10% for both men and women would increase the defined benefit obligation
by $15.2 million.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation in the sensitivity analysis above has been calculated using the
projected unit credit method, which is also the method used in calculating the defined benefit obligation for the
consolidated staterment of financial position. The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual
change in the defined benefit obligation. There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior year.
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20. PROVISIONS

Balances at 1 January 2021
Additional provisions recognised
Used during the year

Unused amounts reversed

Unwinding of the discount
Exchange difference

Balances at 31 December 2021
Of which, at 31 December 2021:

Non-current
Current

Product related provisions represent the expected refund to customers for sales returns, when the customer has

Asset retirement festructuring
Product-related  obligations Litigation costs Other Total
$ millions $ millions $ millions $ millions $ mitlions $ millions
186.9 73.2 15.0 10.2 39.2 324.5
1728 11.3 20.7 5.0 15.2 2255
{145.5) {0.4) {6.2) (7.1) (5.9) {165.1)
(8.9) {2.1) (3.3) {0.5) (0.1) (14.9)
- 0.3 - - 0.4 0.7
{7.3} {2.0} (1.1) [0.6) (3.7} (14.7)
198.0 80.8 251 70 45.1 356.0
39 77.0 16.3 6.3 32.8 136.8
194.1 38 8.3 0.7 123 219.2
198.0 80.8 25.1 7.0 451 356.0

a right to return the product within a given pericd. The expected refund is as an adjustment to revenue.

Additionally, the Group recognises a provision for Asset retirement chligations, which represents the cost to

restore an item of property, plant and equipment back to its original condition at the end of its useful life or [ease

term, whichever is shorter. As such, the provision is primarily long-term in nature.

Select companies in the Group are exposed to lawsuits that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Group

provides for these claims accordingly but does not expect the outcome to have a material impact on the

consolidated financial statements.

Restructuring costs primarily relate to organisational restructurings programmes in select markets.

Other provisions are mainly related to long-term service awards.
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21. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Financial ®

Trade payables

Derivatives

Other liabilities
Salaries, commissiohs and related
Advertising, promotion and demanstration
Professional fees and other accrued expenses
inventory accruals
Oue to customers
gmployee profit sharing
Interest payable
Loan from related party

Share purchase commitments on non-contralling interests
Other

Nen-financial
Qther taxes payahle
Customer deposits
Deferred compensation payable
Other

Total trade payables and other liabilities

“ See Note 22

2021 2020
Current Non-current Current Non-current
$ millions $ millions $ millions $ millions
864.9 - 677.0 -
1.0 2.2 23 4.1
1,547.0 269.6 1,581.7 197.3
6278 485.0 -
218.4 153.3 -
243.4 190.2
2172 169.4
119.8 109.7
317 173.4 24.0 167.6
16.2 16.9
3982
55.2 %4
725 410 35.0 203
2,412.9 2718 2,261.0 2014
265.2 - 153.7 -
62.5 - 710 -
66.2 - 70.7
29 9.6 1.5 35
3306 758 226.2 74.2
2,743.5 3476 2,487.2 2756

Customer deposits relate to advance payments received for sales which have not yet been delivered to the
customer. The majority of these deposits received at the end of the reporting period are settled within one year.
The overall change in the fiability represents increases in deposits not yet recognised in revenue in the financial
year offset by the settlement of the prior year obligation, which is recognised in revenue in the current financial

year.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Classification

The foliowing table shows the classes of financial instruments based on their nature and characteristics.

financial Assets

2021 2020
Current Non-Current Current Non-Current
% millions $ millions $ millions $ millions
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Trade receivables 1,107.6 - 956.4 -
Cash and cash equivalents 3,674.2 - 4,649.8 -
other™ 1217 1252 58.9 168.5
Financial assets at FVOCI:
Listed equity investments ™ - 1.1 - 1.2
Non-listed equity investments 0.1 69.4 0.2 495
Financial assets at FVTPL:
Convertible bonds ® 1.0 8.2 1.0 36
Derivatives;
Forward contracts and options ™ 0.8 - 0.3 -
4,905.4 2039 5,666.6 2228
) see Note 14
Financial Liabilities
2021 2020
Current Non-Current Current Non-Current
$ millions $ millions $ millions $ millions
Financial Habilities at amortised cost:
Borrowings 157.2 2,956.7 80.4 3,144.7
Trade payables 864.9 - 677.0 -
Lease liabilities 317.2 1,536.8 312.1 1,425.4
Other @ 1,547.0 269.6 1,581.7 197.3
Financial liabitities at FVTPL:
Derivatives:
Forward contracts and options ' 0.1 - 14 -
Interest rate swaps ™ 09 2.2 0.9 4.1
2,887.3 4,765.3 2,653.5 4,771.5

Bleee Note 21
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Fair Value Measurement and Hierarchy Levels

Where the fair value of any financial asset or liability held at amortised cost is materially different to the book
value, the fair value is disclosed.

The fair value of the Group’s listed equity investments is based on guoted market prices (current bid price) on the
last day of the period for all years presented.

The fair values of non-listed equity investments that were purchased in 2021 are assumed to approximate the
purchase price. The fair values of the remaining non-listed equity investments have either been determined via
an external valuation or estimated internally using a discounted cash flow model. The [atter valuation requires
management to make certain assumptions aboul the model inputs, including forecasted cash flows, the discount
rate, credit risk and volatility. The probabilities of the various estimates within the range can be reasonably
assessed and are used in equity investments.

The Group’s derivative instruments are traded in the over-the-counter market and their fair value is determined
using quantitative models that require the use of multiple inputs including interest rates, prices, and indices to
generate pricing and volatility factors. The predominance of market inputs are actively quoted and can be
validated through external sources including brokers, market transactions, and third-party pricing services.

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments that were measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) prices for identical assets in active markets.

Level 2 — Other observable inputs, either directly or indirectly, including: quoted prices for similar assets in
active and non-active markets (e.g. few transactions, limited information, non-current prices,
high variability over time, etc.); inputs other than quoted prices that are ohservable for the
asset {e.g. interest rates, yield curves, volatilities, default rates, etc.); and inputs that are
derived principally from or corroborated by other observable market data.

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that cannot be substantiated by observable market data.

2021 Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets: $ millions $ millions $ millions $ millions
Listed equity investments 1.1 - - 11
Non-listed equity investments - - 69.5 69.5
Convertible bonds - - 9.2 9.2
Derivatives:
Forward contracts and options - 0.8 - 0.8
1.1 0.8 78.7 80.6

Financial liabilities:

Derivatives:
Forward contracts and options - 0.1 - 01
Interest rate swaps - 3.1 - 31
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2020

Financial assets:
Listed equity investments
Non-listed equity investments
Convertible bonds
Derivatives:
Forward contracts and options

Financial liabilities:
Derivatives:
Forward contracts and options
Interest rate swaps

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$ millions
1.2

5 millions

0.3

$ millions
49.7
4.6

$ millions
1.2
49.7
4.6

0.3

1.2

0.3

54.3

55.8

14
5.0

14
5.0

6.4

6.4

The reconciliation of Level 3 financial assets designated at fair value through OCl is as follows:

As of 1 January 2020
Remeasurement recognised in OCI
Purchases

Sales

Exchange difference

As of 31 December 2020

Remeasurement recognised in OCI
Purchases

Sales

Exchange difference

As of 31 December 2021

Risks associated with financial instruments

Capital risk management

Total

$ millions

45.9
(2.1)
73
(1.3)
4.5

54.3

21
286
(1.4)
{4.9)

78.7

The Group’s objective regarding capital risk management is to maintain a strong capital base and to sustain
future development of business primarily through the use of operating cash flow. The Greup’s management
regularly reviews the capital structure of its businesses and determines the most economic approach to fund

various transactions.

Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may encounter difficulties in meeting its financial liabilities that are settled
in cash. In managing this risk, the Group monitors closely the liquidity risk of the Group and its individual
subsidiaries. A global cash pool is maintained alongside local bank credit facifities and an intercompany lending
programme to ensure that local companies can operate with a high level of liquidity. The Group has substantial
undrawn confirmed credit lines and applies a policy of maintaining zero net debt at each reporting period. The
Group's issued Sustainability-Linked Bonds and Senior Notes through a private placement further guarantee its

liquidity (Note 18),
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Financial risk management

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk {including foreign currency risk, interest
rate risk, and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to mitigate potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its foreign exchange and
interest rate risk exposures.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities, and net investments in foreign operations. The Group takes a long-term view of
its foreign exchange risk and does not normally seek to mitigate this risk, unless there is a specific circumstance
that causes elevated volatility in a particular currency. In 2020, the Group paused its hedging programme in
response to the pandemic, however, in 2021 the Group reinstated this programme and maintains forward
currency contracts with third parties that are offset by contracts with a related party. As of 31 December 2021,
the total notional amount of the Group’s outstanding forward currency contracts with third parties was

$313.5 million {2020: $42.7million), with offsetting contracts with a related party for the same value (2020:
45.5million).

Sensitivity analysis

The Group performed an analysis to estimate the impact of a change in foreign exchange rates on commercial
exposures relating to its future commercial transactions and held foreign currency derivatives. To demonstrate
the sensitivity of a change in foreign exchange rates, the Group estimated the impact of a 10% strengthening of
its main currency exposures {assuming all other variables remain constant). A 10% weakening would be
comparable in amount with an opposite impact.

uspD EUR
2021 2020 2021 2020
$ mitlions S millions € millions € millions
Profit (loss) before income tax 105 63 {365) {266)

Shareholder's equity - - - -

Interest rate risk

The Group holds interest rate swaps to manage the exposure to interest rate risk arising from its variable rate
borrowings. Interest rate swaps are not designated in hedge accounting relationships. With respect to the
Group’s outstanding interest rate swap agreements, the Group receives a floating rate of interest and pays
interest based on a fixed rate. As of 31 December 2021, the total notional amount of the Group’s outstanding
interest rate swap agreements were $239.0 million {2020: 5256.4 million).

The Group performed an analysis and determined that a 1% increase or decrease in market interest rates would
not materiaily impact profit for the years ended 31 December 2021 nor 2020.

Price risk

The Group is also exposed to commodity price risk relating to the purchase of precious metals and stones for use
in its fine jewellery and watch manufacturing processes. In 2021 and 2020 the Group deemed this risk to be
insignificant.

The following table details the Group's outstanding contractual maturities for its financial liabilities. The amounts

disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, except for derivative financial liabilities, which
are included at their fair value. For detail on lease liabilities, see Note 11.
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Less than 1
2021 year 1-5 years 5+ years Total
$ millions $ millions $ millions $ millions
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Borrowings 220.1 1,535.1 19119 3,667.1
Trade payables 864.9 - - 864.9
Other 1,547.0 155.5 1141 1,816.6
Derivatives (at FVTPL):
Forward contracts and options 0.1 - - 0.1
nterest rate swaps 0.9 2.2 - 3.1
2,633.0 1,692.8 2,026.0 65,351.8

Credit risk management

The Group did not have any significant exposure to credit risk, which is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. The Group has a large number of unrelated customers in a wide range of business segments and,
therefore, is not exposed to any concentration of credit risk on its receivables. The Group’s operating units have
policies in place to ensure that the sales of products are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
Credit risk is further mitigated by taking out credit insurance on receivables with select wholesalers. The Group’s
credit risk on derivatives instruments and cash and cash equivalents is limited because these items are held with
counterparties with strong credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. Specificaily, the Group’s
cash and cash equivalents are primarily invested in investment grade banks and money market funds, with the
primary objective of minimising the potential risk of principal loss, with limits on the amount of credit exposure
to any one counterparty.

23. EQUITY DIVIDENDS AND SHARE PREMIUM

2021 2020

$ millions $ millions
Interim dividends paid

Chanel Limited interim dividends paid 4,986.6
{2020: Snil per ordinary share)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 07 0.7

Total dividends paid 4,987.3 0.7

Chanel Limited paid interim dividends to its parent of $2,500.0 millicn and $2,486.6 million in June and December
2021, respectively. The Company did not pay any interim dividends in 2020. A final dividend with respect to the
year ended 31 December 2021 has not been proposed (2020: $nil}.
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24. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:

1,000 (2020: 1,000} ordinary shares of £1 each

Called up, allotted and fully paid:

155 {2020: 155) ordinary shares of £1 each

25. CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL

Changes in working capital consisted of the following components:

Inventories
Trade receivables
Trade payables

Other receivables and payables

* See Note 2.2 for details on the prior period restatement.
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2021 2020
£ £
1,000 1,000
2021 2020
£ £
155 155
2020
2021 {restated) *
$ millions $ miltions
{30.2) (1.5)
{179.6) 144.7
2188 (45.9)
415.9 {47.5)
4249 4983
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26. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions and balances between the Transactions and balances between the
Group and entities under common Group and its associates under common
controf control
2021 2020 2021 2020

$ millions $ millions $ millions $ mitlions
Trade receivables and other current assets 44.7 0.6 17.7 17.1

Other nen-current assets 6.8 51.1 - -
Trade payables and other current liabilities 7.3 405.1 82.0 66.1
Revenue - - 43.2 25.1
Cost of sales - . 456.9 346.4
Finance income (costs) 0.2 {45.1) - 03

At 31 December 2020, the Group had a ioan from its parent of $398.2 million, which carried an interest rate
based on the twelve-month Euribor rate plus 82 basis points. The Group settled this loan on 1 January 2021.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration earned by key management personnel of the Group during the year was as follows:

2021 2020
4 millions S milliens
Short-term benefits 90.4 74.6
Post-employment benefits 119 19.7
Other long-term benefits 6.2 23.7
108.5 118.0

Information regarding directors

Directors’ emoluments totalled $30.6 million (2020: $15.7 million) and pension costs totalled $4.9 million
{2020: $2.5 million). All remuneration are considered short-term benefits with the exception of long-term
incentive arrangements of 53.9 million (2020: $11.9 million).

Four (2020: three) directors accrued benefits under defined benefit pension plans. Three directors (2020: four)
accrued benefits under defined contribution plans. The highest paid director received remuneraticn of

$15.2 million (2020: $10.4 million) and participated in defined benefit pension plans with an accrued annual
entittement of $nil (2020: $0.3 million).
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27. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
2021 Transactions

In 2021, the Group made several acquisitions totalling $96.6 million. The majority of these acquisitions support the
manufacturing functions of the business. In addition, the Group recognised non-controlling interests of

$5.4 million. As a result of the acquisitions, the Group recognised goodwill in the consolidated financial statements
of $75.0 millien.

2020 Transactions

In 2020, the Group made several acquisitions that support manufacturing functions of the business for

$34.0 million. In addition, the Group recognised non-controlling interests of $1.6 million, liabilities for its obligation
to purchase the remaining shares of $2.0 million, and a gain on purchase of the acquisition of $3.8 million. As a
result of the acquisitions, the Group recognised goodwill in the consolidated financial statements of $11.3 million.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations were recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position as of the respective acquisition dates based upon their estimated fair values at such dates. The
results of operations of businesses acquired by the Group have been included in the consolidated statement of
income since their respective dates of acquisition.

The consideration transferred for businesses acquired are shown in aggregate as follows;

2021 2020
S mitlions S millions
Cash consideration 96.6 34.0
Less: Cash acquired {31.6) (8.2)
65.0 25.8

The excess of consideration transferred over the estimated fair values of the underlying assets acquired and
liabilities assumed was allocated to goodwill. None of the consideration is contingent.

The goodwill of $75.0 million (2020: $11.3 million) arising from these acquisitions is attributable to the specific
know-how and multiple synergies that will benefit the Group in both manufacturing and in a digital capacity. None

of the goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes.

The preliminary allocation of the total purchase price for businesses acquired is summarised as follows:

2021 2020
$ millions § millions
Cash consideration 96.6 34.0
Fair value of assets acquired in excess of liabilities assumed (27.9) (30.1}
Non-controlling interests 5.4 1.6
Transfer from financial instruments fair valued through OC 0.9 -
Ohligation to purchase non-controlling interests - 20
Bargain purchase option - 38
Goodwill arising on acquisitions 75.0 11.3
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The following table summarises the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with
the acquisitions:

2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 149 28.0
Intangible assets 0.2 25
Right-of-use assets 4.0 -
Deferred income tax asseéts - 2.7
Other assets 0.1 0.6
Current assets:
Inventories 10.8 12.9
Trade receivables and other assets 226 5.6
Cash and cash equivalents 316 8.2
Assets classified as held for sale - 23
Non-current liabilities:
Borrowings {1.1) (11.3)
Lease liability (2.8) -
Deferred income tax liabilities {4.8) (2.9}
Other liabilities {0.5) (1.3)
Current liabilities:
Trade payables and other liabilities (34.5) {14.2)
Borrowings (1.3) (2.2}
Lease ability {0.2) -
Income tax {iabilities {11.1} (0.8}
278 30.1
2021 2020
$ millions $ millions
Acquisition costs 26 34
Net revenue of business combinations:
As of acquisition date 481 18.0
Full year 96.2 29.6
Net income of business combinations:
As of acquisition date 6.0 (1.1}
Fuli year 18.1 11

Acquisition costs were recorded within selling, general, and administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of income.

28. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the ordinary course of business, the Group has reported various liabilities due to contractual commitments
pursuant to its property (Note 9} and retirement benefit plans (Note 19). The Group also has other commitments
of $24.4 million related to global climate initiatives (2020: $31.7 million).

As part of its day-to-day management, the Group is party to various legal proceedings concerning brand rights,
the protection of intellectual property rights, the setup of selective retailing networks, licensing arrangements,
employee relations, tax audits, and other areas relating to its business. Based on consultations with legal counsel,
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29

30.

the Group believes that the amounts reported in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of
these risks, litigation, or disputes, known or outstanding at year-end, are sufficient to avoid its consolidated
financial statements from being materially impacted in the event of an unfavourable outcome.

. ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The Group’s consolidated financial statements represent the largest group in which the financial statements of
the Group are consolidated and publicly available. The Group’s immediate and ultimate parent company is Litor
Limited, a company incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group considered the existence of any subsequent events and the requirements to recerd and/or disclose
the impact thereof.

Following Russia’s invasion of Ukraine on 24 February 2022, management took the decision to pause all
operations in our own boutiques and ecommerce platform within Russia. Several nations have imposed
sanctions targeting Russia’s ability to access capital and financial markets by sanctioning specific financial
institutions, which has made it operationally challenging to conduct business in Russia. Whilst the geopolitical
situation remains complex, the Group’s exposure in the Russian market is not significant and, therefore, wilf not
adversely impact the Group’s results and financial position prospectively. Overall, Chanel’s priority is the
protection and safety of its affected employees and providing them with the necessary support.

No other significant subsequent events were noted by the Group up to the date of the signing of these accounts.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FiINANCIAL POSITION
AS OF 31 DECEMBER 2021
{in millions of Sterling}

Notes
2020 2019

ASSETS 2021 (restated) ! {restated}’
Non-current assets:
Intangible assets E 11 0.2 02
Property. plant and eguiprment F 3857 3889 £7.9
Investment property G 49.6 49.8 50.1
Right-of-use assets H 1741 98.1 185.3
investment in subsidiaries | 1,2554 1,248.0 1,041.3
Retirement benefit asset N 273 2.7 69
Deferred income tax assets J 16 4.6 7.7
investments in agsociates - - 17
Loans 1o affiliates K 1,304.1 1,797.6 -
Other assets K 25.2 24.4 22.9
Total non-current assets 3,224.1 3,614 3 1,3840
Current assets:
Inventories L 166 256 305
Trade receivables and other assets K 526.4 141.9 163.6
Prepayments 151 5.4 8.4
Other taxes receivable - 501 -
Cash 1,321.7 2,1739 1,754 6
Total current assets 1,879.8 2,400.9 1,558.1
TOTAL ASSETS 5,103.9 6,015.2 3,342.3
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY
Share capital 24 - - -
Reserves - . 5.4
Retained earnings 2,812.5 3,845.7 2,906.5
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY 28125 3,845.7 29119
LIABILITIES
Non-current Habilities:
Borrowings ™M 1,390.6 1,413.2 64.9
Loan from related party Q 4559 5310 -
Lease Habilities H 169.1 96.8 1786
Other liabilities Q 9.4 . 56
Total non-current liabilities 2,069.0 2,041.0 248.1
Current liabilities:
Trade payables and other habilities o] 166.4 102.8 131.7
Income tax liabilities 9.0 8.2 1512
Borrowings M - - t.a
Lease liabilities H 0.2 6.5 10.4
Provisions P 11.0 11.0 9.9
Other taxes payable 15.8 - 16.0
Tetal carrent liabilities 222.4 128.5 181.%
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,281.4 2,169.5 430.2
TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY AND LABILITIES 5,103.9 6,015.2 3,342.1

Profit for the year was £2,635.6million (2020 restated: £922.4 millicn).

The financi ents b?EFEFéerted {registered number 00203669) on pages 103 through 127 were approved by the board of
direct G ised fori/ssue’bn 19 May 2022, They were signed on its behalf by:

' SeeNote B for details on the prdr penod restatement
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2921
{In milions of Sterling)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES;
Operating profit
Adjustments to reconcile operating prafit to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortisation of PPRE, investment property and intangibles
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Net impairment of property, plant, and eguipment
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Settlement of derivatives
Net retirement benefit pension plan contribution
Other
Cash flows from operations before changes in working capital

Changes in working capital

Cash flows from operations

Interest received

Interest paid on financia! borrowings
Interest paid on lease lfabilities
tncome taxes paid

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment
Initial direct costs related to right -of-use-assets
Refundable VAT on purchase of property, plant, and equipment
Purchase of intangibles
Increase in subsidiaries due to capitalisation of loans
Purchases of subsidiaries from entities under common controf
Dividends received
Loans to related parties
Payments received from related parties loans
Proceeds on sale of financial assets
Other

NET CASH PROVIDED By INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Repayment of jease liabitities

Proceeds from Chanel Ceres PLC

Dividends paid
NET CASH [USED IN} PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE ON NON-STERLING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH ECQRIIVALENTS, Beginning of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, End of year
Reconciliation from net income to operating profit:

Net income

Finance income {casts), net
Investment income, net
Income tax expense

Operating profit

! See Nate B for detalls on the priar period restate ment
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Notes

2

2020
2021 {restated) !

187.6 79.6
12.0 12.9
9.4 122

2.4

0.8 0.2
- (0.9}
0.8) 0.1

5.4 {2.5)
214.4 99.0
3.4 (3.1)
2478 95.9
40.0 14.0
(47.3) (29.1)
{3.2) 5.7}
{74.9) {39.8}
162.4 35.3
(7.7) (335.2)

(2.5} -

§1.0 {61.0)
1.2) 0.2}

- (206.5)
{7.4) {0.2)
2,457.6 903.3
{765.1) (2,142.6}
853.2 1,254.4

. 26.2
{0.2) 22
2,587.7 (499.6)
- 1,060.4

- (667.0}
{7.4} 19.5)

- 539.5

(3,686.4) -

(3,693.8) 923.4
91.5 {39.8)
(852.2) 419.3
2,173.9 1,754.6
1,321.7 2,1739
2,635.6 522.4
38.1 {54.5)
2,495.5 933.0
{85.6) (35.7}
187.6 79.6
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A,

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a private company limited by shares incorporated and registered in England and Wales under the
Companies Act of 2006. The address of the registered office is given on page 50. The nature of the Company’s
operations and its principal activities are set out in the strategic report on pages 3 through 29.

The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, The Company has taken
advantage of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not te present the parent company profit and loss account. All
amounts are in millions of Sterling, except where otherwise stated.

The information regarding the ultimate parent company is consistent with that provided in Note 29 of the
consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies are consistent with those given on pages 50 through 65 but additional policies specific to the
Company financial statements are included below.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries - Investments in subsidiaries are tested annually for impairment. If an
indicator of impairment is present, the recoverable amount is determined using the value-in-use calculations that are
based on management’s best estimate of future cash flows of the investment. Refer to Note | for details of
investments in subsidiaries.

Impairment of loans to affiliates - The Group assesses the recoverability of its loans to affiliates on an annual basis.
When assessing the expected loss on these loans, management considers similar factors used in its impairment of the
investrment itself, if the loan is to a subsidiary, and other risks related to the other affiliates. Refer to Note K for
details on the net carrying value of loans to affiliates.

Change in accounting policy — Software as a Service {“Saa$”) arrangements

in reference to Note 2.2 Change in accounting policy — $aa$, the prior period Company statement of financial position
as of 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 has been restated in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and presented in accordance with 1AS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.

Change in presentation of joans from and to related parties within the Company Statement of Cash Flows

Certain loans to related parties amounting to £888.2 million were reported net in the statement of cash flows within
financing activities, with a corresponding note to disclose the gross amounts, In the 2021 statement of cash flows,
the Company has corrected the presentation of these loans to present the gross amounts directly in the statement of
cash flows within investing activities, in accordance with 1AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (“IAS 7”) paragraphs 21 and
16, respectively. The prior period comparatives have been restated in accordance with |AS 8.
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C.

The tables below show the impact of the change in accounting policy and cash flow presentation on previcusly

reported financial results.

Impact on the Company’s Statement of Financial Position

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Trade receivables and other assets
Other non-current assets

Deferred income tax assets

Total assets

Retained earnings
Total shareholder’s equity

Impact on the Company’s Statement of Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by investing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities

Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents

2020 Impact of change
{as previously in accounting 2020
reported) policy (restated)
£ millions £ millions £ millions
389.3 (0.4} 388.9
3.2 (3.0) 0.2
141.2 0.7 1415
23.6 0.8 24.4
4.2 04 4.6
561.5 {1.5) 560.0
3,847.2 {1.5}) 3,845.7
3,847.2 (1.5) 3,845.7
2020 impact of
{as previousty Impact of change in correction of cash 2020
re_Ertedj accounting policy flow presentation [restated)
£ millions £ millions £ millions £ milllons
36.2 _{0.9} 35.3
387.7 Q9 {888.2} {499.6}
35.2 888.2 9234
4193 - - 419.3

There is no impact on the overall increase to cash and cash equivalents as a result of the restatement.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

In accordance with the exemption allowed by the Companies Act 2006, Section 408, the Company has not presented

its own statement of income.
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D. INFORMATION REGARDING EMPLOYEES

Average monthly number of persons employed (including directors)

Sales and distribution
Administration

Staff costs during the year (including directors)
Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Pensions costs
Other personnel costs

E. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost:

Balance at 1 January 2020 {restated) *
Additions

Balance at 31 December 2020 {restated} *

Additions
Balances at 31 December 2021

Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
Balance at 1 January 2020 (restated) !
Ameortisation expense
Balance at 31 Decernber 2020 {restated)

Amortisation expense
Balance at 31 Decernber 2021

Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 (restated) *

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021

*see Note B for details on the prior period restatement.
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2021 2020
No. No,
969 1,086
323 306
1,292 1,392
2021 2020
£ millions £ millions
109.9 89.2
10.5 10.6
4.9 5.7
7.0 8.6
132.3 1141

Capitalised software
and related licenses

£ millions

29
0.2

3.1

1.2
43

2.7
0.2

2.9

0.3
3.2

0.2

1.1
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Amortisation expense related to intangible assets was reported in cost of sales, distribution and selling, general, and
administrative.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Machinery,
Leasehold  furnitureand Construction
Land Buildings impr equipment in progress Total
£ millions £ milbons £ miflions £ millions £ milfions £ mifions

Cost:

Batances at 1 fanuary 2020 (restated) " - 5.1 9.8 35.3 5.5 1447

Additions 298.6 293 - - 79 335.8

Disposals - - (213 6.1 10.2§ (2.4]

Transfers - - 1.7 2.0 9.7} -

Ralances at 31 December 2020 (restated) ' 298.6 384 104.4 37.2 15 478.1

Additions - 0.2 4.8 - 3% 89

Disposais - - - {5.6} {0.1} 5.7

Transters 14 {1.4) 3.1 1.4 {4.5) -

Balances at 31 December 2021 300.0 33.2 112.3 33.0 248 481.3
Accumuiated depreciation and impairment:

Balances at 1 January 2020 Jrestated) * - 0.6 54.9 11.1 0.2 76.8

Disposals - - (2.1 {0.1) 0.2) (2.4}

Depreciation expense - 0.1 9.6 27 - 12.4

Impairment losses - - 13 0.9 0.2 2.4

Balances at 31 December 2020 {restated) " - 0.7 737 14.6 0.2 89.2

Disposals - - - 14.8} 0.3) {4.9)

Depreciation expense B 0.7 8.1 2.5 - 113

Balances at 31 December 2021 - 1.4 813 12.3 0.1 95.6
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 (restated) * 298.6 33.7 30,7 2.6 33 388.9
Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 300.0 318 305 20.7 2.7 385.7

*See Note B for details on the prier penod restétement.

In 2020, the Company purchased the site of its flagship store at 158-159 New Bond Street in London for
£323.6 million. The acquisition of the building resulted in a lease liability reduction of £87.7 million
(Note H).

The Company had no contractual commitments related to leasehold improvements planned for 2022
{2020: £3.4 million).
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G.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
2021 2020
£ millions £ millions

Cost:

Balance at 1 January and 31 December 51.9 51.9
Accumulated depreciation and impairment:

Balance at 1 January 2.1 1.8

Depretiation expense 0.2 0.3

Balance at 31 December 2.3 21
Carrying amount at 31 December 49.6 49.8
Fair value at 31 December 145.0 140.0

The Company obtains third-party valuations related to its investment property. The valuations consider transaction
prices for similar properties in the surrounding area as well as other factors relevant to the location of the buildings.
Fair value was based on a market approach and considered observable factors such as existing rents, lease term of
the property, and current market prices for similar properties. In accordance with IFRS 13, the fair value of the
building is within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. There was no change to the methods and assumptions in
determining fair value from the prior year.

The Company had no contractual commitments refated to its investment property as of 31 December 2021 (2020:
£nil).

The property rental income earned by the Company from its investment property, which is leased out under
operating |eases, amounted to £3.0 million (2020: £2.9 million). Direct operating expenses including depreciation
arising on the investment property, all of which generated rental income in the period, amounted to £0.2 million
{2020: £0.2 million).
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H,

LEASES

The Company as ¢ lessee

Right-of-use assets
The Company’s real estate leases are composed primarily of land and buildings for its boutiques and offices.
Machinery and equipment leases include vehicles, IT, office, and distribution equipment.

Changes in right-of-use assets by underlying asset type during the period:

Machinery and
Real estate eguipment Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions
Gross:
Balance at 1 January 2020 197.6 0.6 198.2
New leases 10.6 0.6 11.2
Remeasurements {0.1) - {0.1)
Leased properties acquired {95.8) - {95.8)
Leases terminated - {0.2} (0.2}
Balance at 31 December 2020 1123 1.0 1133
New leases 79.5 0.2 78.7
Remeasurements 57 - 57
Leases terminated - {0.1) (0.1)
Balance at 31 December 2021 197.5 1.1 198.6
Accumulated depreciation and impairment:
Balance at 1 January 2020 12.7 0.2 129
Depreciation expense 11.9 03 12.2
Leased properties acquired 9.7 - %.7)
Leases terminated - {0.2) {0.2)
Balance at 31 December 2020 149 03 15.2
Depreciation expense 9.0 0.4 9.4
Leases terminated - {0.1) {0.1)
Balance at 31 December 2021 23.9 0.6 24.5
Carrying amount at 31 December 2020 874 07 98.1

Carrying amount at 31 December 2021 173.6 0.5 1741
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Lease liabilities

Changes in lease liabilities during the period:

Current Non-current Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions
Gross:

Balance at 1 January 2020 10.4 178.6 189.0
New leases - 11.4 11.4
Repayments {15.2) - {15.2)
Accrued interest 5.9 - 5.9
Leased properties acquired (4.3} (83.4) {(87.1
Remeasurements - {0.1) {0.1)
Transfers 9.7 {9.7) -
Balance at 31 December 2020 6.5 96.8 103.3
New leases 29 74.4 77.3
Repayments (10.6} {10.8)
Accrued interest 36 - 3.6
Remeasurements 0.4 5.3 5.7
Transfers 7.4 (7.4) -
Balance at 31 December 2021 10.2 169, 1 179.3

In 2020, the Company purchased the site of its flagship store at 158-159 New Bond Street in London for £323.6 million.
The acquisition of the building resulted in a lease liability reduction of £87.7 million.

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities:

2021 2020
£ millions £ millions
Less than one year 155 9.8
One to five years 60.0 41.1
More than five years 158.9 81.1
2344 132.0

The Company does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities.

Lease payments not recognised as a liability

The Company has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short-term leases or for leases of low-value assets.
Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis. There were no expenses relating to short-term
leases or low value assets in 2021 or 2020. There were no expenses relating to variable lease payments which were not
dependent on an index or a rate (2020: £nil}).

Variable lease payments based on sales

All lease payments were fixed in 2021 {£10.6 million} compared to 2020, with £15.2 million related to fixed payments and
£0.1 millien related to variable payments, The variable payments are dependent on saies and are expected to represent a
similar proportion of total lease payments in future years. The Company did not recognise any Covid-19-related rent
concessions during the year {2020: £nil) {Note 2.2).
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Extension options

Some leases of office buildings and boutique space contain extension options. The Company assesses whether it is
reasonably certain to exercise the options at lease commencement and subsequently, if there is a charige in
circumstances within its control. Such assessment involves management judgment and estimate based on informaticon at
the time the assessments are made. Extension options are included in the lease term when the group has an economic
incentive to exercise the option. The Company considers avaifable evidence at the time of the assessment, including
potential favourable terms upon extension, potential termination penalties, the relative costs associated with potential
relocation or termination of the lease and the extent of leasehold improvements undertaken. There were no
undiscounted potential future fease payments not included in the fease liability.

Leases not yet commenced to which the Company is committed

There were no future cash flows of leases not yet commenced and, therefore, not included in the lease iiability at the
reporting date.

The Company as a lessor

Lease receivables
income recognised during the year from operating leases is £5.3 million (2020: £5.0 million}. Of that amount,
£2.4 milfion (2020: £2.1 million) is attributable to subletting right-of-use assets.

Operating leases

The Company [eases out its investment property and some feased properties to third parties that are considered
operating leases since they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the
assets. Refer to Note G for additional information regarding investment property operating leases,

Maturity analysis of operating lease receivables, showing the undiscounted lease payments to be received after the
reporting date:

2021 2020
£ millions E millions
Less than one year 9.4 5.0
One to two years 9.0 50
Two to three years 7.0 5.0
Three to four years 4.3 5.0
Four to five years 3.0 4.3
More than five years 19.8 22.9
Total undiscounted lease payments 52.5 47.2

The Company does not have any finance leases.
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I.  INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Investments in subsidiaries consisted of the following components:

2021 2020
£ millions £ millions
nvestment in subsidiaries 1,271.9 1,264.5
Impairment {16.5) (16.5}
1,255.4 1,248.0
2021 2020
£ millions £ millions
Cost:
Balance at 1 January 1,264.5 1,057.8
Additions 74 206.7
Balance at 31 December 1,271.9 1,264.5
Accumulated impairment:
Balance at 1 January 16.5 16.5
Balance at 31 December 16.5 16.5
Carrying Amount at 31 December 1,255.4 1,248.0

Acquisitions
On 9 March 2021, the Company purchased the issued share capital of Chanel (India) Private Limited from Chanel
International B.V. for £5.3 million.

On 19 May 2021, the Company made an additional investment of £2.1 million in Chanel Thailand. The additional
investment did not result in a change in ownership.

Impairment
The Company assessed all investments in subsidiaries for impairment indicators at 31 December 2021. The Company
did not recognise any impairments in 2021 {2020: £nil}.

For a list of the consolidated subsidiaries, refer to Note U of the financial statements.
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INCOME TAXES

The following is a roll-forward of the deferred tax asset as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

Recognised in
2021 Opening balance income statement Recognised in OCt  Closing balance
£ millions
Property, plant, and equipment 21 (0.9 - 1.2
Retirement benefit obligations {0.6) {0.3) {6.2) {6.9)
Provisions 2.3 5.0 - 7.3
Other 0.8 (0.8) - -
46 32 {6.2) 16
Recognised in
2020 (restated) * Opening balance income statement Recognised in OCl  Closing balance
£ millions
Property, plant, and equipment 4.0 (1.9) - 21
Other financial assets 29 (2.8) (0.2} -
Retirement benefit obligations {1.2) - 06 (0.6}
Provisions 15 08 - 23
Other 0.5 0.3 - 0.8
1.7 {3.6) 0.5 4.6

i 5ee Note B for details on the prior period restatement.

Factors that may affect the future tax charge/{credit)

The UK Budget 2021 announcements on 3 March 2021 included an increase to the UK's main corporation tax rate to
25%, effective from 1 April 2023 with the new law substantially enacted on 24 May 2021, The 2020 UK deferred tax
assets and liabilities were calculated at 19%, which was the enacted rate at 31 December 2020. As of 31 December

2021, the UK deferred tax assets and liabilities have been re-measured at 25% to reflect the effective date of 1 April

2023.
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K. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS

2020
2021 (restated )l

Current Non-current Current Non-current

£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions

Trade receivables 101.6 - 67.9 -
Loans to related parties 409.9 1,304.1 55.6 1,797.6
Other financial assets 14.7 23.9 18.2 236
Other non financial assets 0.2 1.3 0.2 0.8
526.4 1,3259.3 141.9 1,822.0

! See Note B for details on the prior period restatement.

Loans to related parties are interest bearing at arm’s-length commercial borrowing rates. There is no expected credit
loss provision recognised in relation to foans to related parties.

Trade receivables consisted of the following components:

2021 2020
£ millions £ miilions

Gross trade receivables 101.9 67.8
Provision for expected credit losses {0.3) (0.4}
Net carrying amount 101.6 67.4
Aging of trade recejvables;
Not past due 35.4 259
Less than one month past due 23 8.7
Greater than one month past due 19 11
Due from related party 55.3 311

101.9 67.8
Movement in provision for expected credit [osses:
Balance at 1January {0.4) {1.2)
Impairment fosses {0.1) {0.2)
Amounts written-off as uncollectible 0.2 1.0
Balance at 31 December {0.3}) {0.4)

Trade receivables relating to the Company’s wholesale activities have payment terms that are generally less than
three months.
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L. INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following components:

2021 2020
£ millions £ millions
Finished goods 27.1 57.4
Reserves {10.5) (27.8)
16.6 29.6

The cost of inventories recognised in the statement of income was £146.3 million (2020: £119.0 millien]. (n addition,
the Company recognised £4.3 million in income reiated to the net reversal of losses and obsolescence on the
recognition of inventory at net realisable value (2020: £19.0 million expense). Reversals occur in the event that stock
previously provided for has been sold in the current year.

M. BORROWINGS
Below is a breakdown of borrowings by maturity:
2021

£ millions

Senior notes

Current -
2023 -
2024 147.8
2025 -
2026 301.8
Beyond 941.9
Unamortised debt issuance costs (0.9
Balance at 31 December ——_1_39-0_6—

Financing arrangements

On 13 October 2020, the Company issued £439.0 million {$600.0 million) of Senicr Notes in four Series in a private
placement transaction pursuant to a Note Purchase Agreement as foflows: (i} $75 miliien 2.45% Senior Notes due

13 October 2030, (i) $175 mitlion 2.55% Senior Notes due 13 October 2032, (iii) $175 million 2.70% Senior Notes due
13 October 2035 and {iv} $175 million 3.2% Senior Notes due 13 October 2040. On that same day, two existing Senior
Notes borrowing arrangements held by two of the Company’s subsidiaries were novated to the Company at their
principal amounts of £439.0 million ($600 million) and £536.1 million (€600 million), respectively. Details of the terms
of these Notes are provided in Note 18.

Lines of credit

As of 31 December 2021, the Company had confirmed lines of credit totafling £717.4 mitlion (2020: £707.6 miflion}.
Of this, £702.4 million is a new syndicated revolving credit facility that was arranged during the year. This facility
replaced a previous facility put in place in May 2020 that expired in May 2021. The facility terminates on the fifth
anniversary of the signing of the agreement, with two one-year extension options available at the Company’s
request. The Company has not drawn down on these lines in 2021 or 2020. Details of the terms of these lines are
provided in Note 18.
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N. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The Company operates a defined benefit retirement plan in the UK. The liabilities and assets for the defined benefit
retirement plan are computed on an actuarial basis and are either funded currently or accumulated in unfunded
reserves.

On 1 February 2021, Holland and Holland Limited, a former subsidiary of the Company that was transferred to a
related party, was sold to a third party with the defined benefit pension assets and liabilities transferred to the
Company, where it was merged with the Chanel Limited defined benefit scheme in 2022. On transfer, the Company
acquired a net asset of £0.4 million, comprising £29.2 million of plan assets and a defined benefit obligation of
£28.8 million. Subsequent to the transfer, the plan was closed to future accrual.

The defined benefit plan exposes the Company to certain risks that are consistent with those defined in Note 19 of
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company recognised an expense of £2.3 million and £2.4 million related to its defined contribution plans in
2021 and 2020, respectively.

The principal assumptions used for the valuations of the defined benefit plans were as follows:

2021 2020

Defined Benefit Plans  Defined Benefit Plans

Discount rate 2.0%-3.0% 14%-2.7%
Expected rate of salary increase 3.0%-4.7% 3.0%-4.3%
Future pension increases 2.9% 2.7%

Inflation 2.2% - 3.0% 2.1%-2.7%

The average life expectancy in years of

pensioner retiring at age b5:
Male 2290 219
Female 235 233
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Amounts recognised in the financial statements with respect to the defined benefit plans were as follows:

Defined Benefit Plans
2021 2020
£ millions £ miltions
Service cost:
Current service cost, including administrative expenses 36 26
Curtailments {0.9) -
Other {0.4) .
Total service cost, including administrative expenses 2.3 2.6
Net interest 03 0.2
Components of defined benefit costs recognised in statement of income 2.6 2.8
Remeasurements on the net defined benefit liability:
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest (23.6) {5.3)
Actuarial losses due to changes in demographic assumptions 0.2 03
Actuarial (gains) losses due to changes in financial assumptions (7.4) 9.2
Actuarial losses due to changes in financial assumptions 7.1 -
Components of defined benefits {income] costs recognised in other comprehensive income (23.7} 4.2
(21.1) 7.0

The Company recognised £23.7 million of actuarial gains and £4.2 million of actuarial losses on defined benefit
retirement plans directly in shareholder’s equity in 2021 and 2020, respectively. Accumulated actuarial gains
recognised in shareholder’s equity were £23.2 million (2020: £0.5 million actuarial losses).

The amounts included in the statement of financial position with respect to the defined benefit plans were as follows:

Defined Benefit Plans
2021 2020
£ millions £ millions
Present value of funded defined benefit obligation (111.9) (83.9)
Fair value of plan assets 139.2 86.6
Funded status 27.3 2.7
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Movements in the present value of the defined benefit ohligation were as follows:

Defined Benefit Plans

2021 2020

£ millions £ millions
Defined benefit obligation, 1 January 83.9 74.3
Total service cost 3.4 2.5
Interest cost 2.1 2.0
Contributions from plan participants 0.1 0.1
Actuarial losses due to changes in demographic assumptions 0.2 0.3
Actuarial (gains) losses due to changes in financial assumptiens (7.4} 9.2
Actuarial losses due to experience adjustments 71 -
Transfers (2.9) (2.2}
Curtailment {0.9) -
Acquisition of plan 228 -
Benefits paid {2.5) {2.3)
Defined benefit obligation, 31 December 111.9 839
Movements in the fair value of the plan assets were as follows:

Defined Benefit Plans
2021 2020

£ millions £ millions
Fair value of plan assets, 1 lanuary 86.6 B1.2
Interest income 1.8 1.8
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts in interest income 23.6 53
Contributions from the employer 08 0.7
Contributions from pian participants 0.1 0.1
Transfers {0.2} {0.2)
Acquistions 29.2 -
Benefits paid (2.5} {2.3)
Administrative expenses paid {0.2} -
Fair value of plan assets, 31 December 135.2 86.6
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The fair value of the plan assets at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 for each category are as follows:

2021 2020
Fair value of plan Fair value of plan

assets assets

£ millions £ millions

Equity securities 90.5 1.8
Government bonds 231 16.4
Corporate bonds 43 37
Praperty 4.8 36
Other 16.5 1.1
139.2 86.6

In 2022, the Company is committed t¢ make a contribution of £0.8 million.
The average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 19.2 years (2020: 20.3 years}.

The significant assumptions used in determining the defined benefit obligation are the discount rate, expected rate of
salary increase, and life expectancy. The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on possible changes
to the significant assumptions while holding all other assumptions constant.

An increase in the discount rate of half a percentage point would decrease the defined benefit obligation by
£9.7 million.

An increase in the expected rate of salary increase of half a percentage point would increase the defined benefit
obligation by £1.3 million.

A decrease in the mortality rate of 10% for both men and women would increase the defined benefit obligation by
£2.4 mitlion.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation in the sensitivity analysis above has been calculated using the
projected unit credit method, which is also the method used in calculating the defined benefit obligation for the
consolidated statement of financial position. The sensitivity analysis may not be representative of the actual change
in the defined benefit obligation. There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the
sensitivity analysis from prior year,
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O. TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Trade payables and other liabilities consisted of the following:

2021 2020
£ millions £ millions
Trade payables 54.1 3.4
Other liabilities:
Salaries, commissions, and related 66.3 50.3
Advertising, promotion, and demonstration 9.3 30
Other liabilities 36.7 261
112.3 79.4
166.4 102.8
P. PROVISIONS
Asset
retirement Provisions with
Product-related obligations related parties Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions
Balances at 1 January 2021 4.2 0.2 6.6 ii.0
Additional provisions recognised 16.2 - 7.5 23.7
Used during the year {16.2} - {7.5) {23.7)
Balances at 31 December 2021 42 0.2 6.6 11.0

Product related provisions represent the expected refund to customers for sales returns, when the customer has a
right to return the product within a given period. The expected refund is as an adjustment to revenue.

Additionally, the Company recognises a provision for Asset retirement obligations, which represents the cost to
restore an item of property, plant and equipment hack to its original condition at the end of its useful life or lease
term, whichever is shorter.

Provisions with related parties represent the Company’s inventory reserves for inventory held by related party

supplier companies. As the Company is not holding the physical inventory, the provision is recorded in current
provisions.
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Q. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The Company’s categories of financial assets and financial liabilities are as follows:

Financial Assets
2021 2020
Current Non-Current Current Non-Current
£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions
Financial assets at amortised cost:
Trade receivables 1016 - 67.4 -
Loans to related parties 4058.9 1,304.1 55.8 1,797.6
Cash and cash eguivalents 13217 - 21739 -
Other 14.7 238 18.2 23.6
1,347.9 1,328.0 2,3151 1,821.2
Financial Liabilities
2021 2020
Current Non-Current Current Non-Current
£ millions £ millions £ millions £ millions
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Borrowings - 1,390.6 - 1,413.2
Trade payables 54.1 - 234 -
Lease liabilities 10.2 169.1 6.5 968
Loan from related party - 499.9 - 5310
Other 1123 9.4 79.4 -
176.6 2,069.0 109.3 2,041.0

The fair value measurement and hierarchy levels are disclosed in Note 22.

The following table details the Company’s outstanding contractual maturities for its financial liabilities. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, except for derivative financial liabilities, which are
included at their fair value. For detail on lease liabilities, see Note H.
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lessthan 1
2021 year 1-5 years 5+ years Total
£ millions £ millions £ millions £ miillions
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Borrowings 40.9 597.0 1,126.4 1,764.3
Trade payables 54.1 - - 54,1
Loan from related party - 4999 - 4999
Other 112.3 9.4 - 121.7
207.3 1,106.3 1,126.4 2,440.0

There are various risks associated with financial instruments, including capital risk, financial risk, market risk, liguidity
risk and credit risk. Further details of these risks are discussed in Note 22 of the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Balances and transactions between the Company and entities under common control

2021 2020
£ millions £ millions
Trade receivables and other current assets 4795 102.7
Other non-current assets 1,328.0 1,821.2
Trade payabies and other liabilities 545.0 550.5
Revenue 219.9 162.9
Cost of sales 516 424
Dividend income 2,457.6 903.1
Investment income, net 370 16.3
Finance costs, net {4.6) {3.3)
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5. CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL

Changes in working capital consisted of the following components:

Inventories

Trade receivables

Trade payables

Other receivables and payables

*See Note B for detalls o the prior period restatement.

T. GUARANTEES AND COMMITMENTS

2021 2020 (restated)’
£ millions £ millions
13.0 0.8
(34.9} 264
30.7 (36.0}
246 5.7
334 (3.1}

Chane! Ceres PLC, a subsidiary of the Company, issued Sustainability-Linked Guaranteed Notes on the Luxembourg
Stock Exchange, details of which are included in Note 18. Per the terms of the agreement governing the
Sustainability-Linked Guaranteed Notes, the Company is the Guarantor in regard to the issuance of the Notes and as
a result, the proceeds raised by Chanel Ceres PLC have been loaned to the Company with the same terms as the

Notes themselves.

The Company has commitments of £12.6 million related to global climate initiatives {2020: £15.6 million}.
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U. ENTITIES INCLUDED IN CONSOLIDATION

Entity (Legal Name)

Chanel Limited

19Mm "

Activite Creation Tissage 3
Adehinve S

Afrediti Inc.

American Fragrances, In€.
Artifux S.A.

Asitop Gesellschaft mbH
Ateliers de May :

Barrie France

Barrie Knitwear Limited
Biue Wave USA Inc.’
Calzaturificio Gensi Group 5.r.l
Capsum

Capsurn Inc.

Celiini 04 RE. S.rl.

Chanel *

Chanel *

Chanel {Austratia) Pty. Limited *
Chanel {China) Co. itd.

Chanel {Guam} Inc.

Chanel {india} Private Limited *
Chanel (u:ala Lumpur) 5dn Bhé. *
Chanel {Pty) Limited *

Chanel {Thailand) Limited *
Chanel Argentina S.R.L

Chanel Asia Pacific Pte Limited *
Chanel Canada ULC *

Chanel Ceres PLC” *

Chanel Coordination

Chanel Coardination B.V.
Chanel Coordination 5.r.l.
Chanel Creation BV,

Chanel Denmark ApS *

Chanel G.K.

Chanel Gayrimenkul ve Tekstil LimitedSirketi
Chanel GmbH

Chanel GmbH

Chanel Hong Kong timited *

Chanel Inc. *

Chanel India Business Solutions Private Limited *
Changl International BV. *

Chanel Korea YH

Chanel Limitada

Chanel Limited *

Chanel Limited #ZE *

Chanel LLC

Chanel Moda ve Liiks Tiiketirn Uriinleri Limited
Sirketi

Chanel New Zeatand ULC *

Chanel Norway AS *

Chanel Parfums Beauté

Chanel Pte Limited *

Chanel 5. deRL *

Chanel S.A. de C.V.

Locatlon of Ownership
Incorporation Persentass (%)
United Kingdom Parent
France 100%
France 100%
Spain 68%
United States 100%
United States 100%
Switzerland 100%
Germany 160%
France 100%
France 100%
United Kingdom 100%
United States 68%
Haly 80%
France 68%
United States 68%
ttaly 100%
France 100%
Monaco 100%
Austratia 100%
Mainland China 100%
United States 100%
India 1005
Malaysia 100%
South Africa 100%
Thaitand 100%
Argentina 100%
Singapore 100%
Canada 100%
United Kingdom 100%
France 100%
Netherlands 100%
Haly 100%
Netherlands 100%
Denmark 100%
Japan 100%
Turkey 100%
Austria 100%
Germany 100%
Hong Kong S.A.R. 100%
Taiwan Region 100%
India 100%
Netherlands 100%
South Karea 100%
Macao S.AR. 100%
Hong Kong 5.AR. 100%
United Arab Emirates 100%
Ukraine 100%
Turkey 100%
New Zeatand 100%
Norway 100%
France 100%
Singapare 100%
Panama 100%
Mexico 100%
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Entity (Legal Name}

Chanet 5.L.U.

Chanel 5.r.1.

Chaneis.ro

Chane! Saint Honoré

Chanel SARL *

Chanei SARL *

Chanel spilka 2 ograniczong odpowiedzialnosci e
Chanel SAL

Chanel Sweden AB *

Chanel Unipessoal Limitada

Chanel Vietnam Company Limited *
Chanel, inc, *

Chateau Canon

Chiteau Rauzan-Ségla

Cotomer Leather Group S.L.

Compania Universal de Perfumeria Franeesca {CUPFSA)

SdeRL*

Concaria Gaiera Giovanni S.p.A.
Conceria Samanta $.p.A.
Croydon Logistics Uimsited *
Crushlab SARL

CUPFSA Colombia S.A8. 7
Défiluxe SAS

Desrues

Diprolux Inc.

bomaine de I'lie

ERES *

Eres Belgique SRL

Eres Fashion UX Limited
Eres GmbH

Eres [tafie S.r.l.

Eres LLC*

Eres Meda ve tiiks Taketim riinteri Limited
Eres Paris Austealia Py ttd
Eres Paris 5.4

Eres U.S. Inc,

Etablissements Bodin Joyeux
Europerfumeria, S.de A.L.

Europrestigio Distribuigio e Comércio de Artigos de Luxe

Ltda.

Excel (Greater China) Lirited
Ex¢elsia SRL?

Fragrances Exclusive Inc.

Fyma Production

G&D Reinsurance 5.A.

G K. Chanei Research and Innovation
Gant Causse

Goassens Paris

Goossens UK Limited *

Grupe Ledexport

Hugotag Ennablissement

Icarus Limited

Immokili Rosmini S.r.i.

INMATEC Technologies GmbH *
international Metaf and lewelry Co., Ltd.

kocation of

Qwnership

Ingorparation.  Percentage (%)

Spain

ttaly

Czech Republic
France
Luxembourg
Switzerland
Poland
Belgiuvm
Sweden
Portugal
Vietnam
United States
France
France

Spain

Panama

italy

ftaly

United Kingdom
tuxembourg
Colombia
France
France
United States
France
France
Belgium
Urited Kingdom
Germany
Itaty

United States
Turkey
Austrafia
Spain

Upited States
France
Panama

Brazi}

Hong Kong 5.A.R.
Costa Rica
United States
france
Luxembourg
Japan

France

France

United Kingdom
Spain

France

Hong Kong S.A.R.
ttaly

Germany
Thailand

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
3%
7%

100%

100%

100%
51%

100%

100%
9%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

85%
10096
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Entity (Legal Name) loationgl  Qunershie Entty [Legal Namet! logtionol  Qwneritie.
incorporation  Peroentage {X} Incorporation  Percentage %)

15PB France 100% Paviiaux SAS France 100%
Kamel France 100% Pells del Linbregat, SA spain 60%
{apoduk SARL Luxembourg 100% Perfumeria Francesca (Bolivia) S.r.l Bolivia 100%
Latelier des Matier France 100% Pieles del Segura, SA Spain 100%
Le Creusat d'Art? France 51% Pieles Quintana 5A Spain 100%
Lemarié France 100% file S.A Panama 100%
Les Ateliers de Verneuif-en-Halette France 100% Pourunefoi France 100%
Les Maulinzges de Riotord france 80% Roveda Sr.l. Italy 100%
Lesage Intérieurs France 76% 5C Ateliers de Verneuil-en-Halatte France 100%
Lesage Paris France 100% SCEA Du Chéteau Berliquet France 100%
Maison Massaro France 100% 5C) Aineuil france 100%
Maison Michel France 100% SCl Anbras Frante 100%
Maison Michel UK Limited United Kingdom 100% SCI Bokoutra France 100%
Manufacture de Cuir Gustave Degermann ® France 100% SCI Faimin France 100%
Manufactures de Mode france 100% 5C1 Kamel 2 France 100%
Manufattures de Mode Italia St Haly 100% 5C) ODACE France 100%
Med Participations france 100% SCI Onurb France 100%
Mégisserie Richard France 80% $C1 Pantino France 100%
Montex France 100% SCi Passysimple france 100%
Moussax France 100% SCi Sarouie France 100%
Moussiree France 100% SCl Sarouleagain France 100%
MuspaC? France 3% St Sardesoie ’ France 160%
Neverwill France 100% SCI Teteatete France 100%
NILLAS Manufacture Italiene S.p.A° Italy 60% 5Cl Traudepezze france 100%
000 Chanel Russia 100% §Cl Venette ? France 100%
Crlebar Brown {US) Wholesale LC United States 100% $CIYNOD 2 France 100%
Orlebar Brown Australia Pty Lid * Australia 100% settelile ! France 100%
Orlebar Brown france france 100% Sewy LLC United States 100%
Orlebar Brown Inc, United States 100% Société en Nom Collectif Encorin France 100%
Orlebar Brown Limited * United Kingdom 100% Sotraflor France 50%
Orlebar Brown Miami, UC United States 100% Spring Retl, L.P United States 75%
Orlebar Brown NY1, LLC tintted States 100% St. Supéry, Inc. United States 100%
Orlebar Brown Spain 5.1 Spain 100% Sushi L.C United States 100%
Overlang Realty LLC. United States 100% Tannerie Haas France 100%
Paima Srl.? italy 70% TFCC Direct, Inc. United States 100%
Paloma France 100% The Chanel, nc. Statutory Trust United States 100%
Paraffection France 100% Tmine Inc. United States 100%
Pardesir France 10D% Trochair Limited * United Kingdom 100%
Pardestin France 100% Ultimate Yarns & Fibres Limited ? United Kingdom 100%
Parfumerie Versaitles (1991} Limittée Lanada 100% Uttimate Yarns & Fibres Mongolia LiC! Mongolia 100%
Parfumerie Versailles, Sde Rl.de C.V. Mexico 100% Ulysse Cazbonne France 100%
Parfums Chanel Limited ¥ {refand 100% Vastrakala Exports Private Limited tndia 20%
Parivresse France 100% Versailles |nternational Inc. United States 100%
Partrois France 100% Vimar 1931 SR.L italy 100%

TEntity was acquired/created in 2021,

TEntity was acquired/created in 2020.

> Entity was dissolved/merged in 2021

* percentage ownership increased from 17.4% 0 85% in 2021.
* Chanel Limited has a direct ownership in the entity

All shares issued and owned are ordinary.

Eres Fashion UK Limited, Maison Michel UK Limited, Trochair Limited, Goossens UK Limited and Croydon Logistics Limited
are companies registered in the United Kingdom under company number 00893083, 09083976, 00246398, 12572546 and
00574704 respectively. They are consolidated in these financial statements and have benefitted from an audit exempticn
for their financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, pursuant to Article 4794 of the UK Companies Act
2006,
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